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Chairman’s Report

Richard Simpson,
Chairman, BGPA
Board of Management.
Photo: R Okely.

The Botanic Garden and Parks Authority’s (BGPA) Board of
Management provides strategic control and management of
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park, and in
accordance with the approved Management Plans for these
lands, the BGPA’s team of highly skilled staff and dedicated
volunteers deliver internationally recognised outcomes and
outstanding service. This is measured in the very high
satisfaction ratings in visitor surveys and the excellent
achievements in horticulture; parkland, education, signage,
visitor services, bushland and botanic garden management;
restoration science; plant genetics; seed biology; and
biodiversity conservation generally.

A key focus of the Board this year has been on addressing the implications of
managing bushlands that are prone to bushfire in an inner-urban environment. Nearly
all fires in Kings Park and Bold Park are started by arsonists. The Fire and
Emergency Services Authority (FESA), with the support of fire-trained BGPA staff, do
a fantastic job in quickly putting out the majority of fires.
Following a 40ha fire in Kings Park in 2009 and with the benefit of a fire incident
report from FESA and an internal BGPA review, the Board commissioned an
independent and external review of the BGPA’s Fire Management and Response
Plan. Chaired by Professor Fiedler from the USA, a panel of experts wrote a
comprehensive report that was considered by the Board in November 2010. The
report, which has been publicly released, made 10 recommendations to improve and
enhance the fire guidelines and practices at Kings Park and Bold Park. An
implementation plan was developed by the BGPA to guide the investigation and
implementation of the report’s recommendations and progress on the plan is
regularly reviewed by the Board. A key recommendation of the External Fire Review
was that the BGPA should conduct a comprehensive bushfire risk analysis and use
its findings to audit, and if necessary amend the BGPA’s Fire Management and
Response Plan. The ICS Group was appointed to undertake the analysis and the
Board will consider its report later in 2011.
The Board has also overseen key initiatives this year including the additions to the
Fraser’s complex in Kings Park that will be used for the Commonwealth Heads of
Government Meeting in October 2011, the completion of the Place of Reflection and
the construction of the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park. These new facilities will
provide major improvements to Kings Park that will be enjoyed by the community
now and in the longer term.
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Chairman’s Report continued
On behalf of the Board, I extend sincere appreciation to Chief Executive Officer, Mark
Webb, and his dedicated team. A key feature of Kings Park and Bold Park is the
active involvement by passionate and committed volunteers who contribute to the
BGPA’s high service standards and achievement of outcomes – to them I also
extend the Board’s sincere appreciation.
The Board acknowledges and appreciates the wide range of additional services
provided to visitors by the various lease holders, licensees, contractors and other
operators.
The support of the Hon Donna Faragher MLC, Minister for Environment in 2010 and
in 2011 Hon Bill Marmion MLA, Minster for Environment, has been an essential factor
in the success of the BGPA in the past year.
I take this opportunity to thank my fellow Board members for their wise counsel and
professionalism in leading the strategic direction of the BGPA. It is an honour and
privilege to be the Chairman of such an innovative and effective organisation and I
know you will enjoy reading about the activities of the BGPA in this Annual Report.
Richard Simpson
Chairman
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
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From the Chief Executive

Mark Webb, Chief
Executive Officer.
Photo: R Okely.

The activities of the BGPA over the past couple of years have
been partly defined by the commencement or completion of key
projects and this year was no exception. A significant project
commenced in 2010 (to be opened in October 2011) is the Rio
Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park. With support from key partners
Rio Tinto, the Friends of Kings Park and Lotterywest, the Water
Corporation, and the Perth Solar City program, this exciting new
initiative will provide a bushland adventure experience on a six
hectare site in Kings Park and allow children and their families to
reconnect with nature.

Another significant project announced in Kings Park on 6 January
2011 by the Prime Minister Hon Julia Gillard MHR, and Premier Hon Colin Barnett
MLA, was an extension to the Fraser’s complex in Kings Park to house the
Commonwealth Heads of Government meeting to be held in Perth in October 2011.
This new facility will deliver a lasting legacy for the community and be used for
medium and major functions in Kings Park, the State’s number one single point
tourist destination.
The Place of Reflection was opened in Kings Park on 15 April 2011 by the Premier
Hon Colin Barnett MLA. Located at the southern end of the State’s Botanic Garden,
this project was an initiative of a Consortium including Association for Services to
Torture and Trauma Survivors (ASeTTS), Compassionate Friends, Friends of Kings
Park, the Healing Hearts Foundation, SIDS and Kids and Soroptimist International.
With funding from Lotterywest and the community, this project includes a new
pavilion, an upgrade to the existing path network with a contemplative walk,
contemplation decks, seating and some new lighting.
I acknowledge and appreciate the support of the Board who guided the projects and
the many staff and contractors who delivered world class outcomes. It is always
difficult to select some key people from the many who were involved in these
projects, but it would be remiss not to mention the extraordinary efforts of BGPA staff
Mike Baldwin, Grady Brand, Marcelle Broderick, Lesley Hammersley, Jacqui
Kennedy and Peter Nguyen, and PlanE Landscape Architect David Smith.
Specifically in relation to the Fraser’s works, the patience, hard work and support of
Chris Taylor and his staff from Fraser’s, Jos Mesnick and his staff from the Water
Corporation, Richard Muirhead and Cole Thurley from the Department of Premier
and Cabinet, Steve Ball and his staff from Perkins, and architect Ross McDonald also
deserves special mention in delivering a major project on time and budget.
The Kings Park Education team has developed new branding and now offers a range
of 15 formal curriculum-based programs and five self-guided activities. For the first
time, the formal programs were delivered to over 10,000 children with this number
expected to grow even further with the opening of the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings
Park.
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From the Chief Executive continued
A new initiative this year was to better coordinate the process of encouraging new
volunteers and guiding them into areas of interest or need within the existing
volunteer groups. The active participation and support of the volunteer groups in
Kings Park and Bold Park in implementing this initiative was much appreciated.
The Friends of Bold Park are to be congratulated on finalising their guiding program
for the park. Regular walks that assist in interpreting and educating visitors to the
park about its amazing biodiversity are now provided throughout most of the year.
The 2010/11 summer concert season in Kings Park was very successful with over
100,000 people enjoying concerts from a range of national and international artists,
and also attending Shakespeare in the Park and the Moonlight Cinema.
Recent prolonged dry periods with rainfall significantly below the long term average,
resulted in stressed bushland trees and shrubs especially in Kings Park in late
summer 2011. Many trees and shrubs recovered with reasonable winter rains but
others, including mature sheoaks, jarrah and marri did not recover and strategic infill
planting of target species will be required in future years. In addition, an earlier
research program has been reinvigorated to guide management strategies that might
minimise extensive plant death in the future.
Outstanding and noteworthy research continues to be undertaken by the BGPA’s
scientists, including:
• Developing innovative and technologies generally to establish and enhance
resilient ecosystems in urban bushland, post- mining and post-disturbed
ecosystems across the State.
• Five nationally competitive Australian Research Grants are held by the
Genetics’ team in partnership with Universities in Western Australia and the
Australian National University in Canberra.
• A major research collaboration with the Millennium Seedbank in the UK was
completed with the collection and long-term storage of 80% of the State’s
orchid species.
There are many other achievements detailed in this Annual Report that provide an
overview of the success of the BGPA’s Board, staff and volunteers in Kings Park,
Bold Park, and elsewhere – both nationally and internationally.
I acknowledge the input and support of the Chairman and members of the BGPA’s
Board of Management and Executive, the Department of Treasury and Finance and
the Office of the Auditor General, who ensure that the BGPA is well managed and
provides the services it is funded to deliver. I also appreciate and acknowledge the
support and input from the Hon Donna Faragher MLC Minister for Environment from
July to November 2010 and then the Hon Bill Marmion MLA, Minister for Environment
from December 2010.
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From the Chief Executive continued
As always, the achievements by the BGPA this past year are a result of the passion,
dedication and professionalism of Board members, staff and volunteers. I am
privileged to be a part of this team.
Mark Webb
Chief Executive Officer
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
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The Year in Review
CHOGM 2011
In January 2011 the Prime Minister Hon Julia Gillard MHR, and Premier Hon Colin
Barnett MLA announced that the Commonwealth Heads of Government (CHOGM)
Leaders' Retreat would be held in October 2011 in Perth in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden. As a result of this decision, a $9 million new upper level addition to the
Fraser’s Complex in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was required, with construction
to be completed by the end of August 2011.
This development replaces the previous
temporary marquee facilities on the site with a
high quality, permanent venue. It will have
spectacular views over the Swan River and
Perth and will be suitable for large community,
corporate and government events.
Concept design for the addition to Fraser's
Restaurant, new alfresco area and landscape.
Provided by Plan E.

In addition, works will include expansion of the
adjacent Botanical Cafe to provide an al fresco
dining experience with views over Perth.

Associated landscape works will provide improved universal access to visitor
facilities, new seating, lighting and garden areas. The Kings Park Floral Clock was
removed and will be relocated to the Botanic Garden entry precinct in 2012.
The priority of the CHOGM works has required BGPA staff to assist with its planning
and implementation, with some other BGPA projects deferred to 2012.

Place of Reflection
The stunning new Place of Reflection was officially opened by the Premier, Hon Colin
Barnett MLA, on 15 April 2011 in the Western Australian Botanic Garden.
The concept for the Place of Reflection was developed by a community Consortium
to create a tranquil place of reflection that is both transformative and restorative; a
landmark location where all people who have suffered loss or trauma can seek
understanding, peace, healing, hope and renewal.
Located in the Roe Gardens within the Botanic Garden, this striking landscape
includes a new pavilion and contemplation platforms designed by David Smith of
PlanE, overlooking the gardens and bushland of the Mt Eliza Escarpment. The
nearby Roe Toilets have also been refurbished to provide improved access and
facilities.
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The Year in Review continued

Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Following several years of planning and consultation,
construction of the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings
Park facility commenced in 2010/11. The six hectare
site provides a range of fun and experiential
environmental activities and facilities, including tree
climbing, cubby building, adventure and discovery.
Landscape construction commenced in September
2010 and the site includes two wetlands with a bridge
and landing, a gully and tunnel, a community
gathering space and areas for climbing and creative,
nature based learning activities.

There are a number of discovery
elements throughout the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park site.
Photo: C Mykytiuk.

More than 150 volunteers and 40 staff were involved in planting new stock during
May and June 2011 in preparation for the opening of this special site. The planting is
the culmination of several years’ preparation and growing, with most of the seedlings
raised in the Kings Park Nursery. Suitable plant species were selected by the BGPA
and came from the Kimberley, desert areas and the Wheatbelt, specifically chosen to
cope in Perth’s dry environment. The plants varied from seedlings to advanced tree
stock.
Construction of the new Kings Park Education building adjacent to the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park facility commenced in April 2011 with anticipated
completion in early 2012.

Kings Park Education
With the development of new programs and branding in 2011, the Kings Park
Education service is proving to be increasingly popular to school groups. Two new
self-guided programs were created to complement the existing programs, and a new
Aboriginal education program Wadjuk Wandering was developed to provide learning
opportunities on traditional Aboriginal cultural heritage. This program has proved
highly popular with schools and has had a direct impact on bookings of education
programs; bookings for 2010/11 increased by 30% on bookings in 2009/10.

Kings Park Festival
The annual Kings Park Festival attracted an estimated 500,000 visitors to the park
during the month of September, taking part in the range of events and activities on
offer. Two key exhibitions, Wildflower Country and Kings Park at Heart, highlighted
the theme of the 2010 Festival ‘Celebrating People and Plants’.
New Festival partner Santos sponsored a series of events and Sundays in the
Botanic Garden came alive with Santos Live Sundays featuring an array of local
musicians including swing and jazz bands, acoustic, classical and rock music; and a
new theatre show Spring Fever, starring wandering wildflowers the Adorable
Florables, in their quest to become the Biodiversity Pageant Winner.
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The Year in Review continued
The 2010 Kings Park Festival coincided with the launch of the Threatened Species
Network. A collaboration between the BGPA, Perth Zoo, WA Museum and the
Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC), the network is working towards
raising community awareness of Western Australia’s threatened flora and fauna
species.

Pink Everlastings celebrated
Australia’s iconic Pink Everlasting flower was celebrated with the
release of a new series of stamps to celebrate Australian floral
festivals.
The Australian Pink Everlasting is recognised as a symbol of the
Kings Park Festival held in Kings Park and Botanic Garden during
September. Hundreds of thousands of people gather at the
Festival every year to see the spectacle of more than 30,000
Everlastings in full bloom.

The Pink Everlasting
is an icon of the
Kings Park Festival.
Photo: D Blumer.

Volunteer Development
The BGPA’s five dedicated volunteer groups continue to deliver invaluable service to
Kings Park and Botanic Garden, Bold Park and visitors.
In order to support the new Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park facility to open in
October 2011, a new category of volunteers was created called Naturescapers. This
program will be more fully developed and implemented in 2011/12 with the opening
of the new facility.
On 1 September 2010, Backyard Botanicals was launched to support home
gardeners in the cultivation of native plants. Developed by the BGPA in conjunction
with the Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners, the ‘grow-me-at-home’ garden
demonstrates how easy it is to grow Western Australian native plants. The new
garden showcases native plants that are hardy, water-wise and beautiful, attract
native birds and are readily available from local native plant nurseries. Interested
members of the community can register to attend one of the monthly coffee
mornings, where they meet with a BGPA horticulturalist and a Kings Park Volunteer
Master Gardener to get gardening tips and ideas.
Plans for a Lotterywest grant received in 2008/09 by the Friends of Bold Park
Bushland came to fruition with the successful recruitment and training of the new
Bold Park Bushland Guides in 2010. Free guided walks in Bold Park now provide an
interesting and informative bushland experience to visitors.

Fire Management Review
Following the major fire in Kings Park and Botanic Garden in January 2009 which
burnt 40 hectares of bushland in the southern section of the park, the BGPA
determined to undertake a review of its Fire Management Guidelines for Kings Park
and Bold Park.
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The Year in Review continued
In 2010, an independent, expert panel conducted a review of the BGPA fire
management practices and guidelines. The final report External Review of Botanic
Gardens and Parks Authority Fire Management Response Plan 2010 commended
the BGPA’s Fire Management and Response Plan and made a series of
recommendations to improve the Plan, including undertaking a comprehensive
bushfire risk analysis.
The BGPA progressed a number of these recommendations and the bushfire risk
analysis, being developed in consultation with the BGPA and other key stakeholders,
is expected to be completed by late 2011.

Nature Trail Upgrade
The Nature Trail underwent a significant upgrade to replace the aging concrete slab
track. More than 600 meters of raised steel boardwalk was installed along with a
further 200 metres of concrete footpath, required for Management and Fire access
vehicles. The Nature Trail path is suitable for universal access and the raised
platform protects the bushland from disturbance by visitors.

Bold Park Management Plan 2011-2016
A review of the 2006-2011 Bold Park Management Plan was undertaken this year,
and following extensive consultation with stakeholders, a Draft Plan was released for
public comment from March to May 2011.
A total of 13 submissions were received during the public consultation period with 80
individual comments, the majority of which supported the Plan. Some minor changes
were made to the Draft Plan to incorporate specific comments received.
The Bold Park Management Plan 2011-2016 was endorsed by the BGPA’s Board at
its 16 June 2011 meeting.

Reconciliation Action Plan 2010-2012
The BGPA has a long standing commitment to recognition and celebration of
Indigenous cultural heritage and respect for Indigenous people and their connections
with Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park, past, present and future.
A Reconciliation Action Plan for the period July 2010 to June 2012 was developed
and subsequently approved by Reconciliation Australia. Progress was made towards
the new targets during the past year.

Discovering the Flora of the Kimberley
The Kimberley region of Western Australia comprises remote, ancient landscapes
with diverse and unique plant communities and it is one of the least studied floristic
regions in Australia. Kings Park scientists are exploring the flora of the Kimberley
with the aim of understanding the ecological importance of the region.
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The Year in Review continued

Scientists of Tomorrow
There are currently 36 post-graduate projects being coordinated through the BGPA
across the broad research areas of seed conservation biology, restoration ecology,
conservation genetics, conservation biotechnology, ecophysiology, and taxonomy.
Fifty-three students are enrolled in the undergraduate program taught by the BGPA.
Now in its eighth year, the third year unit in Conservation Biology and Restoration
Ecology leads the way for students wishing to undertake postgraduate studies. This
is the only full semester course operated out of a botanic garden in Australia.

Awards
Professor Kingsley Dixon was awarded the prestigious Chancellor’s Medal at The
University of Western Australia’s 2010 second semester graduation ceremony.
Chancellor’s Medals are given in recognition of outstanding and/or sustained
contributions to the University.

Financial Performance
Income
In 2010/11 the BGPA received 48% of operating income from the State Government
by way of consolidated fund appropriation. The BGPA generated the balance of
revenue (52%) through own source activities.
Own source revenue includes 28% through sponsorship, primarily for the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park project, and fee-for-service revenue received to deliver
scientific research and conservation outcomes.
A further 7% of revenue was raised through user fees and charges for events such
as concerts held over the Summer Event season, venue hire, and licences with
various leaseholders within the park.
Aspects of Kings Park, the BGPA's retail outlet, contributed almost 8% of total
operating revenue, continuing a consistent growth trend since operations
commenced in 2005.
Income
Income from State
Government (48%)

8%
28%

User charges and fees (7%)

48%
9%

Other revenue (9%)
7%

Fee for service and
sponsorships (28%)
Sales (8%)
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The Year in Review continued
Expenditure
The BGPA's expenditure is summarised into broad categories.
Employee benefits comprise 31% of total expenditure, which includes salary and
wage costs, together with superannuation and leave entitlements.
52% of expenditure was incurred on supplies and services, of which approximately
half was for the expansion of the Fraser's Complex for the Commonwealth Heads of
Government (CHOGM) Leaders’ Retreat in October 2011. Significant expenditure
was also incurred for the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project. This has
resulted in a higher than typical proportion of total expenditure for this category for
this period. The balance includes expenses for consumables, insurance, contract and
leasing costs.
Depreciation and amortisation of 4% reflects the expense incurred by the land,
building and equipment asset base under management by the BGPA. The BGPA has
an asset replacement plan in place to identify the ongoing replacement of key assets.
Other expenses account for 9% of total expenditure, including costs associated with
repairs to buildings and equipment, tree management, and landscape, ground and
bushland maintenance. This category also includes employment on-costs such as
workers’ compensation and staff development costs.
While expenditure incurred in supplies and services was fully planned, an operating
deficit was reported during this period. This was expected, as the funds for the
expansion of the Fraser's Complex for CHOGM 2011 were received by way of capital
contribution, which is not recognised as revenue in the income statement. Therefore,
there is no corresponding revenue appearing to offset the expenditure. The core
recurrent operations of the BGPA performed within budget at all times for the period.
Expenditure
Employee Benefits (31%)
4%

4%

9%

31%

Supplies and services (52%)
Depreciation and
amortisation (4%)

52%

Cost of sales (4%)
Other expenses (9%)
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About Us
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority (BGPA) is responsible for the care, control
and management of Kings Park, including the Western Australian Botanic Garden
and Bold Park.
The functions that underpin that management of these parks include the provision of
recreational and tourism services and facilities; conservation of natural landscapes
and cultural heritage; plant management and display; biodiversity management; and
research and educational programs.

Our Vision
To create and provide world recognised botanic gardens and to inspire the
conservation of biological diversity.

Our Mission
To conserve and enhance Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park with the
community, and to conserve biological diversity generally.

Enabling and Administered Legislation
The BGPA is constituted under the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998
for the care, control and management of Kings Park and Botanic Garden (reserve
A1720 except Perth Lots 64 and 65) and Bold Park (reserve A45409).
The BGPA was established under Part 2, Section 4 of the Botanic Gardens and
Parks Authority Act 1998, and is responsible for administering the Botanic Gardens
and Parks Authority Regulations 1999, created under the provisions of Part 8 of the
Act.

Responsible Minister
The statutory responsibility for the BGPA is vested with the Minister for Environment.
This office was filled by the Hon Donna Faragher MLC, Minister for Environment until
November 2010 and then the Hon Bill Marmion MLA Minister for Environment from
December 2010.

Organisational Structure
Under the direction of the Chief Executive Officer, the vision, mission and services of
the BGPA are delivered through three Directorates: Horticulture and Conservation,
Business and Visitor Services, and Science.
Each Directorate has a set of objectives designed to deliver the key services to
Government: Service 1 Customer Services and Cultural Heritage; and Service 2
Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research.
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BGPA Structure as at 30 June 2011

Minister for Environment

Board of Management

Chief Executive Officer
Mark Webb

Director
Horticulture and Conservation
Lesley Hammersley
Administrative and Technical
Support
Biodiversity Conservation
- Bushland Management
Bold Park
- Bushland Management
Kings Park
Contracts and Assets
Engineer
Horticulture
- Arboriculture
- Botanic Garden and
Displays
- Herbarium
- Nursery
- Parkland and Operations
- Western Australian Seed
Technology Centre
Information Systems
Plant Development

Director
Business and Visitor Servies
Marcelle Broderick
Administrative and Executive
Support
- Bookings Office
- Records Management
Aspects of Kings Park
Business Development
Employee Services
Finance and Accounting
Projects
Visitor Services
- Kings Park Education
- Events
- Park Management Team
- Volunteers
Website Communications
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Executive Officer

Director Science
Kingsley Dixon

Administrative Support
Biodiversity and Extensions
Conservation Biotechnology
Conservation Genetics
Orchid Conservation
Restoration Ecology
Restoration Ecophysiology
Seed Science and Restoration
Seedbanking
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Board of Management
The Board of Management (the Board) is the governing body responsible for the
policy and strategic direction of the BGPA. Members are appointed by the Minister
for Environment according to their skills and experience in areas relevant to the
BGPA’s activities.
The Board currently has eight members and meets formally on a bi-monthly basis.
The Board met on six occasions during this reporting period. The appointed officers’
terms and number of meetings attended are outlined below.
Mr Richard Simpson, Chairman
5 of 6 Meetings
Mr Simpson has significant commercial and management experience in the financial
services sector and over 20 years experience in providing investment banking advice
to a range of corporate and government clients in Australia and internationally. He
has worked in investment banks in London, Sydney, Melbourne and Perth. Mr
Simpson was Chairman and Managing Director of Hartleys Limited from 2003 to
2008 and Head of Corporate Finance from 2002 to 2009. He remains a Director of
Hartleys Limited. Mr Simpson was formally re-appointed to the Board in March 2009
until 31 December 2011.
Professor John Considine
5 of 6 Meetings
Professor Considine is Emeritus Professor of Horticulture and Viticulture and Senior
Research Fellow in the School of Plant Biology at The University of Western
Australia. He is interested in the continued conservation and enhancement of Kings
Park and Botanic Garden and other designated lands. Professor Considine was reappointed to the Board in April 2010 until 31 December 2012.
Ms Clare Power
6 of 6 Meetings
Ms Power is a consultant to Middletons, a national legal firm, and has over 25 years
experience in commercial law acting for both private sector and government clients.
Ms Power was re-appointed to the Board in April 2010 until 31 December 2012.
Ms Corinne MacRae
6 of 6 Meetings
Ms MacRae is a councillor in the Town of Cambridge and is a deputy member of the
Western Australian Planning Commission. Ms MacRae was re-appointed to the
Board in April 2010 until 30 June 2012.
Mr Grant Robinson
4 of 6 Meetings
Mr Robinson is a partner with KPMG with a focus on audit and assurance services.
He has experience with a broad range of industry sectors, both listed and non-listed
entities as well as government organisations. Mr Robinson was formally re-appointed
to the Board in April 2010 until 30 June 2012.
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Board of Management continued
Professor Lyn Beazley
4 of 6 Meetings
Professor Lyn Beazley trained at the Universities of Oxford and Edinburgh before
transferring to The University of Western Australia in 1976 and building a team
researching recovery from neurotrauma. Professor Beazley was appointed Chief
Scientist of Western Australia in 2006 and was reappointed in January 2009. She
was awarded Officer of the Order of Australia in January 2009. Professor Beazley
was appointed to the Board in March 2009 for a period of three years until 31 March
2012.
Mr Tom Baddeley
5 of 6 Meetings
Mr Baddeley is Manager, Government and Community Relations, WA and NT, at
Australian energy company, Santos. He was previously Director WA of the Australian
Petroleum Production & Exploration Association, the peak industry association for
the Australian upstream oil and gas sector, and WA Director of policy think-tank:
Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA). He has also worked in
the law and in journalism. Mr Baddeley was appointed to the Board in April 2010 until
31 March 2013.
Mr Hamish Jolly
5 of 6 Meetings
Mr Jolly is the Chief Executive Officer of Greening Australia. He has over 20 years
experience in executive leadership of diverse corporate, international development
and consulting businesses, including his role as former Director of Strategy and
Ventures at Bankwest. Mr Jolly is a Chartered Accountant and was recognised as a
WA business leader through the WA Business News 40 Under 40 Awards in 2006.
Mr Jolly was appointed to the Board in April 2010 until 31 March 2013.

BGPA Board Members (LtoR) Back: Hamish Jolly, Tom Baddeley,
Corinne MacRae, Richard Simpson (Chair), Prof John Considine.
Front: Clare Power, Prof Lyn Beazley. Absent: Grant Robinson.
Photo R Okley.
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Senior Officers
Mark Webb BSc. Agric (Hons), Post Grad. Cert. Cross-Sector Partnerships
Chief Executive Officer
Mark Webb was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Botanic Gardens and Parks
BGPA on 23 November 2004. Mr Webb joined the BGPA in October 1998 as
Director, Living Collections. He has experience in horticultural research,
management and business. He is a member of the International Society for
Horticultural Science and sits on a number of local, national and international
committees and boards.
Lesley Hammersley B (App. Sci) Env. Hort.
Director, Horticulture and Conservation
Lesley Hammersley joined the BGPA in December 2000 as Manager Biodiversity
Conservation and was formally appointed as Director Horticulture and Conservation
in October 2010, after fulfilling the role in an acting capacity for the previous 14
months. Ms Hammersley is responsible for all on-ground activities in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden and Bold Park including bushland conservation and management, all
horticultural activities, cultural heritage, asset and infrastructure management and the
management of capital works projects and other developments. Prior to joining the
BGPA, Ms Hammersley had many years experience managing a botanic garden and
involvement with plant nurseries and landscape development in private enterprise.
Marcelle Broderick BSw, MSW (Policy and Administration), Grad. Cert. Public
Sector Management
Director, Business and Visitor Services
Marcelle Broderick joined the BGPA in January 1998 and is responsible for all
internal business and corporate services, reporting, external business development,
leases, licences and for direct visitor services incorporating Aspects of Kings Park,
events, volunteers, website communications, park management and education. Prior
to joining the BGPA, Ms Broderick worked for many years in a number of private and
public sector organisations with varied responsibilities including social research,
community development, employee support, organisational change and corporate
services.
Professor Kingsley Dixon PhD
Director, Science
Kingsley Dixon has worked in public sector research for 28 years and leads a team of
scientists in leading edge scientific research that underpins the conservation and
restoration of Western Australian biodiversity. He holds a Permanent Visiting
Professorship from The University of Western Australia and maintains a high profile
research program in the conservation and restoration sciences. Professor Dixon
holds a number of distinguished positions in learned and professional societies,
including board member of the Society for Ecological Restoration International,
Expert Commissioner of the IUCN Species Survival Commission, and Fellow of the
Linnean Society of London. Professor Dixon is also Adjunct Professor with the
Department of Botany, Kasetsart University, Bangkok in recognition of the research
collaborations with the University.
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Partners and Stakeholders
The BGPA recognises that support and contributions from the community,
government and private organisations is essential in achieving the BGPA’s
outcomes. The BGPA is privileged to work with many groups that provide resources
to Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park for major projects, events and
research.

Our Volunteers
The BGPA is fortunate to have the committed involvement of five dedicated volunteer
groups: the Friends of Kings Park; the Kings Park Volunteer Guides; the Kings Park
Volunteer Master Gardeners; the Honour Avenues Maintenance Group; and the
Friends of Bold Park Bushland.
Each of these groups offers unique and invaluable services. Their efforts ensure that
the BGPA can offer outstanding services well in excess of those funded through the
BGPA itself.
Through the Volunteer Development Project, the BGPA is looking forward to working
with a new generation of volunteers who will be involved with the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park facility.

Our Partners
A number of key sponsors have been partners in major projects and events
undertaken this year:
• 2010 Kings Park Festival – Major partner: Santos; Friends of Kings Park and
Lotterywest; Water Corporation; MIX 94.5; 720 ABC Perth; and Community
Newspaper Group.
• Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park (opening late 2011) – Rio Tinto WA
Future Fund; Friends of Kings Park and Lotterywest; Water Corporation; and
the Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency through the Perth
Solar City program.
• Place of Reflection - a collaborative project between the Botanic Gardens and
Parks Authority and the Place of Reflection Consortium, with major funding
support from the Friends of Kings Park and Lotterywest.
• Saw Avenue Playground – Variety WA.
• Synergy Parkland – Synergy.
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Partners and Stakeholders continued

Stakeholders
Volunteers and Associated Organisations
Birds Australia Inc; Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Indigenous Reference
Group; Cambridge Coastcare; Friends of Bold Park Bushland Inc; Friends of Kings
Park Inc; Honour Avenues Group; Kings Park Volunteer Guides Inc; Kings Park
Volunteer Master Gardeners; Place of Reflection Consortium including the
Association for Torture Trauma Survivors, Healing Hearts Foundation, SIDS and Kids
WA, Soroptimist International of South Perth and The Compassionate Friends.
Returned and Services League of Australia (Western Australia Branch); Vietnam
Veterans Memorial Trustees; Wardens of the State War Memorial; Wildflower Society
of Western Australia.
Local, State and Federal Government
AGWEST; Building Management and Works; City of Perth; City of Nedlands; City of
Subiaco; Department of Agriculture and Food; Department of Commerce;
Department of Environment and Conservation; Department of Indigenous Affairs;
Department of Planning; Department of Premier and Cabinet; Department of State
Development; Department of Transport; Department of Treasury and Finance;
Department of Veterans’ Affairs; Fire and Emergency Services Authority; Horizon
Power; Main Roads Western Australia; Office of the Auditor General; Office of Public
Sector Standards Commissioner; Public Sector Commission; Public Transport
Authority; Shire of Bruce Rock; Shire of Corrigin; Shire of Westonia; State Solicitors
Office; Synergy; Tourism Western Australia; Town of Cambridge; Water Corporation;
Western Australian Museum; Western Australian Planning Commission; Western
Australian Police; Western Power
Private Organisations
Alcoa World Alumina; Alinta Gas; AngloGold Ashanti Australia; Asia Iron Holdings
Limited; Australian Orchid Foundation; BHP Billiton Iron Ore; Catalpa Resources
(Westonia Mines Ltd); Cockburn Cement; Extension Hill Pty Ltd; Gindalbie Metals
Limited; Grange Resources Limited; Iluka Resources Limited; Newcrest Mining
(Telfer); OZWEST Pty Ltd; Rio Tinto Iron Ore; Rocla Quarry Products; Shark Bay
Resources Pty Ltd; Trawalla Foundation; Variety WA; Wavelength Nominees;
Worsley Alumina.
Schools and Universities
Australian National University; Curtin University; Kasetsart University, Thailand;
Murdoch University; St Louis University, USA; The University of Western Australia;
University of Madrid, Spain; University of Noumea; University of Pavia, Italy;
University of Regensburg, Germany; University of Rostock, Germany.
Natural History Institutions
Korean National Arboretum; Kuwait Institute for Scientific Research; Millennium Seed
Bank, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew UK.
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Outcome-Based Management Framework
The BGPA’s Strategic Plan 2009-2014 identifies the Functions, Vision and Mission
Statements, Core Business and Guiding Principles, which are the key elements in
delivering its agency-level government desired outcomes. A review of the Strategic
Plan was undertaken in May 2011, and found that no material changes were
required.
The BGPA has aligned its activities and outcomes with the relevant goal and
strategic outcomes of the State, ensuring collaboration and coordination of service
delivery.

Changes to Outcome-Based Management Framework
The BGPA’s Outcome-Based Management Framework did not change during
2010/11.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The BGPA did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2010/11.

Key Legislation Impacting on Authority Activities
In the performance of its functions and activities, the BGPA complies with all relevant
legislation as required.
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Performance Summary
Financial Targets: Actual Performance Compared to Budget Targets

Total cost of services

Target
$,000
16,056

Actual
$,000
31,535

Variation
$,000
15,479(1)

Net cost of services

11,772

17,215

5,443(1)

Total equity

52,583

49,230

(3,353)(2)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

622

2,922

2,300(3)

Approved full time equivalent (FTE)
staff level

137

121

(16)(4)

Notes:
1.

Total and Net cost of services - The total cost of services is higher than the
target, due primarily to additional one-off major works carried out during the
year, including expansion of the Fraser’s Restaurant Complex for the CHOGM
Leaders’ Retreat and the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park. The net cost of
services is higher for the same reason, however the effect is reduced by an
increase in own source revenue raised during the period.

2.

Total equity - The decrease in total equity is the result of the operating deficit
incurred through expenditure related to expansion of the Fraser’s Restaurant
Complex for CHOGM.

3.

Cash held - The increase in cash held is due to the receipt of funding prior to
expenditure on major works projects during the period.

4.

FTE staff level - The FTE level is lower than target due to the timing of
appointing staff to the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project and normal
fluctuations in staffing levels especially related to Fee for Service projects.
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Performance Summary continued

Key Performance Indicators: Actual Performance Compared to
Budget Targets
Outcome 1: Awareness and appreciation of recreation and tourist resources
and cultural heritage for visitors’ enjoyment.

The level of visitor satisfaction with
Kings Park and Botanic Garden
facilities and the Western Australian
Botanic Garden.
The level of visitor satisfaction with
Bold Park and facilities.
The percentage change in the number
of cultural events held at Kings Park
and Botanic Garden compared to
previous years.
The percentage change in the number
attending customer awareness and
education forums held at Kings Park
and Botanic Garden compared to
previous years.

Target
99%

Actual
99%

Variation
-

97%

100%

3%

2%

26.8%

24.8%

0%

(13.7%)

(13.7%)

Target
$1.21

Actual
$1.34

Variation
$0.13(1)

$0.10

$0.23

$0.13(2)

$1.16

$1.35

$0.19(3)

95%

98%

3%

3%

7%

4%(4)

Service 1: Customer Service and Cultural Heritage

Average cost per visitor to Kings Park and
Botanic Garden.
Average cost per attendee at cultural
events held in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.
Average cost per attendee at education
forums held at Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.
Response times for public information
requests (within 28 days).
Percentage change in number of visitors to
Reabold Hill compared to previous years.
Notes:
1.

Visitors to Kings Park - The number of people visiting Kings Park and Botanic
Garden was 10.9% less than target and expenses were 1.2% less than target.
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Performance Summary continued
2.

Attendees at Cultural Events - The cost of holding cultural events in Kings
Park and Botanic Garden was 119% higher than target. This was due to a
greater than expected number of large events held with a corresponding
increase in revenue. The number of attendees was 10% lower than target, as
a result of lower overall visitation.

3.

Attendees at Education Forums - The cost of holding education forums in
Kings Park and Botanic Garden was 13.4% greater than target and the
number of attendees was 2.6% lower than target.

4.

Visitors to Reabold Hill - The number of visitors is measured by the number of
vehicles recorded accessing Reabold Hill on Scenic Drive. The increase in the
number of visitors exceeded the target due to an unexpected sharp increase
in visitors during March 2011.

Outcome 2: Conservation and enhancement of Western Australian bushland
and other flora.

Percentage of Declared Rare Flora (DRF)
species in living collections in Kings Park
and Botanic Garden, compared to the
known number of DRF species in Western
Australia.
Percentage of accessions in living
collections in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.
Percentage of accessions lost in Kings Park
and Botanic Garden.
The presence of 15 nominated perennially
evident native plant species, which are the
most vulnerable taxa within each Kings
Park and Bold Park bushland.
Number of common native plant species in
Bold Park in areas with high levels of
management compared to areas with low
levels of management.
Weed cover in high intensity management
areas compared to low intensity
management areas in Bold Park.
Number of representative native plant taxa
in Kings Park bushland.
Number of representative native plant taxa
in Bold Park bushland.
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Target
62%

Actual
61%

Variation
(1%)

38%

37%

(1%)

5%

3%

(2%)

100%

100%

-

1.5

1.5

-

0.50

0.30

(0.20)

324

324

-

310

310

-
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Service 2: Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research

Average cost of representative native plant
taxa in Kings Park bushland.
Average cost of representative native plant
taxa in Bold Park bushland.
Average cost per research grant project
administered.
Percentage change in number of refereed
scientific publications published per CF
position compared to previous years.

Target
$2,479

Actual
$3,327

Variation
$848(1)

$3,417

$4,391

$974(2)

$15,000

$14,142

($858)

(11%)

(12%)

(1%)(3)

Notes:
1.

Average cost of Native Plant Taxa in Kings Park Bushland - There was no
change in the number of native plant taxa in Kings Park Bushland, the
variance compared with budget is due to expenses being higher than forecast,
although the actual expenditure was reduced in comparison with 2009/10.

2.

Average cost of Native Plant Taxa in Bold Park Bushland - Significant
carryover of publications due to prolonged journal review processes.
Coincidental completion of a number of PhD programs resulting in a flush of
publications.

3.

Percentage Change in Publications - Significant carryover of publications due
to prolonged journal review processes and coincident completion of a number
of PhD programs resulted in a flush of publications for 2009/10, therefore the
target for 2010/11 represented a reduction to longer term average levels.
Publication fluctuation is a reflection of the stage and complexity of research
projects in any given year.
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Report on Operations
Major Projects and Events
Major Addition to the Fraser’s Complex
The Prime Minister Hon Julia Gillard MP, and Premier Hon Colin Barnett MLA jointly
announced on 6 January 2011 that the Commonwealth Heads of Government
Meeting (CHOGM) Leaders’ Retreat would be held from 28-30 October 2011 in a
new facility to be constructed on the upper level of the Fraser’s Complex in Kings
Park.
The design of this new venue was progressed rapidly and construction commenced
in March 2011, guided by a project team comprising representatives from the BGPA,
Building Management and Works, the Department of Premier and Cabinet, Perkins
Builders and a team of design consultants lead by McDonald Jones Architects.
Construction was well advanced by 30 June
2011 and on target and within budget for
completion in late August 2011. In addition
to the building construction, extensive
landscape works were undertaken in the
surrounding area to complement the new
facility designed by PlanE Landscape
Architects. Works include development of a
new alfresco dining area for the Botanical
Café overlooking the city, new retaining
Construction of the additions to Fraser's Restaurant
walls and paving to deliver universal access
was well advanced by 30 June 2011.
Photo: C Mykytiuk.
to the café and other facilities from Fraser
Avenue, new pedestrian lighting and an extension to the restaurant loading dock to
cater for the expansion of business activities.
To make way for the new facilities, the Kings Park Floral Clock was removed and will
be relocated to a new site closer to the Botanic Garden in 2012. Some other projects
were deferred to 2012 as a result of the priority assigned to the CHOGM works.

Place of Reflection
An elegant new landscape development at the southern end of the Botanic Garden
was officially opened on 15 April 2011 by the Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier of
Western Australia. Aptly named the Place of Reflection, this development is a place
where all people who have suffered loss or trauma can reflect in a tranquil location
and seek peace, hope, healing and renewal. Externally funded by the Friends of
Kings Park and Lotterywest, and through other donations, the project was initiated by
a Consortium of community groups with a common vision and a commitment to
achieve their goal through nearly ten years of planning, working closely with BGPA
staff through the design and construction process.
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Report on Operations continued

Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Significant progress was made in both the planning and construction of the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park project, a major new environmental education facility
which aims to connect children with nature and develop environmental awareness
and appreciation through interaction, discovery and fun in the outdoor world.
The landscape construction commenced in September 2010
by local contractors Landscape Development. Particular care
was taken during construction to protect existing vegetation,
which is integral to achieving the project aims.
Construction elements included the formation of two wetlands
with a bridge and landing, creation of a spring and
watercourse through the community bush base area, seating
pods and shelters, in-ground and elevated hides, upsidedown trees to form the framework for climbing activities, a
boardwalk, a gully and a timber lined tunnel and the
installation of over 100 tonnes of large ironstone boulders to
form gateways between activity areas.
Over 23,000 native plants ranging in size from tube stock to
150 litre containers were planted throughout the site during
May and June, with assistance from teams of volunteers from
the Kings Park network and sponsor organisations. A further
17,000 plants will be planted prior to the official opening of
the landscape site, planned for October 2011.
As part of the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project,
the new Kings Park Education building was also progressed
to provide a purpose built venue for delivery of environmental
education programs and house the education staff and teams
of volunteers that have been recruited to assist with the
operation of the facility and landscape site.

Discovery elements in the
new Rio Tinto Naturescape
in Kings Park. Top and
Middle photos: K Love,
bottom photo: D Smith.

The innovative design by Donaldson and Warn Architects
features a partially submerged concrete building with an
earth-covered landscaped roof and extensive floor to ceiling
glazing around the non-submerged aspects, providing a
stunning outlook over the bushland and the Naturescape site.
It features a range of environmentally sustainable design
elements including double glazing, north-westerly orientation
to maximise natural light and thermal comfort, enhanced
cross ventilation, thermal mass properties and solar hot
water.
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Report on Operations continued
An array of photovoltaic panels has been designed to offset the building’s power
requirements with solar generated power and a unique interpretive artwork inside the
building will demonstrate the performance of the solar array against the building’s
power demands using coloured light for visual effect.
Building construction commenced in April 2011 with an expected completion date of
early 2012. The building program included construction of a new carpark and bus
drop off to the east of the new building and an amenities block within the landscape
site.

Botanic Garden and Parkland Upgrades
A contract was awarded to external landscape contractors to complete a range of
improvement works within the Botanic Garden and in parkland areas primarily in the
Fraser Avenue and State War Memorial precincts. Works in the Botanic Garden
comprised the continuation of pathway upgrades to improve universal access and
link key visitor attractions with sealed paths. These included an upgrade to the
Yorkas Nyinning surrounds and repaving the adjacent stage, a path link across the
Short Vista, a new alignment for the path next to Lovekin Drive between the vistas
and a sealed link path from the bus set down bay at Forrest Triangle.
The Kaarta Gar-up lookout was refurbished as an open structure with vastly
improved visual results, appearing much lighter in the landscape than before and
opening up the views from Fraser Avenue. The balustrade at the State War Memorial
at the edge of Mt Eliza escarpment was removed and replaced with a more elegant
steel and timber structure similar to the new balustrade at Kaarta Gar-up.

2010 Kings Park Festival
The theme of the 2010 Festival was Celebrating People and Plants, in recognition of
the International Year of Biodiversity, highlighting the connection between people and
the Western Australian environment. More than 500,000 visitors attended a wide
variety of family days, educational and interpretive workshops, outdoor exhibits,
demonstrations and live theatre.
The financial support received in 2010 from major sponsor Santos, and other
important sponsors Lotterywest and Water Corporation was critical to the Festival’s
success, as were the highly valued partnerships with MIX 94.5FM and ABC 720,
which assisted with targeting family audiences and increasing awareness of the
Festival.
The Festival opening was shared with the launch of the Threatened Species
Network. This Network is made up of Perth Zoo, WA Museum, DEC and the BGPA,
working collaboratively to raise awareness and educate the community regarding the
plight of threatened Western Australian flora and fauna species.
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Report on Operations continued
Santos Live Sundays featured an exciting array of
local musical talent including brass and swing
bands, acoustic, classical, jazz, rock and blues
bands. The Everlasting Jazz Picnic played host to
Perth’s best jazz talent from the Perth Jazz Society
and created the perfect atmosphere to indulge in a
picnic and enjoy the beautiful spring weather. The
Wandering Wildflowers became the Adorable
Florables and featured in a new theatre show,
Spring Fever, providing free, fun, family
entertainment as part of the Santos Live Sundays
events. In their unique Kings Park wildflower
costumes, the Adorable Florables showcase
Western Australia’s magnificent flora through song,
dance and narration.

Backyard Botanicals
Top: The Adorable Florables are a much

A new concept to promote the cultivation of native
loved feature of the Kings Park Festival
Photo: C Sprogoe. Bottom: The Botanic
plants in home gardens through the creation of
Garden Entry of the 2010 Kings Park
demonstration gardens in popular locations in Kings Festival.
Photo: M Griffin.
Park came to fruition after many months of planning
by a small working group of BGPA staff and the Kings Park Volunteer Master
Gardeners.

The concept known as Backyard Botanicals includes a range of strategies to support
home gardeners including demonstration gardens displaying a selection of carefully
chosen native plant species, a suite of information in different forms and promotion of
the Garden Advisory Service run by the Master Gardeners.
The Zamia Café surrounds at Synergy Parkland were the first gardens selected to
incorporate the Backyard Botanicals concept and were planted with a range of 21
Australian plants, including many Western Australian species, incorporated into the
existing landscape during the winter of 2010.
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Report on Operations continued

Planning and Community Liaison
Management Plans
A review of the Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011 was undertaken involving
internal analysis by BGPA staff and consultation with key external stakeholders via
feedback request forms and a public workshop. This process included an evaluation
of achievements against the priority strategies in the plan, which demonstrated that
considerable progress had been made over the five year period.
A Draft Bold Park Management Plan 2011-2016 was prepared and open for public
submissions for a period of two months from March to May 2011. A total of 13
submissions were received from individuals, community groups and Government
organisations comprising 80 individual comments. The majority of comments
supported the plan but some minor changes were incorporated into the final plan in
response to specific comments received. The Bold Park Management Plan 20112016 and associated Audit of Public Submissions were endorsed by the BGPA Board
of Management at its 16 June 2011 meeting.
Considerable progress was made against the priority strategies in the second year of
the Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan 2009-2014, although some
projects were deferred due to the high priority assigned to the CHOGM 2011 project.

Volunteer Development Project
Raising the public profile of volunteering in Kings Park and Bold Park has been a
highlight of the 2010/11 year for the Volunteer Development Project. Both parks
continue to attract an extraordinarily high calibre of volunteers, as we strive to
maintain meaningful and interesting roles for volunteers that are well-organised and
provide very high standards of service.
The Volunteer Development Project has sought to strike a balance between adapting
to emerging volunteer trends and maintaining the excellent standards set by the
BGPA’s existing teams of volunteers. Strategies to attract a broader range of people
into the volunteer program have included holding promotional events outside working
hours, improving the BGPA’s online presence and providing a more flexible rostering
system for some roles.
Improved interaction between the four Kings Park volunteer groups has resulted in
the sharing of ideas and resources, and new opportunities for existing volunteers to
get involved with a greater range of activities. Most importantly, this has contributed
to a common sense of direction for all volunteers. The Volunteer Reference Group,
consisting of representatives from each Kings Park volunteer organisation and key
staff, has provided a critical sounding board, particularly in the development of the
new Naturescaper program.
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Report on Operations continued
Stronger support for employees who supervise volunteers
has been another outcome of the Volunteer Development
Project. A number of new processes and resources to
achieve this have been trialled in 2010/11 and will continue to
evolve next year.
New strategies are being trialled in an effort to attract more
young people and other demographic groups as
Naturescaper volunteers. These include improving the online
presence and using social media to attract and communicate
with volunteers. A more flexible rostering system and new
membership options have also been created to provide
optimal value to Kings Park and to volunteers.

Become a Kings Park
Volunteer and make a
difference.

Friends of Bold Park Volunteer Development
BGPA staff and the Friends of Bold Park Bushland continued their mutual support in
a range of activities including guided walks and on-ground restoration activities. The
Friends completed their inaugural Volunteer Guide training course facilitated by an
external consultant who was funded through a Lotterywest grant, with training
sessions provided by BGPA staff on specific topics. Eighteen Guides completed the
course and were inducted following their final training session on 4 September 2010
at the Western Australian Ecology Centre in Bold Park.
Several successful walks were conducted during September 2010 promoted as part
of the Kings Park Festival 2010, and walks have generally been offered three times
per month since that time with mixed success regarding participation.

Community Liaison
Liaison with external land managers, planners and community organisations
continued during the year to share staff expertise where appropriate and to ensure
BGPA interests were represented in local and regional planning.
In Bold Park this included liaison with the Town of Cambridge on matters of mutual
interest, particularly activities proposed close to boundaries, with Wollaston College
regarding construction works at the College and with the City Beach Residential
College regarding boundary fencing and building extensions. The development of a
Bush to Beach walk trail coordinated by the Western Suburbs Regional Organisation
of Councils (WESROC) was further advanced with input from Bold Park staff.
BGPA staff liaise regularly with the City of Perth and neighbours on activities that
impact on the boundaries of Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Notifications are sent to
neighbours during the Fire and Events seasons.
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Report on Operations continued

International Partnerships
The BGPA expanded its work on international consultancies for Middle East
countries during the year, continuing the existing partnerships in Bahrain and Saudi
Arabia, and extending negotiations to include Kuwait, Libya and Oman. Working
through AGWEST International, the overseas business unit of the Department of
Agriculture and Food, the BGPA provides consultancy services related to
horticulture, natural resource management, restoration and scientific research on a
fee for service basis.

Business Development
The BGPA continued its business development program focusing on implementing
sustainable fundraising strategies for the current and long term enhancement of
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. The BGPA continued with ongoing
efforts to seek funding for its short to long term priority projects and maintenance and
enhancement of existing relationships. It continues to seek new partnerships and
nurture existing relationships to ensure effective strategic alliances.
The Friends of Kings Park funded the purchase of DNA extraction equipment for the
genetics laboratory, underpinning the conservation and restoration genetics work that
the BGPA undertakes.
The Friends of Kings Park and Lotterywest granted funds towards the 2010 Kings
Park Festival. They also continued with their partnership of the Rio Tinto
Natuerscape in Kings Park project.
The Water Corporation and the BGPA have a highly productive partnership with the
Kings Park Festival adult education program to promote conservation messages
important to both organisations. The Water Corporation is also a partner in the Rio
Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project.
Synergy continues its sponsorship of the ever popular Synergy Parkland that
annually attracts well over one million people including individuals, families, schools
and corporate groups to enjoy the recreational and other visitor amenities.
Variety WA continued its sponsorship of the Variety
Pavilion in 2010/11. The refurbished Saw Avenue
Picnic Area continues to be extremely popular with
the community, with a high level of usage in particular
on weekends by people of all abilities.

Santos joined BGPA as major partners
for the Kings Park Festival.
Photo: M Griffin

The BGPA welcomed a new partnership this year Australian energy company Santos joined the Kings
Park Festival as a major partner. Their involvement
has been invaluable in building the Festival’s
community access strategy by providing more free
performances and activities for the enjoyment of the
Western Australian community.
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Report on Operations continued
Perth Solar City, a Federal Government initiative, continued its partnership of the Rio
Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project, providing assistance to integrate
environmentally sustainable and energy efficient design elements.

Promotion, Public Relations and Marketing
A comprehensive marketing and media strategy was successfully undertaken to
increase community awareness and build local attendance of the 2010 Kings Park
Festival. The campaign targeted a broad cross-section of the Western Australian
community to generate participation from across metropolitan Perth. Festival partners
Mix 94.5, 720 ABC Perth and the Community Newspaper Group assisted with
targeting family audiences and increasing community awareness.

Finance
The Finance Team is responsible for providing essential ongoing financial functions
including accounts payable, accounts receivable, budgeting and financial reporting.
Support and advice on financial matters is provided to Directorate staff to assist in
the efficient financial management of the BGPA and compliance with all regulatory
and statutory requirements. The recent Office of the Auditor General’s report Public
Sector Performance Report 2011 acknowledged the elements of good procurement
practice undertaken by the BGPA. Significant advances have been achieved in the
streamlining of processes to achieve greater efficiencies, including the
implementation of online payments through the BGPA’s website.
The BGPA’s Audit Committee, established under the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority Act 1998, met quarterly to assist the BGPA to discharge its responsibilities
in financial management, compliance and corporate governance.
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Visitation and Recreation
Visitors
Kings Park and Botanic Garden welcomed
5.8 million visitors in 2010/11, the same as
reported in 2009/10. While numbers have
decreased since the 6.5 million visitors
recorded in 2008/09, visitation remains
steady despite significant capital works in
the park.
The spring and summer months once again
proved to have higher visitation, coinciding
with peak flowering times for the gardens,
the Kings Park Festival, school holidays and
the Summer Events season.

The garden beds are all in full bloom during spring.
Photo: D Blumer.

The total number of vehicles accessing Reabold Hill during the year was 54,704. This
represents an increase over last year’s visitation of 6.6% and indicates that Bold Park
has continued to increase in popularity as a visitor destination. It is difficult to
estimate the total Bold Park visitation with accuracy, as many pedestrian entrances
to the park are not monitored due to appropriate and accurate recording equipment
not being available. The future upgrade of carparks will enable installation of
additional vehicle counters at other major entries, which will contribute to more
accurate estimation of total visitation.

Visitor Liaison
The Visitor Information Centre in Kings Park and Botanic Garden, run by the Kings
Park Volunteer Guides, is open every day from 9am to 4pm and provides visitor
information on things to see and do in the park. All the BGPA’s maps and brochures
are available from the Centre, and the Guides share information on a variety of native
plants as well as their extensive knowledge of the park.
The BGPA’s Park Management Officers (PMOs) play an essential role in all visitor
liaison, providing front-line customer service to visitors in relation to their bookings or
other issues. The PMOs maintain daily contact with the Kings Park Volunteer Guides
through the Visitor Information Centre and regular interactions with all lease
operators.

Visitor Feedback and Complaints Handling
Surveys are conducted annually in both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold
Park to assess visitor satisfaction with services, facilities and the overall visitor
experience. Results of these surveys are also used to provide data for the BGPA’s
Key Performance Indicators.
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In April/May 2011, a visitor survey was conducted with 501 visitors in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden during weekday and weekend periods. Of the people surveyed more
than 98% were satisfied (28.3%) or very satisfied (70.3%). Only seven people
surveyed (1.4%) gave a less than satisfied response and there were no responses
lower than average. Of those that responded, parking and toilets rated the least
enjoyable factors.
A visitor survey was conducted in Bold Park during June 2011 to gather feedback
from visitors on management activities and to measure visitor satisfaction with the
park. A very high percentage of positive feedback was received with 100% overall
satisfaction recorded, with signage and the condition of walking trails rated lower.
The survey also revealed that 72% of those surveyed visit Bold Park on a weekly or
more frequent basis. Staff continued to conduct patrols through the park to assist
visitors and enhance communication with them about the Regulations, and their
purpose to protect the park’s special values and ensure a quality experience for all
visitors.
The BGPA’s communications procedures consider complaints, compliments and
comments/suggestions made by visitors and other stakeholders to monitor, manage
and improve visitor experience in Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. A
total of 85 communications were recorded between 1 July 2010 and 30 June 2011, of
this 85, there were 39 complaints, 14 compliments and 32 suggestions. With the
number of visitors to Kings Park and Botanic Garden estimated at 5.8 million for the
same period, the complaints received represents less than 0.002% of all visitors.

Booked Functions and Activities
Kings Park and Botanic Garden remains a popular location for the very many
weddings, family, private and corporate functions, sporting events and fitness
activities booked throughout the year.
A recent review of fees and charges included an approved increase to fees for
booked functions and activities which took effect from 1 July 2010. Venue hire fees
had not been increased for Kings Park and Botanic Garden since 2003. Increased
cleaning and maintenance costs and high demand for some venues underpinned the
fee increases. Only minor fee increases were applied to venues most often booked
for children’s birthday parties and family functions in order to keep these accessible
to families. New venue hire fees applied are comparable with similar locations
elsewhere.
Rollover to a new bookings software system was completed and fully implemented in
January 2011. Bookings staff adapted the bookings system to increase the
effectiveness and efficiency of managing the varying booking categories, provide
accurate reporting and continue to process incoming bookings for functions, events
and the Kings Park Education services.
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The following table represents bookings received and managed in 2010/11:
Booked Function/Event

Weddings
Social Functions
Corporate Functions
Community Group Events
Wedding and Commercial Filming and
Photography
Sport and Fitness
Special Events
Booked Guided Walks
Wreath Laying Ceremonies
Visits to the Park (non education visits)
Education Lessons

No. of
Bookings
2009/10
342
658
87
60
276

No. of
Bookings
2010/11
295
460
68
89
226

No of
attendees
2010/11
18,293
23,174
4,667
8,611
2,245

312
12
41
53
261
177
2,279

283
22
57
53
138(1)
237(2)
1,928

14,588
777
1,241
5,595
6,746
10,179
96,116

Notes:
1. It is unclear as to reason for the significant decrease in this category, it may be
due to changes in reporting categories in the booking process and impacted
by the system change.
2. There has been a 30% increase in bookings for lessons with the Kings Park
Education Service. This has placed increased pressure on Bookings staff in
2010/11 and further increases in bookings for Education programs are
anticipated with the opening of the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park facility
in 2012.
The Tamala Room in the Western Australian Ecology Centre in Bold Park continued
to be a popular venue for government agencies, corporate organisations and
community groups to conduct a range of activities, although the number of bookings
was lower than the previous year.

Events
The Summer Events series of concerts, theatre performances and outdoor cinema
continue to be popular, attracting more than 102,400 visitors.
Mellen Events presented a total of thirteen concerts during the 2010/11 season with
artists including George Benson; Chicago, America and Peter Frampton; Jimmy
Barnes; Blondie and the Pretenders; John Farnham; INXS and Chris Isaak. Four
concerts were co-presented with the Western Australian Symphony Orchestra and
featured artists Human Nature; Dame Kiri Te Kanawa and Tim Minchin.
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In January 2011, Shakespeare WA presented Shakespeare’s Romeo and Juliet in
the State Botanic Garden and Prompt Corner presented Alice in Wonderland in the
Saw Avenue Amphitheatre in Kings Park.
From November 2010 to March 2011, Moonlight Cinema screened latest release,
contemporary, cult and classic movies on the lawns of Synergy Parkland.
In addition, community events continued to attract visitors to Kings Park and Botanic
Garden. Estimated visitor numbers for these events are represented below:
Event

Attendees
2009/10
600,000
53,678
10,366
33,330
2,000
20,000
40,000
N/A
763,874

2010 Kings Park Festival (estimated)
Concerts
Outdoor Theatre
Outdoor Cinema
New Year’s Eve (estimated)
Australia Day (estimated)
ANZAC Day (estimated)
UCI World Cycling Tour (estimated)
Estimated Total Attendees

Attendees
2010/11
500,000
60,845
11,017
30,574
5,000
35,000
40,000
2,000
682,436

A number of improvements were made to the Botanic Garden as a concert venue
prior to the 2010/11 concert season, including expanded hard stand catering area
and a series of hard surface pedestrian paths linking the drop off zone, the Yorkas
Nyinning Education Centre and the catering area.

Parkland and Turf
The Parkland and Turf teams continued to maintain the parkland
of Kings Park to a very high standard throughout the year with
positive feedback from visitors about the magnificent lawns,
particularly in the highest profile areas. These areas are subject
to high levels of visitation, particularly during concerts and other
events, yet obvious wear and tear on the turf is minimised
through the consistent efforts and expertise of the Turf team.

Kings Park is wellknown for its green
lawns. Photo: M Griffin.

These efforts extended to the lower profile areas, where with
declining water resources and increasingly dry conditions during
the year, significant effort was made to reduce the water use on
lesser used turf areas and monitoring these areas to ensure
presentation standards generally expected by the community
were maintained.
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The Parkland team implemented a range of new plantings including seasonal
displays of annual bedding plants at the Eternal Flame, infill planting at the
Lotterywest Family Area, the Administration building surrounds and the Bali
Memorial, and a significant contribution to the Backyard Botanicals initiative with
planting around the Zamia Café. Ongoing works to reinvigorate the Nursery Border
gardens continued with a range of ferns planted.

Playgrounds
All playgrounds in Kings Park continued in popularity throughout the year and regular
safety and maintenance checks and repairs were implemented as a high priority.
Over 140 cubic metres of pine mulch soft-fall was installed and seven shade sails at
Lotterywest Family Area were replaced. Timbers throughout the playgrounds were
regularly oiled and the mega fauna and biodiversity markers at Synergy Parkland
were refurbished. A playground audit was completed by an external play equipment
provider for Lotterywest Family Area, Synergy Parkland and the swing in the Saw
Avenue Picnic Area.

Kings Park Bushland
A major upgrade to the Kings Park Bushland Nature Trail was completed, replacing
an ageing concrete slab track with over 600 metres of raised steel boardwalk in some
sections and over 200 metres of concrete footpath, required to provide access for
management and fire response vehicles. The entire Nature Trail circuit is suitable for
universal access with the raised boardwalk sections helping to protect the bushland
from disturbance along track edges.
A link path to the DNA Tower was also upgraded as part of this project along with the
final section of the Crawley Path, the majority of which was replaced following the
2009 bushfire. This completes the concrete path extending from Crawley right
through to the Pines Carpark on Lovekin Drive.

Aspects of Kings Park
A business plan completed this year has shaped the direction for
the business operations including marketing and product
development for the next five years.
Aspects of Kings Park has developed a solid local client base,
including corporate and bridal gifts, and is developing its service
to cater to the many interstate and international visitors. It
provides ongoing cross portfolio contributions to the tourism, art,
resources and environmental sectors.
Aspects of Kings Park is owned and operated by the BGPA. All
proceeds from the sale of goods at Aspects of Kings Park
continue to support the BGPA’s commitment to the unique
Western Australian environment.
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Aspects of Kings Park
stocks a variety of art
and design pieces
inspired by nature.
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Interpretation and Education
Maps, Brochures and Publications
The BGPA continues to maintain a suite of maps, signs and both printed and online
information to advise the community of the many activities and attractions within
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. New brochures were developed
through the year to complement the current range and in response to visitor demand.
The Bold Park visitor brochure was revised to include an updated map, trail
information and photographs and the Bold Park Birds brochure was also updated to
incorporate revised names. A new brochure promoting the activities of the Bold Park
Volunteer Guides was developed in consultation with the Friends of Bold Park
Bushland.
BGPA staff contributed research papers and articles for publication in a range of
scientific and other journals. In addition, 20 news articles were written by BGPA staff
for the quarterly For People and Plants magazine produced by the Friends of Kings
Park. These publications provide information about activities in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden including projects, events, BGPA research and other activities.
Details of research papers, articles and BGPA publications can be found in
Appendix 2 of this Report.

Website
The BGPA continues to develop its two websites (the main BGPA website:
www.bgpa.wa.gov.au and the Aspects of Kings Park Gallery and Gift shop:
www.aspectsofkingspark.wa.gov.au) to increase community access and awareness
of visitor facilities and the BGPA’s activities. The number of hits on the BGPA’s
website reached 267,884 in 2010/11. Significant work was undertaken on the
Education, Volunteer and Science sections and the development of the online
payment system was a major achievement this year.
The BGPA is committed to supporting the Website Governance Framework by
developing meaningful business plans that aim to incorporate the highest possible
level of WCAG 2AA before the stipulated deadlines.
Working closely with Public Sector Commission for use of Social Media within the
Public sector, the BGPA is in the early stages of developing additional online
strategies through the use of Social Media, and mobile applications to engage with
visitors and the community. An estimated 5% of website hits are occurring via mobile
phone. The BGPA is developing internal standards for online communications and
will trial a Facebook site for the 2011 Kings Park Festival.
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Signage
Following the completion of the Fraser Avenue Ceremonial Walk works, new
directional signage was installed including the realignment of Fraser Avenue and
Wadjuk Way. New perimeter signs were developed and installed for the Kings Park
Festival; Kings Park Summer Events; Guided Walks with the Kings Park Guides; and
Aspects of Kings Park.
Significant progress was made on the development of signs for Bold Park’s major
pedestrian entries, incorporating directional, regulatory and interpretive information
for visitors, for installation in August 2011. Other visitor signs were developed with
the Friends of Bold Park to promote their activities, including a new project under the
Environmental Community Grants Scheme.

Kings Park Education
In 2010/11, the Kings Park Education program offered a suite of 15 formal
curriculum-based education programs and five self-guided programs to cater for
students and groups of different ages and interests, and including three new
programs developed during the year.
The new Aboriginal education program, Wadjuk Wandering, delivered by the BGPA’s
Aboriginal Cultural Education Officer, provides guided learning about traditional plant
uses and Nyoongar cultural heritage in the context of Kings Park and Botanic
Garden. The program has proved very popular with schools, doubling the number of
monthly education bookings.
New branding for Kings Park Education was developed in late 2010 and a full colour
16-page booklet was created to launch the 2011 Education Programs and Special
events in time for the school year.
A number of highly successful special events were held to
complement the Kings Park Festival 2010 and to mark
important events in the environmental calendar:
• National Tree Day.
• National Science Week.
• National Book Week.
• Kings Park Festival 2010 Poster Exhibition.
• Wadjuk Wandering.
• Festival Art Week.
• Quiz on Legs.
• Tiwest Nightstalks.
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The annual Quiz on Legs
event has proven immensely
popular with more than 1,200
students attending in 2010.
Photo: C Sprogoe
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In October 2010, the Kings Park Education Team was invited to participate in three
external events; the WA Week opening event at Government House, the AuSSI-WA
celebration and PEP (Perth Education Providers) Expo. These events offered
valuable opportunities to speak to teachers and promote the Kings Park Education
Program and its future growth.
Overall, Kings Park Education delivered 237 lessons to approximately 10,179
students in the 2010/11 year. This represents substantial growth from 177 lessons
delivered to 6,615 students in 2009/10 (30% increase) and surpassing the figure of
10,000 students for the first time. A further 96 groups booked self-guided education
visits to Kings Park involving 5,867 participants, an increase on the 87 booked in
2009/10 which had 5,168 participants.
The Connect with Kings Park series of community oriented public education
programs have again proven to be successful in 2010/11. This program offers a
variety of experiences so that people of all ages and understanding can develop their
environmental skills and creative talents. The program is run periodically through the
year and comprises lectures, workshops, interactive walks and talks using BGPA and
external presenters.

Training Programs
The BGPA is a leader in providing training for the next generation of biologists
including:
• Undergraduate: 53 students enrolled in the BGPA operated undergraduate
course Conservation Biology and Restoration Ecology. This is the only full
semester course operated out of a botanic garden and ensures a high level of
training for students going forward to postgraduate degrees (see below).
• Postgraduate: currently 15 PhD students are directly supported and housed in
the BGPA’s laboratories, one of the largest cohorts outside the tertiary sector
and illustrates the BGPA’s ongoing commitment to training and skilling
scientists to tackle Western Australia's environmental issues.
• Women in Science: the BGPA actively supports women in science with 47 out
of the 53 undergraduate students being women, and with 65% of Honours and
44% of PhD enrolees being women.
The coordination and teaching by the BGPA’s Science Directorate of Conservation
Biology and Restoration Ecology, a third year unit at The University of Western
Australia continued for its eighth year. This course provides undergraduate students
with the experience of managing real-life research projects in an operational
laboratory by pairing students with BGPA research scientists for the semester. 2011
saw the largest enrolment to date with 53 students conducting independent scientific
experiments in conservation and ecology of Western Australian native plant species,
under the guidance of BGPA scientists.
Five 12-week Summer Scholarships were offered in 2010/11 for post-graduate
research in native plant conservation biology or restoration ecology.
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The BGPA conducts a trainee program for students in horticulture, arboriculture and
conservation and land management in which students are employed, usually on a
three-year contract basis, for on-the-job training, supplemented by eight hours per
week of formal education in a tertiary institution. There were ten trainee positions in
total in 2010-2011. Four trainees successfully completed their traineeship in January
2011.
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Cultural Heritage
Preservation Works
Specifications and documentation for the first stage of the conservation and
restoration works on Subiaco Lodge in Saw Avenue, the oldest building in Kings Park
and Botanic Garden, were finalised and issued to a short-list of suitable building
contractors for quotation. These works will arrest the declining condition of this
significant heritage building and reinstate some of the original features of the house,
including the open verandah. Works will be completed during 2011/12.
Conservation works for the Old Tea Pavilion adjacent to Fraser Avenue were
commissioned and completed in August 2010, including timber conservation works
and repainting of the entire structure.
The Queen Elizabeth Shell Memorial that was removed from beneath a large fig tree
and professionally restored the previous year was reinstated in a more suitable
location on the western side of Fraser Avenue south of the Lodge. This position is
more appropriate to ensure its ongoing conservation and is close to its original
location when first installed in the park.

Indigenous Heritage
The BGPA continued to demonstrate its commitment to
respect Aboriginal culture and promote cultural
awareness through a range of initiatives and activities
throughout the year.
A traditional smoking ceremony was organised to
welcome over 100 tonnes of Pilbara ironstone rocks for Performances by Aboriginal dancers
feature during many activities and
the Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project, which
events, including the Kings Park
Festival. Photo: M Griffin.
was conducted by local Nyoongar representatives and
attended by people from the Pilbara Eastern Guruma
community. A Welcome to Country ceremony was conducted by local Nyoongar
representatives for the official launch of the Place of Reflection project in the Botanic
Garden, and to acknowledge past and present Nyoongar connection with the land, a
new pavilion in the Botanic Garden was given the Nyoongar name of Marlee Pavilion.
The BGPA also supported Reconciliation Week 2011 through sponsorship of
banners displayed throughout Perth.
An Annual Report on progress against targets identified in the BGPA’s Reconciliation
Action Plan 2009-2010(RAP) was submitted to and approved by Reconciliation
Australia and a refreshed RAP for the period July 2010 to June 2012 was developed
and subsequently approved by Reconciliation Australia. Progress was made towards
the new RAP targets during the past year.
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The BGPA met three times with representative Nyoongar
elders on the Indigenous Reference Group during the year
to consult and update them on design and progress of
various projects,

Aboriginal dancers performed
as part of the Welcome to
Country during the launch of the
Place of Reflection.
Photo: D Newcombe.

A Section 18 Application under the Aboriginal Heritage Act
1972 was approved in March 2011 to construct an
extension to the Fraser’s Restaurant complex including an
alfresco dining area at the Botanical Café, an extended
loading dock and to install utility services associated with
the extension works. A total of 39 Aboriginal monitors were
engaged during the year to observe excavation works for
the Fraser’s Restaurant extension and the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park project to monitor and record
the occurrence of any cultural materials that may have
been revealed. No cultural materials were observed.

An Aboriginal Cultural Education Officer position was created and filled within the
Visitor Services team to deliver a range of new Aboriginal education programs to
schools and the community, as well as cultural awareness to staff and volunteers.
Mr Alton Walley continues his WA Indigenous cadetship working with the Visitor
Services team in Kings Park developing a new self guided Nyoongar ‘Boodja
Gnarning walk trail in the Botanic Garden. After its official launch in September 2011,
visitors will be able to pick up a brochure to complement the interpretive signs that
tell stories of how Nyoongar people used plants for food, shelter, tools and medicine.
This trail will also support the Kings Park Education Aboriginal ‘Wadjuk Wandering’
programs and the Indigenous Cultural Heritage Tours delivered in Kings Park by the
Nannup Family Trust.
Daily Indigenous Heritage Tours continued in Kings Park and Botanic Garden when
booked attendance was confirmed. This tour enables participants to learn about the
Indigenous history of Kings Park with an Aboriginal guide from the Nannup Family
Trust. Participants can see what plants were available for bush food and medicine,
hear the Dreaming story for Nyoongar country, and discover Nyoongar tools and
weapons and how they were made.
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Biodiversity Conservation and Ecological Restoration
Kings Park Bushland
The BGPA continued its activities to enhance native
biodiversity conservation and ecological restoration of
the Kings Park bushland. Monitoring and restoration of
the 2009 bushfire site remained a priority, particularly
weed control activities to minimise weed competition for
the regeneration of native species throughout the site
and ongoing recording in permanent monitoring plots to
help understand the effect of fire and fire fighting
operations on biodiversity recovery in the short and
longer term.

Management of the Kings Park and
Bold Park bushlands is important for
local bird species such as the Tawny
Frogmouth. Photo: D Blumer

The severe hail storm in March 2010 that caused significant defoliation of bushland
vegetation in localised areas prompted a survey of ten hail impacted sites in spring
2010 to enable comparison with data collected in the vegetation survey conducted in
spring 2008. Early indications are that many of the impacted canopy species have
recovered from the defoliation but that foliage shedding may have caused greater
impacts on the understorey species through excessive leaf litter or mulch deposits. A
number of species responded to the hail with significant germination events including
Kennedia prostrata, Acacia pulchella and Pimelea rosea.
Following a dry winter in 2010 and a dry and hotter than average summer, significant
stress was observed in the bushland vegetation that has prompted a monitoring
program to identify the extent of the impact and document recovery following this
event. Trees that were impacted in particular include Allocasuarina, Banksia and
Jarrah.
Veld Grass control was implemented in target locations throughout the bushland with
an area of approximately 120 hectares sprayed with selective herbicide by BGPA
staff and contractors combined. Apart from reducing competition for native species,
Veld Grass control is an important fire management strategy as it reduces the mass
of highly flammable introduced grasses in the bushland.
Woody weeds (non-native trees and shrubs) were also targeted as part of the weed
control program and were removed from over 50 hectares of bushland. Control of
broadleaf and bulbous weeds continued with a focus on restoration sites. A total of
21 highly invasive weed species were targeted for control including 37 sites for Black
Flag, 95 sites for Watsonia, 29 sites for Lupins, 28 sites for Geraldton Carnation and
nine sites for Verbesina control.
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Fungi Surveys in Kings Park and
Bold Park bushlands identified
species not previously recorded.
Photo: D Blumer.

Restoration planting was implemented in 29 planting sites,
including 15 within the 2009 bushfire site and
supplementary planting on the escarpment where poor
results from previous plantings were recorded. The winter
2011 planting included a range of 64 species and a total
of 28,000 local native plants. Seed collection continued to
replenish seed supplies for restoration purposes and for
species conservation. Seed from a total of 81 species was
collected, cleaned, recorded and stored during the
season, with samples of each collection x-rayed to
determine quality and viability.

Other biodiversity conservation activities included a fungi survey by a consultant
mycologist in the winter of 2010 that recorded 108 species of fungi, including 47%
that had not been recorded before in Kings Park and three species that had not been
recorded previously in Western Australia. This survey brought the total number of
fungi named to species level to 190 in Kings Park to date.
A reptile survey that was initiated by the BGPA in 2009 continued with trapping led by
an Edith Cowan University zoologist in spring 2010 and autumn 2011. The survey
includes sites on the scarp and the plateau bushland in burnt and unburnt areas to
investigate fire impacts on reptile fauna. A study into vegetation changes over a 20
year period in Kings Park bushland that was deferred due to limited staff resources
was resumed in 2011 with collation of data collected in 2008 and data analysis.

Bold Park
Documentation of a five year restoration plan for Bold Park was progressed and
included a review of past planting and weed control activities throughout the park.
The plan will be completed in 2011 to commence implementation during 2012.
Restoration activities continued to focus in priority sites including the Oceanic,
Eastern Gateway, Reabold Hill and Mt Claremont precincts as well as some activity
in the bushland adjacent to the Ecology Centre. Approximately 40,500 local native
plants including a range of 42 species were planted across these sites during the
winter months of 2010. Some infill planting was done along track edges where track
upgrade works had created a disturbance and where steep embankments required
planting for stability purposes. The average survival rate over all sites in the nine
months following planting however has been low, most likely due to the dry winter in
2010 and the unusually extended hot and dry weather over the last summer and
autumn.
The seed collection program resulted in collection of seed of 91 species, including
eight of the 15 vulnerable flora species and two species not previously collected.
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A total of 33 hectares were sprayed with selective herbicide to control Veld Grass in
the Oceanic and Eastern Gateway precincts, as well as the area surrounding the
Quarry Amphitheatre as a fire risk management treatment. Spot spraying of
Pelargonium capitatum occurred over 34 hectares in the same areas as well as in
previous planting sites, and Bridal Creeper was sprayed over 35 hectares targeting
the worst infestations. Control of bulbous weeds such as Freesia and Black Flag
continued and ongoing management of Geraldton Wax and hybrids continued to
protect the genetic integrity of the local Wembley Wax on site.
Monitoring of vulnerable flora indicated that the populations are generally stable
although there have been individual plant losses in two of the fifteen vulnerable
species. There was an increase in population size for five of the vulnerable flora
species through natural recruitment within established populations.
The annual fungi surveys were continued by a consultant mycologist recording 83
species in 2010. Sixteen of these were identified as new records for the park; nine
species were considered new records for Western Australia and two species were
new records for Australia. The total number of fungi species recorded to date in Bold
Park is 461.
A range of external research projects were conducted within Bold Park including
studies related to the Carnaby’s Black Cockatoo, the Graceful Sun Moth and long
term monitoring of vertebrate fauna species.

Western Australian Botanic Garden
Visitors to the Botanic Garden were highly complementary of the high standards of
presentation and spectacular plant displays maintained throughout the year with the
Botanic Garden entry precinct again producing an outstanding colourful display of
Western Australian flora, highlighted to the public in the Kings Park Festival during
September.
Possibly the most significant development for the Botanic Garden team was the Rio
Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park project in the former Arboretum. This site is to be
managed as an annex to the Botanic Garden and a significant amount of preparatory
work was required in readiness for the opening in October 2011. Assistance was
provided during the contract landscape works to manage and protect existing
vegetation, grass trees under threat of disturbance were lifted and transferred to the
nursery, sub-surface drip irrigation was installed and a significant amount of pruning
as well as brush and log relocation was undertaken.
The Kings Park Floral Clock was dismantled during March 2011 to make way for an
alfresco dining area at the Botanical Café. The Botanic Gardens team removed the
plantings and the infrastructure was salvaged and stored for reinstatement of this
cultural icon near the Botanic Garden entry in 2012.
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Nursery
The Kings Park Nursery had a very productive year with well over
70,000 plants grown for various projects and planting programs in
a range of container sizes from cell trays to advanced tree stock,
as well as maintaining the potted collections retained within the
Nursery as important conservation collections.

The Nursery Team
produce plants for
Kings Park and Bold
Park projects and
activities.
Photo M Griffin.

Significant support was provided to the ecological restoration
programs in Bold Park and Kings Park bushland with over 37,000
local native plants grown in tubes during the year for 2011 winter
planting. The Nursery also assisted with seed pre-treatments prior
to dispatch to external nurseries that contract-grow additional
plants for the bushland programs. Generally the Kings Park
Nursery grows those species that are either more difficult to grow
or for which poor results have been achieved by external
nurseries.

The Nursery continued to support external conservation programs by producing
1,122 plants of various threatened flora species for the DEC. These plants are crucial
for DEC species recovery plans and are usually translocated into the wild to enhance
populations of Declared Rare Flora and threatened flora.
A planned upgrade to the Nursery and Depot facilities in Kings Park was commenced
with a review of the site masterplan but further planning and works were deferred to
2012 to enable more pressing priorities to be met.

Plant Development
The BGPA’s Plant Development Team entered into two new commercial contracts to
expedite their work with external funding partners. Under these new agreements, 36
elite ornamental plant selections and hybrids developed by the BGPA were sent to
four commercial partners to begin testing under rigorous conditions to determine their
suitability for commercial production and marketing. One contract with an Australian
company established previously to deliver new varieties of Grevillea was
discontinued by that company due to a shift in focus; however a second contract with
the same company remains in place for development of plants within the small myrtle
genera.
Following the international release of the BGPA-bred hybrid Scaevola aemula ‘Blue
Print’ in 2009, over 430,000 plants had been sold internationally within an 18 month
period to December 2010. This variety was promoted as the 2010 Kings Park
Festival plant and featured strongly in the Friends of Kings Park quarterly plant sales.
It has been planted extensively in display gardens throughout Kings Park and
Botanic Garden.
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Western Australian Seed Technology Centre (WASTC)
The Curator of the WASTC completed the final collection obligations under the
Millennium Seed Bank (MSB) project partnership between the MSB in the United
Kingdom, the DEC (DEC) and the BGPA. This also included the requirements under
an extended transition agreement that was completed in March 2011.
Over 3,000 species are stored in the WASTC as long term conservation collections.
All collections are processed in accordance with international protocols and are
recorded in the BGPA’s horticultural database, BGBase. New equipment in the form
of a ruggedised laptop computer with a built in GPS system for use in the field has
greatly enhanced the accuracy of collecting details and record-keeping.

Herbarium
The BGPA’s Reference Herbarium staff provided expert assistance in the
identification of plant species for a range of projects including the final collections for
the Millennium Seed Bank, Bold Park bushland species and other plants in
collections and on display in the Western Australian Botanic Garden. Assistance was
also provided in plant identification and field location mapping for the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park, located in the former Arboretum site.
Curation of the herbarium collections was another key responsibility including
mounting of new specimens and repair of existing vouchers, and ensuring name
currency for both living and dried collections. Botanical names were updated in the
BGPA’s horticultural database, BGBase and data entry was completed for all new
herbarium specimens. Staff also assisted with emailed public enquiries on plant
identification from local, national and overseas people as required.

Arboriculture
Remedial tree surgery works were undertaken on a range of trees throughout the
park including works in the Fraser Avenue precinct, the Rio Tinto Naturescape in
Kings Park site and at the Place of Reflection in the Botanic Garden. Works were
also required to provide double-decker bus clearance along Forrest Drive and to
maintain various palms. A combination of staff and contractors completed these
works.
New equipment to enable direct nutrient injection
was purchased and used on selected Lemon
Scented gums on Fraser Avenue and on the
mature Corymbia that was transplanted in 2009.
Air spade technology was used to expose roots
prior to trenching to reduce potential damage.
Locations included Synergy Parkland, Lovekin
Drive Honour Avenue trees and near Mt Eliza
Direct nutrient injection into a Lemon
Scented Gum. Photo: D Blumer.
House prior to new power infrastructure
installation. It was also used at the Rio Tinto
Naturescape in Kings Park entry to enable radial mulching and soil enrichment to
stimulate root growth prior to unavoidable root loss on the opposite side of the trees.
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A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was established with a new accredited
training organisation and the existing MOU with Challenger TAFE was revised, which
permit training activities within Kings Park. These agreements provide opportunities
for Arbor students to learn practical skills in tree climbing, pruning and removal while
delivering direct benefits in the form of tree services to the BGPA.
A research trial conducted in partnership with Murdoch University to test a new
chemical’s effectiveness in the control of Honey Fungus, (Armillaria) in the Botanic
Garden concluded in June 2011. Although the final report is not completed, it is
believed to have had limited benefit in the control of the fungus and arresting mature
tree decline.

Restoration Ecology
The Restoration Ecology team continued to research reasons underpinning
ecosystem decline and climate change. It developed new and innovative
technologies for tackling urban bushland, post-mining and post-disturbance
restoration of the State’s bio-diverse ecosystems. Though state-wide, the programs
build restoration research capability that directly benefits the designated lands of the
BGPA.
To enable better understanding of Banksia woodland restoration, research has
focused on:
• Seedling recruitment and plant survival patterns.
• Seedling and plant responses to environmental changes.
• Broad-scale restoration works.
• Annual monitoring of all rehabilitation sites completed to date and
implementation of research outcomes.
These research outcomes form part of a forthcoming book “Restoring a Biodiverse
Plant community – Perth’s Banksia Woodlands”.
Research is continuing into the effects of chemicals typically used in natural plant
communities (e.g. herbicides, adjuvants, and fire-suppressing agents) on species
native to Kings Park and Bold Park bushlands. The findings of the research programs
are potentially important in weed management and bushfire control technology.

Rare and Threatened Species
Research continues into the conservation biology of the State’s rare/threatened flora.
It aims to resolve biological and/or environmental reasons that may underpin plant
rarity, such as plant reproduction (flowering, fruiting, seeding and seed-bank
development stages); the presence of invasive species; feral animal activities; or
climate change. This involves describing in situ (translocations) and ex situ (nursery
living collections) conservation strategies to increase species presence.
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Restoration Ecophysiology
The Restoration Ecophysiology team continues to research key physiological
markers that underpin early stage establishment in native seedlings. Understanding
the relationship between the plant and its growing environment will allow scientists
and industry stakeholders to improve plant establishment success in restoration.
Ecophysiology projects are addressing key questions in the mining (Goldfields, Midwest, Pilbara and Swan Coastal Plain) and agricultural sectors (Western Australia,
New South Wales, Victoria).
Collaborative research continues in several key areas including:
• Banksia woodland restoration.
• Soil amendments to increase plant survival.
• Image analysis to understand restoration outcomes.
• Banded Ironstone restoration.
• Agricultural land restoration and sustainable production.

Conservation Genetics
The Conservation Genetics Team is applying molecular markers for research and
practical outcomes in native plant conservation, ecological restoration, native plant
breeding, systematics and phylogenetics. The laboratory uses state-of-the-art
automated DNA sequencers.
Key findings include:
• Assessment of genetic processes behind the diversification and evolution of
our biodiversity.
• Identification of levels and spatial structure of genetic variation within and
among natural populations for conservation management, restoration, and
post-mining rehabilitation.
• Genetic delineation of local provenance seed collection zones for improved
native plant community restoration outcomes.
• Experimental assessment of local adaptation and the mixing of genetic
provenances in a restoration context for improved native plant community
restoration outcomes.
• Application of population genomic and transcriptomic approaches to find
genes that are adaptive in the natural environment, quantify their diversity, and
to reveal their ecological and physiological function.
• Assessment of genetic variation in the context of resilience to climate change
and other threatening processes.
• Taxonomic assessment and molecular phylogenetic research for an improved
understanding of the diversity and natural relationships of native taxa.
• Use of a DNA barcoding approach as a rapid species identification tool for
conservation outcomes.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Understanding of realised mating patterns, pollen dispersal and the factors
influencing reproductive success, in natural plant populations.
Long-distance dispersal of seed for an assessment of migration capacity in the
face of climate change and other threatening processes.
Application of DNA fingerprinting and DNA sequencing for more efficient
native plant breeding for horticultural markets.
Application of DNA fingerprinting and DNA sequencing techniques for
molecular ecological forensics and identification.
Monitoring of genetic fidelity and variation for the management of ex-situ and
translocated conservation collections.
Integration of genetics research programs, wherever possible, with other Kings
Park Science disciplines, including restoration ecology, seed biology,
ecophysiology, and conservation biotechnology.
Maximising knowledge yield applicable to the designated lands under control
of the BGPA.

Five nationally competitive ARC (Australian Research Council) grants were held by
the Conservation Genetics Team through the Discovery and Linkage Grants
Schemes with researchers at the University of Western Australia, Curtin University,
Murdoch University, and the Australian National University.
A major research program on the conservation genetics and phylogenetic
relationships of the declared rare flora Darwinia masonii and Lepidosperma gibsonii
for on- and off-site conservation was completed, with funding from Mt Gibson Mining
and Asia Iron Holding Ltd. Research highlights to date include comprehensive
molecular phylogenies of the Darwinia, Chamelaucium, Verticordia group as well as
Lepidosperma.
A four-year research program continued with funding from Rio Tinto to characterise
genetic variation within and among populations of the three Pilbara riparian tree
species Eucalyptus camaldulensis, E. victrix, and Melaleuca argentea affected by
water extraction.

Seed Science and Restoration Seed Banking
The Seed Science Team undertakes research on seed biology and ecology to
develop techniques and technologies for plant propagation, conservation, and
restoration. Research focuses on the seed maturation and collection techniques,
seed dispersal, conservation and restoration seed banking, seed germination and
dormancy, and techniques for seed delivery to restoration sites and improved
seedling establishment. The Seed Science team’s research programs continue to
expand and include:
• Investigation into the flora of the Kimberley region of Western Australia.
• Continuance of its major research collaborations with the Millennium Seed
Bank, Western Australian universities and industry partners.
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A major research collaboration with the Millennium Seed Bank was completed in
2010. Over the past five years this partnership has contributed support to three postdoctoral positions and has seen the successful completion of a PhD research
program. The BGPA’s research partnership with the MSB and other Australian
partners will continue into the future through its involvement in the Australian
Seedbank Partnership which is envisaged to drive new national seed conservation
initiatives involving botanic gardens, universities, government and non-government
agencies Australia-wide.
A major project with BHP Billiton Iron Ore continued into its third year. Research will
deliver a ‘Seed Atlas’ to provide knowledge-to-date practical guidelines for the
collection, processing, storage, germination and use of seeds in restoration following
mining in the Pilbara region. Laboratory trials are continually being revised to improve
dormancy alleviating techniques to maximise the germination of 80 species collected
to date.
Two research programs supported by Rio Tinto continued into the second year.
Focusing on seed collection, quality, storage and germination biology, these
programs will deliver strategies for managing and improving seed-based restoration
of Rio Tinto’s iron ore mines in the Pilbara, and develop conservation strategies for
priority and iconic flora including Melaleuca argentea, Eucalyptus camaldulensis, E.
victrix and Aluta quadrata.
Two new PhD student research programs commenced in 2011 focused on the
ecology of aquatic plants in the Kimberley. Combined, these studies represent the
first major investigation of reproduction and dispersal of Kimberley aquatic flora.

Conservation Biotechnology
The Conservation Biotechnology Team undertakes research into advanced in vitro
technologies, cryogenics and micropropagation of plants; areas critical to the
success of ex situ conservation and translocation of recalcitrant and endangered
plant species. In addition, the Conservation Biotechnology Team provide expert
advice to other researchers seeking to use in vitro technology as part of their
programs in other disciplines (e.g. genetics, seed biology and restoration).
An Australian Research Council (ARC) Linkage ‘Development of cryopreservation for
high value provenance collections of recalcitrant plant species used in post-mining
restoration’ (LP0883460) is now approaching its third and final year. This project is a
collaboration involving Curtin University of Technology, Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology, University of Queensland, The University of Western Australia, BGPA
and industry partners ALCOA (WA) and BHP Billiton-Worsley Alumina. One postdoctoral position is based at Kings Park and another at Curtin University.
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Cryogenic methods are continuing to enhance the
capacity to efficiently store germplasm of declared
rare flora at Kings Park laboratories. New taxa
successfully cryostored recently include Lomandra
sonderi (an important but propagation recalcitrant
species important for minesite restoration) and
Commersonia sp Mt Groper (a critically endangered
species). The cryogenic program is vital to secure
storage of the valuable in vitro collection at Kings
Cryogenic methods are used for
Park. The current ARC Linkage cryogenic study is
conservation of endangered native flora.
continuing to provide valuable new information for
Photo: M Griffin.
improving cryopreservation protocols and expanding
the cryo-collection of declared rare flora at Kings Park’s laboratories. Assessed
cryostored material of sixteen priority and endangered species were stored in the
main cryo-dewar in 2010/11.

Orchid Conservation and Biology
The Orchid Research Team has been actively involved in diverse research areas
working towards integrated orchid conservation. This research emphasis has
facilitated:
• Strong collaborative links with local and international institutions, the most
prominent being with the Orchid Research scientists at the Royal Botanic
Gardens, Kew, United Kingdom.
• Significant collaborations with industry stakeholders, community groups,
volunteers and students from other education institutions.
Research from three major long-term orchid conservation projects has continued this
year. The Drakaea elastica research program focuses on the population biology,
conservation and recovery of the nationally rare glossy-leaved hammer orchid. This
genus contains ten species, five of which are declared rare flora and another is
known only from herbarium records. This research has demonstrated the highly
specialised nature of its two key ecological requirements: the wasp pollinator and
mycorrhizal endophytes that fundamentally underpin future conservation of the orchid
in the Perth region. Research into the habitat requirements of both Drakaea elastica
and the pollinator, as well as the conservation genetics of the orchid is being
undertaken. Habitat and climate analysis has shown that Drakaea elastica has a
specific habitat requirement of open sandy areas in Kunzea thickets and occupies a
local climate niche. A pollinator marking study demonstrated that the vast majority of
pollinators move only a short distance within remnant bushland. Further fieldwork is
planned for spring 2011 to complete investigation of the multi-scale habitat
requirements of the pollinator species.
The Millennium Seed Bank project has continued this year. The project aims to
collect and place into long term storage all of Western Australia’s terrestrial orchid
seed and associated mycorrhizal endophytes. Presently, the BGPA has collected
approximately 80% of all described native orchid seed and fungi and is working to
increase that number to 90% by the end of the 2012 growing season.
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Volunteer work by the Orchid Carers from the Friends of Kings Park has seen the
successful artificial propagation and ongoing care of a number of species of native
terrestrial orchids through seed germination and laboratory methods. Housed in a
newly renovated glasshouse, these volunteers are dedicated to establishing a living
collection of Western Australia’s native orchids with particular focus on threatened
taxa.

Biodiversity and Extensions
The core business for Biodiversity and Extensions is to promote sound horticultural
practices in species restoration and recovery operations; and the use of native
Australian species in gardening and landscaping to help maintain biodiversity and
minimise the use of fertiliser and water.
Controlling environmental weeds in natural and degraded ecosystems often
necessitates glasshouse and field trials, using a range of agricultural pre and post
emergent herbicides within the BGPA, with other agencies and through fee-forservice arrangements to find suitable herbicides for controlling these weeds whilst
reducing off-target damage.
The BGPA collaborates with local and State Government agencies, in particular the
DEC, in relation to the translocation of Declared Rare Flora, managing natural
ecosystems and environmental weed control.
Projects currently underway include:
• Translocation of Verticordia lindleyi subsp. lindleyi funded by the Public
Transport Authority and planted at Perth Airport on land managed by Westralia
Airports Corporation.
• The translocation of Eremophila resinosa funded by Catalpa Resources
(formerly Westonia Mines Ltd) and supported by the Shire of Westonia.
• Translocation of the critically endangered Corrigin Grevillea.
• Translocation of the critically endangered Symonanthus bancroftii.
Extension activities are promoted through serving on advisory groups with local
organisations such as the Environmental Weeds Action Network Australia and
Association of Bush Regenerators, networking, representing the BGPA on several
committees and through presentations to professional organisations, conferences,
seminars and the general public.
The Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners provide gardening advice to the general
public to promote the use of moisture efficient and low nutrient native plants. This
group also manages a large bush garden open to public viewing. All the plants in the
garden have been raised in-house by the Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners to
illustrate how easy it is raise plants and to garden without additional water and
fertilisers. The garden is now six years old and is mulched to reduce moisture loss
and to suppress weeds. Recruitment of natural seedlings is increasing each year,
reducing the need for continually raising some short lived species.
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Risk Management
Fire Management
Two fires were reported in Kings Park bushland over the summer of 2010/2011, one
of which burned two hectares and the other occurred in three locations on the
escarpment; however the area burnt was minor. In Bold Park there were also two
small fires recorded, the larger of which burnt about 100 square metres and the other
appeared to be a campfire. All were believed to have been deliberately lit.
An independent, expert panel appointed by the BGPA completed a review of the
BGPA’s current fire management practices for Bold Park and Kings Park bushlands,
titled External Review of Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Fire Management and
Response Plan 2010. The report commended the BGPA in several areas and also
made a series of recommendations to improve the management of fire risk in the
parks.
Medical and fitness checks for fire officers were undertaken during the year and
annual in-house refresher training was conducted for all fire officers in the practical
use of fire response equipment.

Mt Eliza Escarpment
The slopes of the Mt Eliza escarpment continued to be monitored for stability through
the year as an important risk management strategy. BGPA staff conducted seven
inspections following 24-hour periods with greater than 20mm rainfall and two formal
geotechnical assessments were completed by a consultant with only minor issues
raised. There was little movement recorded for the twelve month period, likely due to
reduced rainfall through a dry 2010 winter and late 2011 rains. Minor remedial works
were completed including trimming of four limestone boulders and some erosion
control works.
In Bold Park the limestone cutting on Oceanic Drive was monitored regularly and
remained stable. A proposal to construct a low rock catch fence on the boundary at
the base of the cutting is pending advice from the Town of Cambridge on a new
footpath they have proposed for the road verge.

Asset Management
In the aftermath of the March 2010 severe hail storm and the widespread damage
caused to buildings, vehicles and other assets, the heavy demand for trades created
immediate shortages in contractor availability which in turn delayed many repair
works. Consequently, repairs were not completed until late 2010 or early 2011 in
some cases. These included roofing, gutters and window replacements at Crawley
Lodge as well as carpet and painting throughout, replacement of the roofing at Zamia
Café, carpet replacement in the Biodiversity Conservation Centre that was flooded
throughout the ground floor and several air conditioner repairs. A number of BGPA
leased vehicles with hail damage were repaired in late 2010.
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A building condition audit was completed to identify and prioritise maintenance works
required for all BGPA building structures. Many of the items identified were
addressed by the BGPA Operations Team and others were completed by
contractors.
In preparation for the proposed Nursery/Depot upgrade, an investigation of reported
contaminated sites in the Depot was commissioned. The final report indicated that
based on soil analytical results; there is no potential risk to human health or the
environment in the event that the sites are disturbed in the upgrade.
A Memorandum of Understanding with Main Roads WA was finalised and signed
during the year which defines agreed responsibilities for each party in relation to road
maintenance in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Main Roads WA undertook some
remedial works on the Saw Avenue road surface and drainage during the year in
preparation for re-sheeting in August 2011.

Water Management
The BGPA continued to monitor its ground water and scheme water use closely with
various strategies introduced to conserve water and maximise water use efficiencies.
The total use of ground water for irrigation was 574.6ml, which is within the approved
allocation despite a dry winter in 2010, an extended hot dry summer in 2010/2011,
and late autumn rains. Strategies included the reduction of irrigation regimes from
45% replacement to 30% in some of the lower priority areas and in high priority
areas, application was reduced from 61% down to 57% replacement of evapotranspiration. This produced water savings without compromising the quality of the
turf.

Tree Risk Management
Significant tree risk management works were undertaken through the year with tree
inspections given a high priority. Regular inspections were conducted in the
developed areas of Kings Park and Botanic Garden, including targeted inspections
prior to major events such as Anzac Day and summer concerts. Annual inspections
were conducted along bushland tracks within Kings Park and Bold Park and in
carparks to identify any potential tree risks.
A total of 133 stem failures were reported during the year of branches over 50mm
diameter. A Quantified Tree Risk Assessment course was held in Kings Park in
March 2011 in which a BGPA staff member became a licensed user of the system.

Ongoing Risk Management
A review of the BGPA Guidelines for use of Agricultural Chemicals in the parks was
undertaken to update them in accordance with revised Regulations issued by the
Health Department. Safety signs related to chemical use in public areas were also
reviewed in line with the Regulations.
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Information Services
The Information Services team implemented a range of equipment upgrades and
other strategies to manage risks, maintain data security and provide for future needs.
The BGPA and Aspects of Kings Park websites were migrated to a more reliable and
robust server environment to ensure service availability for planned BGPA
enhancements. In addition, the file server delivery was migrated to a new server
environment which uses the expanded storage capacity of the BGPA’s new Storage
Area network (SAN). This provides enormous growth capacity for storage of BGPA
data.
An upgrade to the network environment commenced to ensure a standard operating
environment across all BGPA hardware and to maintain file version compatibility with
other Government departments. The migration of the BGPA’s existing exchange
server to a new server also commenced, incorporating the existing SAN. This will
provide numerous opportunities to expand service delivery and business processes
through a range of improvements offered.
External audit processes by Microsoft and Adobe have shown the BGPA to be fully
license compliant. Controls on the purchase and installation of software within the
BGPA may have facilitated compliance.
New CCTV cameras have been installed in the Wadjuk Carpark area as a security
measure to provide greater levels of real time monitoring review and capability.
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Current and Emerging Issues and Trends
CHOGM 2011
In January 2011 the Prime Minister, Hon Julia Gillard MHR and Premier, Hon Colin
Barnett MLA announced that the Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting
(CHOGM) Leaders' Retreat scheduled for October 2011 would be held in a new
upper level addition to Fraser’s Restaurant in Kings Park and Botanic Garden, to be
constructed by late August 2011.
The priority of the CHOGM works has required BGPA staff to assist with its planning
and implementation, with some other projects such as the Nursery and Depot
upgrade deferred until 2012.

Services, Facilities and Infrastructure
Kings Park and Botanic Garden remains one of the State's single most visited tourist
destinations with 5.8 million visitors in 2010/11. High levels of visitation continue to
apply pressure on existing operations and infrastructure, requiring ongoing upgrades
and review. Regular maintenance programs are undertaken and assets are
refurbished as funding allows.
The cost of cleaning public facilities (toilets, barbecues, roads and pavilions) has
increased by 205% over the past six years, with increased frequency and intensity of
cleaning required to maintain presentation.
Waste management (including litter pick up, rubbish disposal and recycling) costs
have increased by 98% over the past six years and traffic management requirements
have likewise increased with pressures on parking availability especially on
weekends and public holidays.

Biodiversity Conservation
A key focus remains on the conservation and enhancement of
bushland in Bold Park and Kings Park to achieve environmental
targets, with essential fire management and risk mitigation works
continuing. In order to conserve native biodiversity and provide
appropriate and safe visitor access, facilities and interpretation for
the community, ongoing management activity includes ecological
restoration and monitoring, weed control, tree management, and
essential asset maintenance.
Thysanotus triandrus
(three-stemmed fringed
lily) in Bold Park
bushland.
Photo: C Mykytiuk.

Monitoring of the Kings Park bushland continues following the
severe hail storm in March 2010. While early indications show that
many of the impacted canopy species have recovered, understory
vegetation may have been impacted by excessive leaf litter or
mulch deposits.
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In addition, a monitoring program has commenced to assess impact on bushland
vegetation following a dry winter in 2010 and a hotter than average and dry summer.
In particular, noticeable impact has occurred in Allocasuarina, Banksia and Jarrah
species.

Risk Management
An external review of the BGPA’s Fire Management and Response Plan was
undertaken in 2010. The review was supportive of the BGPA’s plan and provided 10
recommendations to further improve fire and risk management in Kings Park and
Bold Park.
A key recommendation of the external review was the need to undertake a
comprehensive bushfire risk analysis for Kings Park and Bold Park. This analysis is
currently undertaken by an external consultant.

Research and Development
Kings Park is one of the leading botanic garden institutions in the world in terms of
scientific outputs. Scientific research underpins adaptive management of the BGPA’s
designated lands and assists in regional biodiversity and restoration projects. This is
undertaken with government funding and through research grants and fee-for-service
arrangements. Consolidated Appropriation allows the BGPA to leverage up to six
times the research activities from external sources for conservation and restoration
projects.
The world first discovery of the germination-active agent in smoke has improved the
BGPA's ability to germinate and grow hundreds of native species for restoration of
urban bushlands and restoration for the mining industry. The technology is being
developed for broader application in horticulture (plant breeding) and agriculture
(weed control).
Cryostorage is a major off-site conservation tool – an “emergency ward” enabling
long-term ex-situ preservation of our most critically threatened plant species.
Research into cryogenic storage of plant tissues in liquid nitrogen at minus 196°C for
the purposes of saving endangered plants began at Kings Park in 1991 and the first
successful cryostorage of shoot tips of a critically endangered Australian species
(Grevillea scapigera) was published in 1992. However, the impact of climate change
has rapidly increased the number of species in urgent need of effective ex-situ
conservation solutions such as cryostorage to reduce the immediate threat of
extinction.
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Likely Developments and Forecast of Operations –
The Year Ahead
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Stage 1 of the exciting new Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park will be completed in
2011/12. The project will provide a world-class environmental discovery and learning
experience enabling children to connect with nature.
The site will feature a range of fun and experiential environmental activities, including
tree climbing, cubby building, adventure and discovery. It is anticipated that this site
will experience 150,000 visitations each year.
Capital funding of $8.5M has been provided for this project by the Rio Tinto WA
Future Fund, the Water Corporation, Lotterywest through the Friends of Kings Park,
and the Perth Solar City program.

Nursery and Depot Redevelopment
This project will result in the replacement of ageing infrastructure and facilities in the
depot and plant nursery by redesigning the layout and growing areas. This will
include key buildings, glasshouses and the potting media facilities to meet current
and future technical, environmental and hygiene requirements.

Subiaco Lodge
The oldest building in Kings Park, the Subiaco Lodge has significant heritage value.
The first stage of planned conservation works for this building will commence late
2011 to prevent further decline of this building and restore some of the original
features of the house.

The Kings Park Floral Clock
This iconic Kings Park landmark was removed in March 2011 to make way for a new
alfresco dining area at the Botanical Cafe, associated with the works to Fraser’s
Restaurant for the CHOGM Leader’s Retreat in October 2011. The plantings were
removed and the clock infrastructure has been stored to be relocated to the Botanic
Garden entry precinct in 2012.

Funding and Revenue
Kings Park and Botanic Garden is open to the community 24 hours a day, every day
of the year and does not generate any revenue from entry or parking fees. The
community’s expectation that extremely high standards of presentation and service
are maintained in Kings Park and Botanic Garden means the BGPA must continually
review budgets and operational outcomes to support the high levels of visitation and
subsequent maintenance and operational costs impacting on service delivery.
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The Year Ahead continued
Through business development activities the BGPA actively seeks external funding in
order to improve or provide additional visitor facilities and maintain the world-class
parklands, bushland and Botanic Garden as well as community events such as the
annual Kings Park Festival. Volunteer engagement strategies continue to be
implemented to establish and support the vital volunteer network that supports the
services and functions of the BGPA.

Biodiversity Conservation
Ecological restoration of Bold Park and Kings Park
bushland is a long term commitment requiring ongoing
on-ground activities and research programs to ensure
that the native biological diversity of these significant ‘A’
Class reserves is conserved and enhanced in
accordance with the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority Act 1998.

Templetonia Retusa (Cockie's
Tongue) in Bold Park bushland.
Photo: B Knott.

The restoration, rehabilitation and adaptive management work undertaken to
conserve and enhance the bushland areas of Bold Park and Kings Park will continue.
In particular the monitoring of the bushland areas restoration and weed management
activities in the areas damaged by recent fires in Kings Park and Bold Park bushland
and the impacts of March 2010 hail storm and dry seasons.

Research and Development
Research and Development projects in conservation science will continue in order to
deliver significant benefits to the community and industry for conservation of
endangered species and successful translocations of native flora in disturbed or
degraded areas.
The BGPA is undertaking a business plan for a restoration seedbank in Western
Australia. It aims to provide a curated storage facility for Western Australian native
plant seed. The seedbank is the next and most critical step to enable communitydirected landscape restoration projects and for more effective restoration generally. A
key plank of this support is related to the targeted research by the BGPA’s
internationally recognised seed scientists that would underpin the seedbank's
operations and practical outcomes.
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Certification of the Financial Statements
For the year Ended 30 June 2011
The accompanying financial statements of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the financial position as at 30 June
2011.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Professor John Considine
Member
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
14 September 2011

Grant Robinson
Member
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
14 September 2011

Ian Biddle
Chief Financial Officer
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
14 September 2011
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note

2011
$000

2010
$000

5
6
7
10
14
8

9,821
16,241
1,323
1,198
65
2,887
31,535

9,261
9,678
1,215
1,183
3,129
24,466

9
10
11
12
13
13

1,977
2,229
149
359
7,706
1,900
14,320

1,554
2,277
11
383
3,792
946
8,963

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
14
Total Gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

14,320
17,215

11
11
8,974
15,492

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Total income from State Government
(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

12,837
44
12,881
(4,334)

12,903
21
12,924
(2,568)

(330)
(330)
(4,664)

(1,542)
(1,542)
(4,110)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation expense
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Fee for service and sponsorships
Other revenue
Total Revenue

15

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
Refer also note 38 ‘Schedule of income and expenses by service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Receivables and other assets
Amounts receivable for services
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Infrastructure
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Note

2011
$000

2010
$000

28
16,28
17
18
19

5,896
4,317
730
4,493
975
16,411

2,521
4,770
743
1,532
585
10,151

19
20
22

4,004
41,667
914
46,585
62,996

3,869
41,135
937
45,941
56,092

24
25
26

8,763
1,684
2,752
13,199

820
1,380
2,341
4,541

25

567
567

589
589

13,766
49,230

5,130
50,962

19,186
15,461
14,583
49,230

16,254
15,791
18,917
50,962

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

27

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Contributed
Note
equity

Balance at 1 July 2009

27

Total comprehensive income for
the year
Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:
- Capital appropriations
- Other contributions by
owners
- Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2010
Balance at 1 July 2010

27

Total comprehensive income for
the year
Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:
- Capital appropriations
- Other contributions by
owners
- Distributions to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2011

Accumulated
surplus /
Reserves
(deficit)

$000

$000

$000

Total
Equity
$000

15,669

17,333

21,485

54,487

-

(1,542)

(2,568)

(4,110)

585
-

-

-

585
-

585
16,254

15,791

18,917

585
50,962

16,254

15,791

18,917

50,962

-

(330)

(4,334)

(4,664)

2,932
-

-

-

2,932
-

2,932
19,186

15,461

14,583

2,932
49,230

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note

2011
$000

2010
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Salary and Allowances Act 1975
Capital appropriation
Holding account drawdowns
Net cash provided by State Government

11,540
187
2,932
585
15,244

11,674
179
585
675
13,113

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services (includes cost of sales)
Other payments
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority

(9,455)
(9,745)
(2,861)
(1,370)
(135)

(9,271)
(11,306)
(3,081)
(1,533)
(29)

2,004
2,328
149
4,368
353
1,742
1,341
716
(10,565)

1,586
2,189
11
4,032
376
768
782
544
(14,932)

(1,790)

(2,382)

33
(1,757)

14
(2,368)

2,922
7,291
10,213

(4,187)
11,478
7,291

Receipts
User charges and fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Fee for service and sponsorships
Interest received
Other revenue
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Net cash used in operating activities

28

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF
PERIOD

28

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The BGPA’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian
Accounting Standards’ refers to the Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The BGPA has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting
Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The BGPA cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or
amended but are not yet operative have been early adopted by the BGPA for the
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2011.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial statements that have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the
AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative
provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence
over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect
upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting
using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure
which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 3 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
disclosed.
(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the BGPA.
(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than a
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have
been credited directly to Contributed equity.
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a
restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. Refer to note
27 ‘Equity’.
(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or
receivable. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be
measured reliably.
Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in
which the BGPA gains control of the appropriated funds. The BGPA gains control of
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Refer to note 15 ‘Income from State Government’.
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the BGPA obtains control over the assets
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.
Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include
gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of
non-current assets.
(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more and infrastructure
costing $250,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is
expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and
equipment costing less than $5,000 and infrastructure costing less than $250,000 are
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than
where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised
at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or
for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the
measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and the cost model for all other
property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair
value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is
determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to
recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent
market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is
determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are
specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair
value of buildings is determined on using the depreciated replacement cost basis, the
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated
proportionately.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the
end of the reporting period.
Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated
replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no marketbased evidence of value is available. Land under infrastructure is included in land
reported under note 20 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ at fair value. Independent
valuations are obtained every three to five years.
When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing
whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful
life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not
provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
Refer to note 20 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on
revaluations.
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and
infrastructure, any revaluation reserve relating to that asset is retained in the asset
revaluation surplus.
Asset Revaluation Surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the
revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 20 ‘Property, plant and
equipment’.
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Depreciation
All non-current assets, having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future
economic benefits.
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates
which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable
asset are:
Buildings
67 years
Plant and equipment
5 to 10 years
(a)
Software
5 years
Motor vehicles
7 years
Monuments and Special Items 40 years
Infrastructure
40 years
(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.
Works of art controlled by the BGPA are classified as property, plant and equipment.
These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not,
in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently
no depreciation has been recognised.
Land is not depreciated.
(g) Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the
assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the
date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of
the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates
which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the BGPA have a
finite useful life and zero residual value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Research and Development Costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an
individual project are carried forward when the future recoverability can reasonably
be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000.
Other development costs are expensed as incurred.
Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant
and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated
as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of
acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred, unless they relate to
the acquisition or development of an asset when they may be capitalised and
amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase
of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are
expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they
represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are
capitalised.
(h) Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is
recognised. As the BGPA is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate
any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of
whether there is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be
derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.
Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus
assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting
period.
Refer to note 2(p) and note 18 ‘Receivables and other assets’ for impairment of
receivables.
(i) Non-current Assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are presented separately from
other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale
are not depreciated or amortised.
(j) Leases
The BGPA enters into commercial operating leases for specified business premises
located in Kings Park and Botanic Gardens. The BGPA acts as Lessor and revenue
is recognised as income as per the terms and conditions of the lease agreement.
See note 20 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
The BGPA holds operating leases for motor vehicles. Lease payments are expensed
on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits
derived from the leased motor vehicles. Refer to note 30 ‘Commitments’.
The BGPA does not hold any finance leases.
(k) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the BGPA has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and Receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
• Financial Assets
o Cash and cash equivalents
o Restricted cash and cash equivalents
o Receivables
o Amounts receivable for services
• Financial Liabilities
o Payables
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement
is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the
face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement
is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand.
(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but
unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that
financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries
are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The BGPA considers the
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.
(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The BGPA receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as
an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is
accessible on emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover entitlements and
asset replacement. Refer to note 15 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 19
‘Amounts receivable for services’.
(o) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are
assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with
the majority being valued on a first in, first out basis.
Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required,
in which case they are valued at net realisable value. Refer to note 17 ‘Inventories’.
(p) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance
for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the BGPA will not be
able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due
for settlement within 30 days. Refer to note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 18
‘Receivables and other assets’.
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(q) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the BGPA becomes obliged
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying
amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. Refer
to note 2(k) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 24 ‘Payables’.
(r) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where
there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and
when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Refer to note 25 ‘Provisions’.
Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employee service
up to the end of the reporting period.
Annual leave
The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected
to be paid when the liability is settled.
Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of
settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future
wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the BGPA does
not have an unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected
to be paid when the liability is settled.
Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at
the time of settlement.
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When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future
wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
BGPA does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period. Conditional long service leave provisions
are classified as non-current liabilities because the BGPA has an unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite
years of service.
Refer to note 5 ‘Employee benefits expense and ’note 25 ‘Provisions.’
Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have
entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional four weeks leave per
calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees
and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Refer to note 5
‘Employee benefits expense’ and note 25 ‘Provisions.’
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public
sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with
legislative requirements.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension
scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since
1995.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and
whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the
BGPA to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation
liability.
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The BGPA has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for
the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable
to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the
Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by
the BGPA to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the
concurrently funded GSS obligations.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members
of either the Pension or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West
State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or
after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of
these schemes are accumulation schemes. The BGPA makes concurrent
contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.
These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of
the WSS and GESBS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS,
and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. Refer to note 2(s)
‘Superannuation expense’.
Provisions – Other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the BGPA’s ‘Employee
benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
Refer to note 8 ‘Other expenses’ and note 25 ‘Provisions’.
(s) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, and the
GESBS.
(t) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured
are recognised as income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.
(u) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the
figures presented in the current financial year.
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Note 3. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The BGPA makes key estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These
estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
In calculating the BGPA’s long service leave provision, several estimations and
assumptions have been made. These include expected future salary rates, salary
inflation, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.
Any changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying
amount of the long service leave provision.
Price Waterhouse Coopers was engaged by the BGPA to calculate the Leave
Provisions based on a shorthand method applying the Department of Treasury
issued discount rates and other factors as published in the Accounting Policy
Guideline 3 dated June 2010.

Note 4. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The BGPA has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 that impacted on the
BGPA:
2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139]
Under amendments to AASB 117, the classification of land elements of all existing
leases has been reassessed to determine whether they are in the nature of
operating or finance leases. As leases of land & buildings recognised in the
financial statements have not been found to significantly expose the Department to
the risks/rewards attributable to control of land, no changes to accounting
estimates have been included in the Financial Statements and Notes to the
Financial Statements.
Under amendments to AASB 107, only expenditures that result in a recognised
asset are eligible for classification as investing activities in the Statement of Cash
Flows. All investing cashflows reported in the Department’s Statement of Cash
Flows relate to increases in recognised assets.
Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy
There have been no voluntary changes in accounting policy.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The BGPA cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements. Consequently, the BGPA has not applied early any of the following
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the BGPA.
Where applicable, the BGPA plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards
from their application date.
Operative for
reporting
periods
beginning
on/after
1 Jan 2013

Title

AASB 2009-11
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121,
127,128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10
& 12].
The amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
requires modification to the disclosure of categories of financial
assets. The BGPA does not expect any financial impact when the
Standard is first applied. The disclosure of categories of financial
assets in the notes will change.
AASB 2009-12

1 Jan 2011

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8,
108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and
Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes.
There is no financial impact resulting from the application of this
revised Standard.
AASB 1053

1 July 2013

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for
preparing general purpose financial statements.
The Standard does not have any financial impact on the BGPA.
However it may affect disclosures in the financial statements of
the BGPA if the reduced disclosure requirements apply. DTF has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
new Standard for agencies.
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Operative for
reporting
periods
beginning
on/after
1 July 2013

Title

AASB 2010-2
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
Reduced Disclosure Requirements
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian
Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce
reduced disclosure requirements into these pronouncements for
application by certain types of entities.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on
the BGPA. However this Standard may reduce some note
disclosures in the financial statements of the BGPA. DTF has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
amendments to these Standards for agencies.
AASB 2011-2

1 July 2011

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project - Reduced Disclosure
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054]
This Amending Standard removes disclosure requirements from
other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to
achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand
Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. DTF
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the amendments to these Standards for agencies.
AASB 2010-5

1 Jan 2011

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4,
5,101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140,
1023 and 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]
(October 2010)
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes as
well as minor presentation changes to the Notes to the Financial
Statements. There is no financial impact resulting from the
application of this revised Standard.
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Operative for
reporting
periods
beginning
on/after
1 July 2011

Title

AASB 2010-6
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosures
on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7]
This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards, introducing additional presentation and disclosure
requirements for Financial Assets.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on
the BGPA. DTF has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for
agencies.
AASB 9

1 Jan 2013

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of
changes to accounting treatments.
The Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 and the Department
is currently determining the impact of the Standard. DTF has not
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard for agencies.
AASB 2010-7

1 Jan 2013

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108,
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 &
1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Amending Standard makes consequential adjustments to
other Standards as a result of issuing AASB 9 Financial
Instruments in December 2010. DTF has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard for
agencies.
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Operative for
reporting
periods
beginning
on/after
1 July 2011

Title

AASB 1054
Australian Additional Disclosures
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from
other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to
achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand
Accounting Standards.
AASB 2011-1

1 July 2011

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107,
108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Interpretations 2, 112 & 113]
This Amending Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054
Australian Additional Disclosures, removes disclosure
requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a
single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and
New Zealand Accounting Standards.
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Note 5. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries(a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans(b)
Superannuation - defined benefit plans(c)

2011
$000
9,010
606
205
9,821

2010
$000
8,478
596
187
9,261

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe
benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation
contribution component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, GESBS and Gold State
(contributions paid).
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component (note 25 ‘Provisions’).
Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at
note 8 ‘Other Expenses’. The employment on-costs liability is included at note
25 ‘Provisions’.

Note 6. Supplies and services

Communications
Consultants and contractors
Consumables
Travel
Other

2011
$000
132
13,568
1,594
125
822
16,241

2010
$000
156
6,960
1,631
131
800
9,678

2011
$000

2010
$000

991
309
23
1,323

904
311
1,215

Note 7. Depreciation expense

Depreciation
Plant, equipment and vehicles (includes monuments)
Buildings
Infrastructure
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Note 8. Other expenses
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Building maintenance
Equipment repairs and maintenance
Doubtful debts expense
Employment on-costs(a)
Fee for service(b)
Other(c)

2011
$000
243
1,597
330
(22)
408
258
73
2,887

2010
$000
329
1,733
465
25
554
(35)
58
3,129

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.
The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long
service leave liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs, See note 5
‘Employee benefits expense’.
(b) Fee for service recognised as a liability, refer to note 26 ‘Other current
liabilities’.
(c) Audit fees and write-offs, refer to note 36 ‘Remuneration of auditor’ and note
37 ‘Supplementary financial information’.

Note 9. User charges and fees

Rent and licence fees
Functions and events
Fines and infringements

2011
$000
750
1,147
80
1,977

2010
$000
674
802
78
1,554

2011
$000
2,229

2010
$000
2,277

(743)
(1,185)
(1,928)
730
(1,198)
1,031

(418)
(1,508)
(1,926)
743
(1,183)
1,094

Note 10. Trading profit

Sales
Cost of Sales:
Opening inventory
Purchases
Closing inventory
Cost of Goods Sold
Trading Profit
Refer to note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 17 ‘Inventories’.
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Note 11. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Recurrent

2011
$000
149
149

2010
$000
11
11

2011
$000
359
359

2010
$000
383
383

Note 12. Interest revenue
Interest revenue(a)
(a) Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Note 13. Fee for service sponsorships and other revenue

Fee for service and sponsorships
Fee for service
Sponsorships
Other Revenue
Recoups
Other

2011
$000

2010
$000

1,936
5,770
7,706

1,583
2,209
3,792

1,617
283
1,900

884
62
946

Note 14. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Buildings
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles
Net gain/(loss)

2011
$000

2010
$000

(112)

(3)
-

47
(65)

14
11

Refer to note 2(i) ‘Non-current Assets (or Disposal Groups) classified as Held for
Sale’ and note 20 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
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Note 15. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriation(a)

2011
$000

2010
$000

12,837
12,837

12,903
12,903

44
44

21
21

12,881

12,924

Resources received free of charge(b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates
provided by agencies:
State Solicitors

(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of
services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component
and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the
depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability
during the year.
(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal
cost, the BGPA recognises revenue equivalent to the fair value of the assets
and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and
which would have been purchased if they were not donated, and those fair
values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. Where
the contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by
owners, in which case the BGPA makes adjustment direct to equity.

Note 16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Fee for service
Sponsorship

2011
$000

2010
$000

2,162
2,155
4,317

1,904
2,866
4,770

2011
$000

2010
$000

730
730

743
743

Note 17. Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale
Refer to note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 10 ‘Trading profit’.
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Note 18. Receivables and other assets

Current
Receivables
Infringements
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
Prepayments
GST receivable
Total receivables

2011
$000

2010
$000

4,172
46
269
6
4,493

1,011
38
(24)
247
260
1,532

(24)
-

(24)

(24)
-

(24)

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for
impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of year
Doubtful debts expense recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income
Amounts written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
Balance at end of year

In 2009/2010 receivables were identified as impaired however these were
recovered.
The BGPA does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements
relating to receivables.
Refer to note 2(p) ‘Receivables’, note 34 ‘Financial instruments’.

Note 19. Amounts receivable for services

Current
Non-current

2011
$000
975

2010
$000
585

4,004
4,979

3,869
4,454

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. Refer to note
2(n) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’. It is restricted in that it
can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
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Note 20. Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value (a)
Accumulated impairment losses
Buildings and residences
At fair value (a)
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Assets under construction
Construction costs
Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Monuments and special items
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses

2011
$000

2010
$000

15,304
15,304

15,170
15,170

16,001
(1,471)
14,530

16,222
(1,197)
15,025

770

85

8,450
(5,166)
3,284

8,178
(4,490)
3,688

9,697
(1,918)
7,779

8,885
(1,718)
7,167

41,667

41,135

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2010 by the Western
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2011 and recognised at 1
July 2011. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined on the
basis of existing use. Refer to note 2(f) ‘Property, plant and equipment and
infrastructure’ for basis of valuation.
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Note 20. Property, plant and equipment continued
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and
vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.
Freehold Buildings
land
and
residences

2011
Carrying amount at start of
year
Additions
Other disposals
Transfers
Revaluation
Increments / (decrements)
Depreciation expense
Carrying amount at end of
year

2010
Carrying amount at start of
year
Additions
Other disposals
Transfers
Revaluation
Increments / (decrements)
Depreciation expense
Carrying amount at end of
year

$000

Assets
Plant,
Monuunder equipment ments
conand
and
struction vehicles special
items
$000
$000
$000
$000

Total

$000

15,170

15,025

85

3,688

7,167

41,135

134
-

26
207

1,636
(951)

482
(210)
-

744

2,278
(210)
-

-

(418)

-

-

88

(330)

-

(310)

-

(676)

(220)

(1,206)

15,304

14,530

770

3,284

7,779

41,667

Freehold Buildings Assets
Plant,
Monuland
and
under
equipment ments
residences conand
and
struction vehicles special
items
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000

Total

$000

15,170

16,024

115

3,792

7,385

42,486

-

222
(3)
635

623
(653)

564
18

-

1,409
(3)
-

-

(1,542)

-

-

-

(1,542)

-

(311)

-

(686)

(218)

(1,215)

15,170

15,025

85

3,688

7,167

41,135
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Note 21. Operating lease receivable
2011
2010
$000
$000
The BGPA leases buildings to commercial tenants for retail purposes under
operating leases of varying terms and duration. Details of the minimum lease
payments receivable are detailed below.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in the
aggregate:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

752
2,719
8,228
11,699

616
2,632
7,161
10,409

Operating leases fall into two categories; those based on a percentage of gross
turnover and fixed leases with either scheduled increases or increases based on
annual CPI increases. There is one significant operating lease which expires in
2032 and one lease not yet re-negotiated.
These commitments are all exclusive of GST.

Note 22. Infrastructure

At cost (initial)
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

2011
$000
937
(23)
914

2010
$000
937
937

937
-

937
-

(23)
914

937

Reconciliations:
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Impairment losses recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Depreciation expense
Carrying amount at end of year

Refer to note 2(f) ‘Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure’.

91

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
Contents

Financial Statements continued

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 23. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property and plant and equipment at
30 June 2011.
The BGPA held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no
intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2011 have either been classified as assets held for
sale or written-off.

Note 24. Payables
Current
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries
GST payable
Total current

2011
$000

2010
$000

210
8,071
194
288
8,763

339
381
100
820

Refer to note 2(q) ‘Payables’ and note 34 ‘Financial instruments’.

Note 25. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a)
Long service leave(b)
48/52 leave arrangements
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b)
48/52 leave arrangements
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)

92

2011
$000

2010
$000

860
711
66
1,637

769
518
55
1,342

47
47
1,684

38
38
1,380

527
24
551

532
40
572

16
16
567

17
17
589
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Note 25. Provisions continued

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

2011
$000
597
305
902

2010
$000
509
296
805

(a) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is
no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities will occur as follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
329
436
More than 12 months after the reporting period
1,020
728
1,349
1,164
(b) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the
payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance
cost), is disclosed in note 8 ‘Other expenses’.
Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than
employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year
Additional provisions recognised
Carrying amount at end of year

2011
$000

2010
$000

55
8
63

55
55

2011
$000

2010
$000

103
2,473
176
2,752

54
2,215
72
2,341

Note 26. Other current liabilities

Current
Unearned revenue
Fee for service
Other (bonds/retentions/suspense)
Total current
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Note 27. Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the BGPA. The
Government holds the equity interest in the BGPA on behalf of the community.
The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the
revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity

Balance at start of year
Contributions by owners
Capital contribution(a)
Total contributions by owners
Balance at end of period

2011
$000

2010
$000

16,254

15,669

2,932
2,932

585
585

19,186

16,254

(a) Under the Treasurer’s instruction TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities capital appropriations have been
designated as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB
Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public
Sector Entities.
Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of year
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land
Buildings
Special items
Balance at end of year

2011
$000

2010
$000

15,791

17,333

(418)
88
15,461

(1,542)
15,791

2011
$000

2010
$000

18,917
(4,334)
14,583

21,485
(2,568)
18,917

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of year
Result for the period
Income and expense recognised directly in equity
Balance at end of year
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Note 28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Cash and cash equivalents
5,896
2,521
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 16
4,317
4,770
‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)
10,213
7,291
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used
in) operating activities
Net cost of services
(17,215)
(15,492)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 7
‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)
1,323
1,215
Resources received free of charge (note 15 ‘Income
44
21
from State Government’)
Discovered Assets
(134)
Donated Assets
(26)
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
65
3
(note 14 ‘Net gain/(loss) on sale of non-current assets’ )
Bad Debts written off
(24)
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables(c)
Current inventories
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables(c)
Current provisions
Other current liabilities
Non-current provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments)(a)
Change in GST in receivables/payables(b)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

(3,221)
13

(20)
(324)

7,337
304
411
(22)

(35)
(15)
(36)
12

552
4
(10,565)

(213)
(24)
(14,932)

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
(c) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect
of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of noncurrent assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the
reconciling items.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 29. Resources provided free of charge
During the year no resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for
functions outside the normal operations of the BGPA.

Note 30. Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
2011
2010
$000
$000
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as
follows:
Within 1 year
11,993
4,102
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
2,975
3,635
Later than 5 years
14,968
7,737
The capital commitments include amounts for:
Buildings
11,018
4,202
Asset replacement
3,950
3,535
14,968
7,737
Lease Commitments
2011
2010
$000
$000
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting
period but not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
124
130
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
92
106
Later than 5 years
216
236
Representing:
Cancellable operating leases
216
236
216
236

Note 31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The BGPA has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets.

Note 32. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
The BGPA has had no events occurring after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 33. Explanatory statement
This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates
and actual results for 2011 and between the actual results for 2010 and 2011.
Significant variations are considered to be those of a material nature greater than
10% or $250,000.
Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2011
2011
Actual
$000
16,241
2,887
1,977
1,900
7,706

Supplies and services
Other expenses
User charges and fees
Other revenue
Fee for service and sponsorships

2011
Estimate
$000
6,387
2,593
1,215
382
2,864

Variation
$000
9,854
294
762
1,518
4,842

Supplies and services
The variance is due to expenditure on the expansion of the Fraser’s Restaurant
Complex for CHOGM which was not forecast for the period.
Other expenses
The variance is due to greater than expected expenditure on repairs and
maintenance for buildings, plant and equipment
User charges and fees
The variance is due to greater than expected revenue from leaseholders, general
booking fees and additional concerts held during the summer season.
Other revenue
The variance is due to recoup of expenditure for the Place of Reflection of $1m
and $237,872 for assets gained which was not forecast.
Fee for service and sponsorships
The variance is due to the receipt of sponsorship funding ($4m variance) that was
not forecast for the period and greater than expected revenue from fee for service
projects ($800,000 variance).
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Note 33. Explanatory statement continued
Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011

Income
User charges and fees
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services
Other revenue
Fee for service and sponsorships

2011
$000

2010
$000

Variance
$000

1,977

1,554

423

9,821
16,241
1,900
7,706

9,261
9,678
946
3,792

560
6,563
954
3,914

User charges and fees
The variance is due to greater revenue from leaseholders, general booking fees
and additional concerts held during the summer season
Employee benefits expenses
The variance is due to annual salary and wage award increases, together with an
increased long service leave expense.
Supplies and services
The variance is due to expenditure on major projects, primarily the expansion of
the Fraser’s Restaurant Complex for CHOGM.
Other revenue
The variance is due to recoup of expenditure for the Place of Reflection of $1m.
Fee for service and sponsorships
The variance is due to the receipt of a higher level of sponsorship funding of
$5.8m and greater than expected revenue from fee for service projects of $1.8m.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 34. Financial instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the BGPA are cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and payables. The BGPA has limited
exposure to financial risks. The BGPA’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the BGPA’s receivables
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the BGPA.
The BGPA measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a
regular basis.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those
assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note
34(c) ‘Financial Instrument Disclosures’ and note 18 ‘Receivables and other
assets’.
Credit risk associated with the BGPA’s financial assets is minimal because the
main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For
receivables other than government, the BGPA trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. The BGPA has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result
that the BGPA’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting
period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective
evidence such as observable data indicating changes in client credit ratings. For
financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 34(c) ‘Financial
Instrument Disclosures’.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the BGPA is unable to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due. The BGPA is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the
normal course of business.
The BGPA has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including
drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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Note 34. Financial instruments continued
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange
rates and interest rates will affect the BGPA’s income or the value of its holdings
of financial instruments. The BGPA does not trade in foreign currency and is not
materially exposed to other price risks. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate
sensitivity analysis table at note 34(c), the BGPA has limited exposure to interest
rate risk because it has no borrowings.
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of
financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
5,896
2,521
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
4,317
4,770
Receivables(a)
4,493
1,296
Amounts receivable for services
4,979
4,454
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payables(a)
8,475
820
(a) The amount of receivables and payables excludes GST recoverable
from or payable to the ATO (statutory receivable)
(c) Financial Instrument disclosures
Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures
The following table discloses the BGPA’s maximum exposure to credit risk,
interest rate exposures and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The BGPA’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying
amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of
financial assets that are past due but not impaired financial assets. The table is
based on information provided to senior management of the BGPA.
The BGPA does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements
relating to the financial assets it holds.
The BGPA does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms
renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or
impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 34. Financial instruments continued
Interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial assets(a)
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest Carrying
Rate
Amount
%
$000
Financial Assets
2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts receivable for services
2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts receivable for services

Past due but not impaired

Fixed
Variable
Noninterest
interest interest
Up to 3
rate
rate
bearing months
$000
$000
$000
$000

3-12
months 1-2 years 2-5 years
$000
$000
$000

More
Impaired
than 5
financial
years
assets
$000
$000

4.65

5,896

-

5,896

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.65

4,317

-

4,317

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,493
4,979
19,685

-

10,213

94

208

8

10

2

4.4

2,521

-

2,521

4.4

4,770

-

4,770

-

1,296
4,454
13,041

-

7,291

4,493
4,979
9,472

-

-

-

-

-

94

208

8

10

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

26
26

15
15

8
8

6
6

1
1

24(b)
24(b)

1,296
4,454
5,750

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
The allowance for impairment of receivables represents two debtors that have been assessed as being unrecoverable at the end of
the period.
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Note 34. Financial instruments continued
Liquidity Risk
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The table includes interest and principal cash flows.
An adjustment has been made where material.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities (a )
Weighted
AdjustAverage Carry- Variable NonTotal
ment for
Up to 3
3-12
Effective
ing
Interest Interest
Nominal
Discount
months months
Interest amount Rate Bearing
Amount
-ing
Rate

Financial
Liabilities
2011
Payables(b)
2010
Payables(a)

%

-

1-2
years

2-3
years

3-4
years

3-4
years

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

8,475
8,475

-

8,475
8,475

-

-

8,475
8,475

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

820
820

-

820
820

-

-

820
820

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(a)

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cashflows of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

(b)

The amount of payables excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 34. Financial instruments continued
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the BGPA’s
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the
period and equity for a 0.5% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in
interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
-50 basis points

2011
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted Cash and cash
equivalents

+50 basis points

Carrying
amount
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

5,896

(29)

(29)

29

29

4,317

(22)

(22)

22

22

(51)

(51)

51

51

Financial Liabilities
Total Increase/Decrease

-50 basis points

2010
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted Cash and cash
equivalents

+50 basis points

Carrying
amount
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

2,521

(13)

(13)

13

13

4,770

(24)

(24)

24

24

(37)

(37)

37

37

Financial Liabilities
Total Increase/Decrease

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position,
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 35. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
and senior officers
Remuneration on members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees,
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$
2011
2010
0 - 10,000
7
7
10,000 - 20,000
1
1
The total remuneration of members of the
accountable authority is:

$000

$000

52

49

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the
BGPA in respect of members of the accountable authority.
No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
Where a member’s remuneration is zero, the member has been included in a
band labelled ‘$0 - $10,000’.
Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of
the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation,
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the
following bands are:
$
2011
2010
160,001 - 170,000
1
170,001 - 180,000
1
180,001 - 190,001
1
2
200,000 - 210,000
1
220,000 - 230,000
1
230,000 - 240,000
1
The total remuneration of senior officers is:

$000
799

$000
757

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the
BGPA in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as
members of the Accountable Authority.
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Note 36. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and
performance indicators
27
27
The expense is included in 8 ‘Other expenses’.

Note 37. Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs
Bad debts written off
Public property written-off during the financial year
Inventory adjustments - retail operations

2011
$000

2010
$000

2
5
7

1
40
1
42

2009/2010 Public property written off; $3,061 (building); $37,400 (scientific
equipment)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Note 38. Schedule of income and expenses by service

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation
expense
Cost of Goods Sold
Loss on disposal of non-current
assets
Other Expenses
Total cost of services
Income
User Charges and Fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and
contributions
Interest Revenue
Fee for service and sponsorships
Other Revenue
Gain on disposal of non-current
assets
Total income other than income
from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE
GOVERNMENT
Service Appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Total income from State
Government
Surplus/(deficit) for the period

Service 1
Customer
Service and
Cultural
Heritage
2011
2010
$000
$000

Service 2
Biodiversity
Conservation
and Scientific
Research
2011
2010
$000
$000

Total

2011
$000

2010
$000

4,423
12,056

4,310
6,369

5,398
4,185

4,951
3,309

9,821
16,241

9,261
9,678

662

1,069

661

146

1,323

1,215

1,198

1,183

-

-

1,198

1,183

47

-

18

-

65

-

1,448
19,834

1,591
14,522

1,439
11,701

1,538
9,944

2,887
31,535

3,129
24,466

1,871
2,152

1,241
2,095

106
77

313
182

1,977
2,229

1,554
2,277

-

-

149

11

149

11

233
3,004
1,479

214
2,208
300

126
4,702
421

169
1,584
646

359
7,706
1,900

383
3,792
946

-

5

-

6

-

11

8,739

6,063

5,581

2,911

14,320

8,974

11,095

8,459

6,120

7,033

17,215

15,492

6,409
20

5,948
12

6,428
24

6,955
9

12,837
44

12,903
21

6,429

5,960

6,452

6,964

12,881

12,924

(4,666)

(2,499)

332

(69)

(4,334)

(2,568)

Refer to the Key Performance Indicators for a more detailed analysis.
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Certification of the Key Performance Indicators
For the year Ended 30 June 2011
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records,
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Botanic Gardens and
Parks Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Botanic
Gardens and Parks Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Professor John Considine

Member
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
14 September 2011

Grant Robinson

Member
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
14 September 2011

107

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
Contents

Key Performance Indicators
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011
Relationship to Government Goals
Broad, high level Government goals are supported at agency level by more specific
desired outcomes. The BGPA delivers services to achieve these desired outcomes,
which ultimately contribute to meeting the higher level government goals. The following
table illustrates the relationship between BGPA level desired outcomes and the most
appropriate Government goal.
Government Goal
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit
of all Western Australians.

Ouctomes

Awareness and
appreciation of recreation
and tourist resources, and
cultural heritage for visitors'
enjoyment.

Conservation and
enhancement of Western
Australia's bushland and
other flora.

Services

1. Customer Service and
Cultural Heritage

2. Biodiversity Conservation
and Scientific Research

Outcome 1
This outcome is achieved through improving and promoting education and recreation
in the designated lands; providing safe, accessible and well maintained facilities;
providing and promoting cultural experiences and events and by actively seeking to
improve and provide additional visitor services and facilities.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators
1.1 The level of visitor satisfaction with Kings Park and Botanic Garden and
Bold Park.
This key indicator measures the level of satisfaction visitors have with the extent to
which recreational, tourist and bushland resources have been conserved, enhanced
and promoted and the impact of these activities on visitor enjoyment.
Total annual visitation to Kings Park and Botanic Garden is based on vehicle counts
at all entrances and for 2010/11 was estimated to be 5,790,000 visitors. Total annual
visitation to Bold Park is difficult to estimate due to multiple entrances for pedestrians
and vehicles with only one vehicle entry suited to monitoring for vehicle counts.
Changes in level of visitation are therefore based on vehicle counts at Reabold Hill.
Visitor surveys were conducted during April, May and June 2011 in both Kings Park
and Botanic Garden and in Bold Park. A total of 601 responses were received,
providing a margin of error of 4% at a 95% level of confidence.
The percentage of overall visitor satisfaction in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was
99%. The percentage of overall visitor satisfaction in Bold Park was 100%.
Overall satisfaction with Kings Park and Botanic Garden
100%

% satisfied

80%

98%

99%

99%

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

99%

99%

60%
40%
20%
0%
Target 10/11 Actual 10/11

Overall satisfaction with Bold Park
100%
100%

100%

100%

97%

100%

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

60%
40%

%

satisfied

80%

20%
0%
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1.2 The percentage change in the number of cultural events held at Kings
Park and Botanic Garden compared to previous years.
Cultural events are defined as memorial, military commemorative ceremonies and
other community organised events. These include the Anzac Day ceremony; summer
events such as classical and contemporary music concerts; Shakespeare theatre;
and community events, such as the Kings Park Festival.
Reporting
Year

No. of
Cultural Events

Target
Percentage
(%) Change

Actual
Percentage
(%) Change

Notes

2010/11

312

+2

+26.8

1

2009/10

246

+1

+6.5

2008/09

231

+1

-3.8

2007/08

240

+1

+12.1

2006/07

214

+1

-3.6

Notes:
1. The increase in number of cultural events for 2010/11 is primarily due to a
revised methodology. The Kings Park Festival is now recorded to reflect the
number of actual events held, compared with the previous method of counting
the number of days over which the Festival was held. For comparative
purposes, under the previous methodology, the number of cultural events would
be recorded as 242 for 2010/11, or a change of -1.6%
1.3 The percentage change in the number of people attending cultural events,
customer awareness and education forums held at Kings Park and
Botanic Garden compared to previous years.
This indicator is derived from total numbers attending cultural events, education
programs and free guided walks.

Reporting
Year

No. Attending Cultural
Events, Customer
Awareness and
Education Forums

Target
Percentage
(%) Change

Actual
Percentage
(%) Change

Notes

2010/11

799,711

0

-13.7

1

2009/10

927,026

+1

+16.0

2008/09

799,130

+1

+4.4

2007/08

765,186

+1

+174.9

2006/07

278,331

+1

+10.2

Note:
1. The decline in the number attending cultural events and customer awareness
and education forums in 2010/11 compared with 2009/10 is primarily due to an
estimated decrease in attendance of 100,000 at the Kings Park Festival.
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Service 1 – Customer Service and Cultural Heritage
To measure the success of Service 1, the BGPA uses the data collected from annual
visitor surveys as demonstrated in Indicator 1.1 above; the overall number of visitors
promoting and enhancing customer awareness by providing education forums; by
conserving, promoting and developing cultural heritage including Indigenous, colonial
and contemporary heritage; and by staging events and displays on designated lands.

Key Efficiency Indicators
Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Average cost per visitor to Kings Park
and Botanic Garden

$2.38

$1.21

$1.34

1

Average cost per attendee at cultural
events held in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden

$0.14

$0.10

$0.23

2

Average cost per attendee at
education forums held in Kings Park
and Botanic Garden

$1.31

$1.16

$1.35

3

Response times for public information
requests

98%
Within
28 days

95%
Within
28 days

98%
Within
28 days

25%

3%

7%

Percentage change in number of
visitors to Reabold Hill compared to
previous year

Notes

4

Notes:
1. The number of people visiting Kings Park and Botanic Garden was 10.9% less
than target and expenses were 1.2% less than target.
2. The cost of holding cultural events in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was 119%
higher than target. This was due to a greater than expected number of large
events held with a corresponding increase in revenue. The number of attendees
was 10% lower than target, as a result of lower overall visitation.
3. The cost of holding education forums in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was
13.4% greater than target and the number of attendees was 2.6% lower than
target.
4. The number of visitors is measured by the number of vehicles recorded
accessing Reabold Hill on Scenic Drive. The increase in the number of visitors
exceeded the target due to an unexpected sharp increase in visitors during
March 2011.
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Outcome 2
This outcome is achieved through the development and management of the scientific
collections, the display of Western Australian and other flora; promoting the use of
Western Australian flora for horticulture, conservation and education; and continually
undertaking and promoting scientific research into Western Australian flora for
biodiversity conservation and restoration.
The effectiveness of ex situ species conservation and botanic research is assessed
through the success in collecting and maintaining living collections of indigenous
plants for research, display, public education and restoration.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2.1 Percentage of Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species in living collections in
Kings Park and Botanic Garden, compared to the known number of DRF
species in Western Australia.
This key indicator measures the effectiveness over time of the DRF collecting and
collections maintenance program, bearing in mind that the number and range of
plants gazetted as DRF varies from year to year, and species vary significantly in
their ease of collection.
Total DRF species gazetted is a number derived from the list of species of Declared
Rare Flora in the Government Gazette 17 August 2010 by the Minister for
Environment under section 23F(2) of the Wildlife Conservation Act 1950.
The total number of DRF held in the BGPA’s conservation collection decreased by
two species to 247. The decrease is a result of the BGPA dispatching DRF plants to
the DEC for translocation programs and planting into their natural habitats. The
number of DRF in the BGPA’s living collections represents 61% of the total DRF
listed for the State, which is 1% below the target. This is due to an unexpected
increase in the total number of DRF species listed from the previous year to 402. The
DRF listings are a DEC responsibility outside the control of the BGPA.
Collection of DRF species from the wild is the primary responsibility of the DEC, with
whom the BGPA liaises closely to assist with collections from remote areas as
opportunities arise. The BGPA therefore has a limited capacity to increase its DRF
collections unless plants from germination testing are provided by DEC to be
maintained in the Kings Park nursery or planted in the Western Australian Botanic
Garden.
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Key Performance Indicators continued
Percentage of DRF species in Living Collections

Reporting
Year

No. of DRF
Species in
Living
Collections

Total DRF
Species
Gazetted

Target
%

Actual
%

2010/11

247

402

62

61

2009/10

249

393

62

63

2008/09

243

389

62

62

2007/08

238

388

65

61

2006/07

232

392

65

59

2.2 Percentage of accessions in botanical displays in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.
This indicator is a measure of horticultural and management skills in maintaining the
living collection of plants and increasing the diversity of plants on public display.
An accession is a collection of material that can be propagated from an individual
plant - be it flowers, foliage, seeds, shoots, roots or the whole plant. The number of
accessions on botanical display is the number growing in the Western Australian
Botanic Garden, Synergy Parkland, Lotterywest Family Area and Fraser Avenue
precinct garden beds.
This measure is calculated by the number of accessions in botanical displays in
Kings Park and Botanic Garden over the total number of accessions alive in living
collections. There was an increase of 131 in the actual number of accessions on
display compared with the previous year, resulting from plantings associated with the
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park and the Place of Reflection projects. Despite
this increase, there was also a substantial increase of 700 in the total number of
accessions alive. This resulted in the percentage of accessions on botanical display
remaining at 37%, the same as the previous year, which was 1% below the target
set.
The increase in total accessions alive demonstrates the success of the field
collection program in obtaining additional seed and other plant material from across
Western Australia that are placed in storage for future propagation and display. The
increase in total accessions was also a result of the final year of collections for the
Millennium Seedbank Project that are collected primarily for seed conservation
purposes and are not all intended for display.
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Key Performance Indicators continued
Percentage of Accessions in Botanical Displays

2010/11

No. of
Accessions in
Botanical
Display
7,255

2009/10

7,124

19,161

38

37

2008/09

6,783

18,372

40

37

2007/08

6,669

17,396

45

38

2006/07

6,649

16,602

45

40

Reporting
Year

Total No. of
Accessions
Alive

Target
%

Actual
%

19,861

38

37

2.3 Percentage of accessions lost in Kings Park and Botanic Garden.
This is a measure of horticultural and management skills in maintaining the living
collections of plants, where a lower percentage represents an improvement. The loss
of accessions was better than anticipated with losses representing 3% of the total
collections rather than the target 5%. The reduction in number of lost accessions
from the previous year is a good result for the BGPA.
It should be noted that there will always be losses of accessions caused by natural
attrition; the replacement of ageing plants with new plantings to maintain optimum
display; and loss of seed viability over time. The BGPA has procedures in place to
ensure that, while specific accessions may be lost, the taxa are still retained in the
living collections.
Percentage of Accessions Lost

2010/11

No. of
Accessions
Lost
497

Total No. of
Accessions
Alive
19,861

2009/10

1,028

2008/09

Reporting
Year

Target
%

Actual
%

5

3

19,161

5

5

666

18,372

5

4

2007/08

787

17,396

5

5

2006/07

1,282

16,602

3

8
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Key Performance Indicators continued
2.4 The presence of 15 nominated perennially evident native plant species,
which are the most vulnerable taxa within each of Kings Park and Bold
Park bushland.
This indicator measures the BGPA’s effectiveness in conserving a range of native
plants in Kings Park and Bold Park bushland that have been selected and
documented as the most vulnerable taxa in each Park. The top 15 most vulnerable
species are determined in each park through primary and secondary selection
criteria. Primary criteria include species listed in the State Priority Flora list; or taxa
that are rare, have limited distribution in the park or are known to be declining in the
park. Secondary criteria include the species’ reproductive method; occurrence in
vulnerable habitats or sites at risk; or publicly important iconic species.
The indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15
nominated perennially evident native plant species in each park, which are the most
vulnerable taxa within each of Kings Park bushland and Bold Park. Results of the
survey in Bold Park during the 2010/11 financial year recorded 100% presence of the
nominated 15 species, with an increase in population size for five of the 15 species.
The survey in Kings Park bushland recorded all 15 species present.
2.5 Number of common native plant species in Bold Park in areas with high
levels of management compared to areas with low levels of management.
This indicator measures the BGPA’s effectiveness in restoring areas of degraded
bushland in Bold Park. It is derived by annually surveying 15 nominated common
native plant species within representative quadrats for two dominant community
types, to compare their presence in both low management zones and high
management zones.
High management zones are degraded areas that are prioritised for ecological
restoration activities, some of which are in progress. Low management zones are
areas in which there are no active restoration activities at this time.
The dominant community types in Bold Park are Banksia woodland and heath over
sand. Ten quadrats for each community type in both high and low management
zones have been established (total of 40 quadrats), and the number of common
species present in each quadrat recorded annually with figures averaged to give a
single figure for each management regime.
The indicator is calculated by dividing the average number of common species
present in high management zones by the average number of common species
present in low management zones, as determined through annual monitoring of
representative quadrats within each zone. Where the indicator is a figure greater than
one, this indicates a higher number of common species in the high management
areas.
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Key Performance Indicators continued
This indicator is expected to increase over time and then stabilise once the broad
restoration objectives of ecological stability and resilience are attained. New plantings
are not scored as present until they have been established for a minimum of 30
months, due to high mortality rates during the establishment period.
The indicator has remained the same as for the previous year and is equal to the
target set for 2010-2011.
Average Numbers of Common Species Present
Actual
2007/08

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Average number of
common species
present in high
management zones

5.6

5.6

5.7

5.7

5.7

Average number of
common species
present in low
management zones

5.4

3.7

3.9

3.9

3.9

Indicator value

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

2.6 Weed cover in high intensity management areas compared to low
intensity management areas in Bold Park.
This indicator measures the BGPA’s effectiveness in bushland restoration. It is
derived by annually recording percentage weed cover within two dominant
community types and comparing results for both low management zones and high
management zones. High management zones are degraded areas prioritised for
ecological restoration activities, some of which are in progress. Low management
zones are those areas not being actively restored at this time.
The dominant community types in Bold Park are Banksia woodland and heath over
sand. Forty quadrats for each community type in both high and low management
zones have been established (total of 160) and percentage weed cover recorded in
each.
The indicator is calculated by dividing the average percentage weed cover in high
management zones by the average percentage weed cover in low management
zones. A figure less than 1 indicates a lower average percentage weed cover in the
high management areas. The indicator is expected to decrease over time and then
stabilise once the broad restoration objectives of ecological stability and resilience
are attained.
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Key Performance Indicators continued
This year the indicator value decreased significantly from the previous year with
weed cover generally lower across all areas this year. Although average percentage
weed cover was lower in the low management zones than for the previous year, the
decrease in cover in the high management zones was greater than that of the low
management zones, which resulted in a lower indicator value than forecast. The
decrease in weed cover overall is most likely a result of the drier than usual winter in
2010, reducing the germination and growth of weed species that generally occurs
with the onset of autumn and winter rains. The greater decrease in weed cover in
high management zones reflects the effectiveness of the BGPA’s weed control
programs.
Average Percentage of Weed Cover

Average percentage
weed cover in high
management zones
Average percentage
weed cover in low
management zones
Indicator value

Actual
2007/08

Actual
2008/09

Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

16.3%

14.6%

28.7%

24.0%

11.4%

35.8%

38.0%

48.1%

48.0%

37.4%

0.45

0.38

0.59

0.50

0.30

2.7 Number of representative native plant taxa in Kings Park bushland.
This indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15
nominated perennially evident native plant species, which are the most vulnerable
taxa within Kings Park bushland. The continued presence of these species in Kings
Park bushland provides an appropriate scientific measure of overall taxa present. It is
not practical or feasible to annually survey all native plant taxa in all lands managed.
As the presence of all 15 of the most vulnerable species was confirmed and no new
native species were recorded, the total number of native plant taxa in Kings Park
bushland remained at 324, which is equal to the target for the year.
Number of Representative Native Plant Taxa in Kings Park Bushland
Reporting Year

Target

2010/11

324

No. of Native Plant Taxa
Recorded
324

2009/10

324

324

2008/09

324

324

2007/08

324

324

2006/07

324

324
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Key Performance Indicators continued
2.8 Number of representative native plant taxa in Bold Park bushland.
This indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15
nominated perennially evident native plant species, which are the most vulnerable
taxa within Bold Park. The continued presence of these species in Bold Park
provides an appropriate scientific measure of overall taxa present. The total number
may vary from time to time as a result of the discovery of new species, verification of
plant records or as a result of genetic analysis of provenance, which may show that
some species considered native were in fact early introductions to the park from
nearby areas.
The number of native plant taxa recorded has remained the same as last year with a
total of 310, as there were no new recorded plant species and all 15 of the nominated
most vulnerable species were surveyed and recorded as present.
Number of Representative Native Plant Taxa in Bold Park Bushland
Reporting Year

Target

2010/11

310

No. of Native Plant Taxa
Recorded
310

2009/10

310

310

2008/09

310

310

2007/08

310

310

2006/07

310

310

Service 2 – Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research
To measure the success of Service 2, the BGPA uses the data in indicators 2.1 to
2.8 above and through demonstrating leadership in urban bushland management,
especially for Perth and regional communities; horticultural services including
developing new plants; and undertaking and promoting leading-edge science and
interpretation pertinent to integrated conservation of flora for present and future
generations.
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Efficiency Indicators
Actual
2009/10

Target
2010/11

Actual
2010/11

Notes

Average cost of representative
native plant taxa in Kings Park
bushland.

$4,181

$2,479

$3,327

1

Average cost of representative
native plant taxa in Bold Park
bushland.

$4,205

$3,417

$4,391

2

$13,758

$15,000

$14,142

31%

-11%

-12%

Average cost per research fee
for service project administered.
Percentage change in number of
refereed scientific publications
published per Consolidated Fund
position compared to previous
years.

Notes:
1. There was no change in the number of native plant taxa in Kings Park
Bushland, the variance compared with budget is due to expenses being higher
than forecast, although the actual expenditure was reduced in comparison with
2009/10.
2. The 2010/11 target was conservative and the actual result for 2010/11 is very
similar to that achieved in 2009/10.
3. Significant carryover of publications due to prolonged journal review processes
and. coincident completion of a number of PhD programs resulted in a flush of
publications for 2009/10, therefore the target for 2010/11 represented a
reduction to longer term average levels. Publication fluctuation is a reflection of
the stage and complexity of research projects in any given year.
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Other Financial Disclosures
Pricing Policy and Services
The BGPA charges for goods and services on a full or partial cost recovery basis and
in accordance with penalties applied under the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
Regulations 1999.
Entry to and parking in Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park is free of
charge. Some services, such as the schools-oriented Kings Park Education program
and the Connect with Kings Park workshops held during the annual Kings Park
Festival, incur a cover charge to assist in cost recovery. Costs of events in the
Summer Events program, such as the outdoor cinema, concerts and theatre
productions, are addressed by the event organiser.
Fees and charges for venue hire and for booked activities are applied according to
the type of function and the location or venue requested and are approved by State
Government. Fees and charges, application forms and conditions of use are
available on the BGPA’s website. In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 810, the
BGPA reviews its fees and charges annually. Fee increases for functions and booked
activities approved in December 2008 were applied from 1 July 2010; no further fee
increases were sought in 2010/11.

Capital Works
Capital Projects Completed
Place of Reflection
This project was completed and officially opened in April 2010, delivering a significant
landscape upgrade at the southern end of the Western Australian Botanic Garden.
Works included new universal access paths, seating, decking, a new pavilion, lighting
and refurbishment of the Roe Toilets. The project was funded by external
sponsorship and total project expenditure was $1.109 million.

Capital Works in progress
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Capital funding of $8.5 million for this new, interactive environmental facility has been
provided through an innovative multi-sector partnership to achieve the vision of
providing an environment that inspires appreciation and conservation of the natural
environment through discovery learning and connection with nature. It incorporates a
significant new landscape development and an environmental education building and
carpark. Staged opening is scheduled for October 2011 for the landscape facility and
March 2012 for the building. Expenditure to 30 June 2011 was $4,419 million.
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Capital works continued
Major Additions to Fraser’s Complex and Associated Landscape Works
This construction project was announced in January 2011 by the Prime Minister Julia
Gillard and the Premier, Colin Barnett, to provide a venue for the Commonwealth
Heads of Government Meeting Leaders’ Retreat in October 2011. It includes a
substantial upper level extension to the State owned Fraser’s Restaurant and
affordable alfresco dining and associated landscaping in the adjacent Fraser Avenue
precinct of Kings Park and Botanic Garden, providing a lasting benefit to the
community. Capital funding of $9M for the major additions to Fraser’s and $1.151M
for associated works was provided by State Government and project expenditure to
30 June 2011 was $7,498 million.
Biodiversity and Conservation Centre Stage Two
The Biodiversity Conservation Centre Stage Two will provide new laboratories,
related infrastructure and facilities associated with increased research. This
increased capacity for research will support the germination of native plant seed for
restoration activities in Kings Park, Bold Park and throughout Western Australia
generally. Total project funding is $1.582M by way of State Government
appropriation with additional funding being sought through sponsorship. Preliminary
planning for this project was commenced with expenditure to 30 June 2011 totalling
$47,172.
Nursery Depot Redevelopment
The Nursery Depot Redevelopment will replace ageing infrastructure and facilities in
the depot and plant nursery by redesigning the layout and growing areas. It will
replace key buildings and the potting media facilities to meet current and future
technical, environmental and hygiene requirements. Total project funding is $2.62M
by way of State Government appropriation. Master planning was commenced but the
project was deferred due to the highest priority being assigned to the State Reception
Centre project. Expenditure to 30 June 2011 was $26,485.

Employment and Industrial Relations
Employee Services provides an essential range of support services to the BGPA,
particularly in regard to payroll, training, workforce planning, recruitment processes
and advice in human resources and industrial relations matters. The Employee
Service area provides whole of government reporting and manages plans including
the Equity and Diversity Plan and Occupational Safety and Health initiatives.
The BGPA recognises the ongoing challenges in attracting and retaining the right
people in the right positions and constantly strives to improve its practices in
recruitment, development and retention. Employees undertake regular performance
planning review, planning and development assessments and planning and are
actively supported through a flexible, family friendly workplace. Accountability training
and an emphasis on the BGPA’s values and code of conduct have underpinned work
in the Employee Services area in the 2010/11 year and this focus will continue in the
ongoing efforts to sustain a healthy and dynamic workplace culture.
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Employment and Industrial Relations continued
The BGPA strives to be an employer of choice, and a strong response to job
advertisements and a low level of staff turnover continue to be indicative of an
inclusive and progressive workplace.
As at 30 June 2011, the BGPA had 172 employees in total. Five permanent
vacancies were advertised throughout the year. Capital works programs and fee-forservice projects continued to require a number of fixed-term employment contracts.
The BGPA’s staff profile is presented in the table below:
Employment Type
Permanent Full-time
Permanent Part-time
Fixed Term Full-time
Fixed Term Part-time
Casual paid on 30 June 2010
Total

2009/10
87
11
31
7
25
161

2010/11
82
13
28
11
38
172

Staff Development
The BGPA is committed to the development and support of its employees. Training
and assessments undertaken during the financial year were designed to improve
skills and reduce risks for the BGPA. These included increasing overall computer
literacy skills, accountability and ethical behaviour, Workplace Bullying and
Harassment, chemical handling, Indigenous awareness training, traffic management
for works, manual handling, first aid, vehicle and equipment safety training was
available for relevant employees. The changes to the Occupational Safety and
Health legislation required the additional training of the BGPA’s safety
representatives.
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Other Government and Legal Requirements
Ministerial Directives
There was one Ministerial Directive received in 2010/11.
In order to allow the proposed addition to Fraser’s Restaurant to be completed in
time for the Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting (CHOGM) Leaders’
Retreat in October 2011, on 23 December 2010 the Hon Bill Marmion MLA, Minister
for Environment directed:
“That the Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan 2009-2014 be
amended to provide improvements to visitor facilities at the Botanical Cafe,
including the relocation of the floral clock, and the construction of a permanent
new addition to Fraser’s Restaurant Complex in Kings Park and Botanic Garden
to allow the 2011 Commonwealth Heads of Government Leaders’ Retreat to be
held there, and to provide a suitable venue for future State events at that
location.”
The amendment to the Management Plan was subsequently implemented and the
information made available via the BGPA’s website.

Substantive Equality
The BGPA is not required to report on this issue as it is represented at portfolio level
only in the Strategic Management Council.

Contracts with Senior Officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no
Senior Officers, or firms of which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which
Senior Officers have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed
contracts with the BGPA.

Changes in Written Law
There have been no changes to the Act or Regulations administered by the BGPA.
Where changes have occurred to an Act/s that impact on the BGPA’s operations, the
BGPA has taken appropriate actions to ensure compliance with this legislation.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical
Codes
The BGPA’s Code of Conduct embodies the values of BGPA and embraces those
behaviours that will build a better organisation, committed to providing the highest
levels of service. The principles underpinning the Code of Conduct also apply to
contractors and consultants working on behalf of the BGPA.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards continued
The BGPA’s Code of Conduct, the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Public
Sector Standards (Human Resource Management) are available to all employees
from the Employee Services Coordinator and on the BGPA’s intranet.
The Code of Conduct forms part of the induction program for all new employees and
all staff are reminded of their responsibilities through quarterly staff meetings with the
Chief Executive Officer.
In addition, accountable and ethical decision making sessions were held for the
Board of Management and senior executives and the majority of BGPA staff. This
presentation is also available on the BGPA’s intranet and presented to all new staff
as part of the induction process.
In 2010/11 there were seven breach claims lodged or issues of non-compliance with
the BGPA’s Code of Conduct, the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics or the Public
Sector Standards. The outcomes of these processes included one termination of
employment, three formal reprimands and three formal warnings. After the non
compliance was identified, all staff received a letter via email from the CEO reminding
them that inappropriate behaviour in the workplace is not tolerated, and this message
was also reinforced to staff at meetings in September and October 2010.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The BGPA recognises and strives to fulfil its legal obligations under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act 1984. The Chief Executive Officer ensures, so far as is
reasonably practicable, that operations do not knowingly constitute a hazard to safety
or health.
Supervisors are responsible for:
• Ensuring that the workplace meets the required safety standards.
• Ensuring that safety equipment is used correctly.
• Investigating all incidents that are, or have the potential to be, health hazards.
The BGPA recognises that all employees have responsibilities for safety and health
and are therefore expected to:
• Take reasonable care for their own safety and that of other persons who may
be affected by their acts.
• Comply with instructions and procedures for their own safety and health and
those of others.
• Use safety devices and protective equipment correctly.
• Report to their immediate supervisor any situation, which they have reason to
believe could present a hazard, which they cannot correct themselves.
• Report any accident or injury to health that arises in the course of their work.
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management continued
The BGPA’s Occupational Safety and Health Committee is comprised of staff from
across all Directorates. Each committee member is fully trained in Occupational
Safety and Health in the workplace. Members are responsible for conducting regular
workplace checks and, through the committee, ensuring that any issues are
responded to. Reports on all accidents or injuries to health are recorded and retained
on relevant files.
The BGPA is committed to providing injury management support to all workers who
sustain a work related injury or illness with a focus on safe and early return to
meaningful work and in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management Act 1981. The BGPA has implemented an Injury Management System
to provide an early return to work program for injured employees.
The Workers Compensation claims against the BGPA were of a minor nature as
reflected by the information below as supplied by the State Government’s insurance
provider, Riskcover.
Indicator

Actual
2009/10

Number of fatalities
Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D)
incidence rate
Lost time injury severity rate
Percentage of injured workers
returned to work within 28 weeks
Percentage of managers trained in
occupational safety, health and injury
management responsibilities.

Target
2010/11
0
7

0
0

Actual
2010/11
0
5

0
100%

0
100%

0
100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

Note: The BGPA did not set targets for 2010/11 for percentage of managers trained
in occupational safety, health and injury management. However this will be
addressed in 2011/12 and formal training will be arranged.
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Advertising
The BGPA reports that it incurred the following expenditures for the financial year
ended 30 June 2011:
Advertising Medium

Expenditure

Advertising Agencies
Adcorp
Blue Dog Communications
Liquid Public Relations
Rosalie Okely Design

Total
87,174.92

6,487.12
5,999.80
35,645.50
39,042.50

Market Research Organisations
Media Monitors

1,540.02

1,540.02

Polling Organisations
Edith Cowan University

3,914.90

3,914.90

Direct Mail Organisations
The Poster Girls

602.80

602.80

Media Advertising Organisations
Arts Edge
Community Newspapers
Countrywide Publications (Association
of Perth Attractions)
Dept Of Education (School Matters)
Government Gazette
Optimum Media Decisions (Aspects of
Kings Park and Kings Park Festival)
Post Newspaper Ltd
Uniclub
WA Newspaper Advertising
Total Expenditure

202,766.25
100.00
2,858.40
13,397.00
4,620.00
88.90
175,369.05
363
4,647.50
1,322.40
295,998.89

Campaign
advertising for
Aspects of Kings
Park.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
The BGPA’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007–2012 (DAIP) outlines the
ways in which the BGPA aims to ensure that people with disabilities have access to
BGPA facilities, services, events and information.
In 2010/11 the BGPA achieved the following initiatives in relation to disability access
and inclusion:
1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
access the services of, and any events organised by the BGPA.
• New set-down areas and additional ACROD parking have been provided as
part of the new Place of Reflection precinct.
• On ANZAC Day the BGPA, in collaboration with the Returned and
Serviceman’s League (RSL), actively informed participants of set-down and
parking for people with disabilities.
• Areas were set aside at major events for chairs, deck chairs, wheelchairs
and space for people to assist those with disabilities, as well as additional
ACROD parking bays on concert nights and during the Kings Park Festival.
• Volunteers are kept up to date with the BGPA’s DAIP through their
newsletters. Guides who deal with visitors face to face and via phone
enquiries are given appropriate training opportunities.
• Education Support school participated in a special Kings Park’s
environmental education program – Tree Dressing for National Tree Day,
as part of their curriculum unit on the Life of Plants.
2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
access the buildings and other facilities of the BGPA.
• New universal access pathways through the Place of Reflection in the
Botanic Garden were completed.
• Works to improve the Roe toilets to include a dedicated unisex toilet and
appropriate access paths for people with disabilities have been completed.
This has resulted in better access and visitor facilities for visitors to this end
of the Botanic Garden, especially elderly and infirm visitors and those with
disabilities.
• Bushland Nature Trail upgraded with a new raised boardwalk and concrete
access paths built to code.
• Wheelchair accessible new drinking fountain installed at Place of Reflection.
• Lovekin Drive upgraded with new universal access path and lighting to code
for better evening access.
• Place of Reflection has lighting included in the design for evening use as
required.
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Other Financial Disclosures continued
3. People with disabilities receive information from the BGPA in a format
that will enable them to access the information, as readily as other people
are able to access it.
• Further improvements to the BGPA’s website improved accessibility to
information and services.
• BGPA documents, such as maps, Annual Reports and the Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan, are available electronically and in hard copy as well as
alternative formats (such as large font) on request.
• Recorded event information is available on the BGPA’s main telephone line.
This is updated regularly in line with new events happening in the park.
• A monthly e-newsletter is produced and sent to all subscribers, advertising
events and activities in Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park.
• Kings Park Education provides a range of learning opportunities to meet the
needs of all students. It accommodates special needs students with suitable
progams and works with teachers to assist with full integration of students.
4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from
the staff of the BGPA as other people receive from the staff of the BGPA.
• The BGPA’s Park Management Officers are provided with training to enable
them to recognise and assist people with disabilities.
• The BGPA provides employment and some work experience placements
and volunteering opportunities for people with disabilities, which increases
staff awareness and understanding of people with disabilities.
• Volunteer groups’ newsletters regularly remind members of existing and
new toilets, paths and facilities that have been built for people with limited
mobility.
• Volunteer Guides who staff the Visitor Information Centre are trained in
providing outstanding customer service to the thousands of visitors who visit
the V.I.C for assistance, join a free guided walk, or telephone to make and
enquiry.
5. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
make complaints to the BGPA.
• The BGPA’s communications process is available to all members of the
community and can be accessed via the website, the enquiries email
address, through the Visitor Information Centre or by contacting the main
reception of Kings Park and Botanic Garden or Bold Park.
• Visitor surveys were conducted in both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and
Bold Park. The results of these surveys will be used to determine the
BGPA’s performance and assist with decision-making processes.
6. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
participate in any public consultation
• Bold Park Management Plan – a public workshop was advertised in local
papers inviting all interested people to attend.
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Recordkeeping Plans
The BGPA has an ongoing commitment to good records management practices and
continues to work towards complying with its Recordkeeping Plan 2010 to 2015 in
accordance with the State Records Act 2000. The BGPA addresses its compliance
with the State Records Commission Standard 2 Recordkeeping Plans: Principal 6 –
Compliance as follows:
1. The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s recordkeeping
systems has been evaluated or alternatively when such an evaluation is
proposed.
In November 2010, review and evaluation of Risk Management Report
associated to the Records Management Section was conducted. Revised
documentation was tabled at November Board meeting.
In November 2010, the BGPA’s Internal Auditors undertook an audit to assess
a number of principles in relation to the efficiency and effectiveness of the
BGPA’s record management systems, policies, procedures and operations.
The Records Management Section was last audited in 2007 and the results of
that audit were very positive with no reportable issues noted. This audit also
resulted in a very positive rating and did not highlight any issue of concern.
Ongoing review and upgrade of BGPA’s archival on-site storage has resulted
in the addition of a fire proof safe that holds the BGPA’s Annual Reports, and
one vertical plan cabinet. Implementation of the BGPA’s retention and disposal
schedule regime was also carried out in February 2011. With the initial
retention and disposal regime now complete it is envisioned that a regular
retention and disposals regime is carried out annually.
Evaluation of the BGPA’s recordkeeping practices as documented in the
Recordkeeping Plan is ongoing through an annual review of the Records
Management Policy and Procedures Manual. The latest review was carried
out in January 2011 and noted by the BGPA’s Corporate Executive at the 1
February 2011 meeting.
In June 2011, the BGPA’s TRIM record system underwent a successful
upgrade to the latest version 7.1.
2. The nature and extent of the recordkeeping training program conducted
by or for the organisation.
Training of the BGPA’s Records Management Coordinator (RMC) is ongoing.
The BGPA currently contributes towards funding of tertiary study by the RMC
on a Bachelor of Information Technology with a major in Information Services.
In addition, the RMC attended training associated with Freedom of
Information.
Training continues for new and existing BGPA staff required with supporting
information on recordkeeping practices and procedures available on the
BGPA’s intranet. It is designed to help BGPA staff TRIM correspondence and
to establish a Records Inputting Style Guide throughout the BGPA.
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Recordkeeping Plans continued
Regular reminders on recordkeeping responsibilities are delivered by CEO at
quarterly general staff meetings. The last reminder occurred June 2011.
3. Whether the efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training
program has been reviewed or alternatively when this is planned to be
done.
An annual internal Customer Satisfaction Survey was conducted in April 2011
to establish the level of satisfaction and areas for improvement of the BGPA’s
record management practices. The overall outcome of the survey and the
BGPA’s recordkeeping training program, demonstrated that the majority of
respondents were “very satisfied” or “satisfied”.
4. Assurance that the organisation’s induction program addresses
employees’ roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with
the organisation’s recordkeeping plan.
Employees’ roles and responsibilities in relation to recordkeeping practices are
included in the induction package provided to all new staff members.
Managers are responsible for identifying and implementing the level of
recordkeeping training required and one-on-one records management training
is provided for new employees as required.
A records management induction brochure is located on the BGPA’s intranet
to assist new staff members and remind existing staff of their recordkeeping
responsibilities. A reminder regarding this brochure is periodically delivered by
the CEO at quarterly general staff meetings.
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Appendix 1 – Volunteer Group Reports
Friends of Kings Park Report
This year has seen a continuation of last year’s success and has seen the Friends of
Kings Park achieve a total membership of 1177 comprising 1065 direct members and
112 BGPA staff members.
The year saw the completion of the renovation of Glasshouse 7 which has provided
the Growing Friends with a new home and the capacity to propagate a wider and
larger range of plants. The refurbished nursery facilities were officially opened by
Richard Simpson, Chair, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management
on Saturday 7 May 2011, complete with a ribbon-cutting ceremony and a plaque.
At the 2010 Annual General Meeting, alterations were made to the Friends of Kings
Park Constitution to change its financial year from a calendar year to the more
traditional July – June year. This also has the effect of changing the Friends of Kings
Park Annual General Meeting from April to October and as a consequence, the
Management Committee elected at the 2010 Annual General Meeting, will now serve
until the next meeting in October 2011.
The BGPA arranged a wonderful Volunteers’ Christmas event, which included the
presentations of 15 Year Volunteer Badges and Certificates to Kathy Baker,
Evalyn Beaumont, Melva Bendall, Gordon Darge, Edna Darge, Tony Scalzo, Tony
Weldon and Stella Weldon, while 15 Year Supporter Certificates were awarded to
Kenneth Barton, Barbara Barton, Carolyn Bendall, Dennis Craig, Ilse Erber, Peter
Hurst, Barbara Hurst, Barbara Knott, Peter Muhling, Janet Muhling, Wendy
Robertson, David Tucker, Jane Tucker, Ian Wildy and Helen Wildy. In addition, 10
Year Volunteers Badges and Certificates were awarded to Trish Bylsma, Dick
Bylsma, Sally Harvey, Stella Hay, Barbara Kent, Jane Noyelle, Nolene Rowell and
Ross Rudeforth. 10 Year Supporter Certificates were awarded to Greg Bates,
Judith Burn, Nancy Cornish, Val Crook, Rikki Dans, Sylvia Gandossi, Keith Giles,
Rhona Giles, Donald Greer, Marcus Harris, Caroline Harris, Phillip Jacobsen, Fay
Jenkyn, Elizabeth Lefroy, Hamish McGlashan, Rosemary McGlashan, Charles
Mohring, Elaine Mohring, Michael Murray, Dale Murray, Richard Noyelle, Harry
Pearson, Audrey Pearson, David Petterson, Denis Sharpe, Lois Sharpe, Gillian
Smith, Frank Stynman, Ann Stynman, Robert Wark, Mike Watson, Michelle Watson,
Margaret Watson and Ronald Yager.
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Friends of Kings Park Report continued
The response to the Friends of Kings Park
plant sales this year was very positive with
gross sales exceeding $145,425,
representing an increase of almost 40% over
the result in 2009/10. On behalf of the
Committee of Management and all the
members of the Friends of Kings Park, I
thank all of the volunteers who are involved
in the preparation, erection and dismantling
of the sales area as well as the volunteers
Plant sales are held four times a year.
who served on the day of each plant sale.
Photo: C Sprogoe.
The work is hard, enjoyable and very
satisfying. Thanks are also owed to the dedicated and tireless Growing Group who
toil throughout the year ensuring that the Friends of Kings Park have stock to sell.
Donations of over $10,400 were received from attendees in Kings Park to the
January Skyshow and $12,672 was collected from visitors to the Lotterywest
Federation Walkway in the Botanic Garden. These donations, receipts from plant
sales and membership fees contribute to the bulk of the Friends’ income.
Donations to the Friends of Kings Park Fund were slow in the first half of the year,
but received a significant boost in June 2011 when a very welcome donation of
shares was received with a value in excess of $1.3M. The BGPA and the Friends of
Kings Park will be reviewing the appropriate use of these funds over the next two
years.

Kings Park Festival Address
On 20 August 2010, In line with our commitment to providing environmental
education, the Friends hosted the annual Kings Park Festival Address. The address
at the Alexander Library was attended by 120 people, who had the pleasure of
hearing Professor Peggy L. Fiedler, Director of the University of California Natural
Reserve System which is a unique assemblage of protected wild land sites
throughout California. Its reserves encompass nearly all of the state's major
ecosystems, preserved in as undisturbed a condition as possible to support
University-level research and teaching programs. Professor Fiedler’s address was
entitled: Keeping the Faith: Effecting Meaningful Conservation in a Changing and
Challenging World.

Those who were able to attend the address provided by Professor Fiedler would
have been heartened to hear of and then reflect upon, the message of hope that
Peggy provided. While her address dealt with examples of environmental
degradation and issues that confront us for the future, it also provided examples of
the discovery of new species, some so new that they are yet to be named, and the
rediscovery of species that had been thought to be extinct. It was a thoughtful
presentation and well received by the audience.

132

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

APPENDICES
Contents

Friends of Kings Park Report continued

General Meetings
As part of its educational program, the Friends of Kings Park present guest speakers
each month at the scheduled general meetings. On behalf of the members who
attended the various evenings, I would like to take this opportunity to once again
thank our guest speakers from throughout the year:
Meeting

Guest Speaker

Topic

8 July 2010

Dr Kingsley Dixon,
Director Science, BGPA

The importance of bees and native
flora

12 August 2010

Dr Barbara Frey

9 September 2010

Grady Brand, Senior
Curator Kings Park and
Botanic Gardens and
Peter Nguyen, Assistant
Curator, Botanic Garden
and Displays
Rick Dawson, DEC

The Community Project: community
awareness of global warming
Horticultural insight into delivering
spring in Kings Park

14 October 2010
11 November 2010

10 February 2011

10 March 2011

14 April 2011
12 May 2011
9 June 2011

Dr Siegy Krauss, Head of
Conservation Genetics,
BGPA
Rebecca Maddern,
Volunteer Development
Project Officer, BGPA
Adam Cross, PhD
student, BGPA
Max Crowhurst, Plant
Breeder, BGPA
Todd Erickson, PhD
student, UWA/BGPA
Prof Don Bradshaw,
UWA

Saving the black Carnaby’s Black
Cockatoo
Overview of current conservation
genetics research at BGPA
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
and the Volunteer Ecosystem in Kings
Park
The plight of Aldrovanda vesiculosa, a
unique carnivorous aquatic plant in
the face of a global wetland crisis
Java Calling – Botanical Odyssey
through Western and Central Java
An integrated approach to ecological
restoration in the Pilbara
Fire and the Australian Flora

Sponsorship
As part of its objectives, the Friends of Kings Park seek to provide education and
support for environmental study and research, and so presents the Vic Galea
Scholarship on an annual basis. The 2011 Friends of Kings Park Vic Galea
Scholarship was awarded to Jodie Blanchard, Nursery Horticulturist with the BGPA.
Jodie used her scholarship to visit the National Botanic Garden of Wales in
Llanarthne, Carmarthenshire and in particular the Green Trail project to learn the
different methods used to become more environmentally sustainable and reduce the
carbon footprint on the environment. Jodie also learnt about research on identifying
and classifying plant specimens through program ‘Barcode Wales’.
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Friends of Kings Park Report continued

Support for Other Projects
In addition to its own activities, the Friends of Kings Park are also provided support
for two major projects within the Park, Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park and the
Place of Reflection:
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park has progressed well throughout the year with
the bulk of the landscape work being completed in August 2011 and opening of that
precinct expected in October 2011. Work on the Kings Park Education building has
commenced and is due for completion in early 2012.
The Friends of Kings Park would like to acknowledge and thank Lotterywest for its
contribution of $3M towards this exciting project.
The Place of Reflection
The Consortium involved in the Place of
Reflection project, including the Association for
Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors
(ASeTTS), the Healing Hearts Foundation,
SIDS and Kids Western Australia, Soroptimist
International South Perth, and The
Compassionate Friends had a vision to create
a special place where people seeking to come
to terms with loss could reflect on that loss and
experience a renewed degree of peace and
healing. This vision finally came to fruition with
the opening of the Place of Reflection in the
southern end of the State Botanic Garden, by
the Premier, the Hon. Colin Barnett on 15 April
2011.

The Marlee Pavilion in the tranquil new Place of
Reflection, opened on 15 April 2011.
Photo: D Newcombe.

The Friends of Kings Park are proud to have been able to assist the Consortium by
managing a Lotterywest grant towards the cost of building the Place of Reflection,
participating in the management of a Trust for monies collected, and by assisting in
the Project Control Group to develop the Place of Reflection.
The Friends of Kings Park would like to acknowledge and thank Lotterywest for its
contribution of $1.065M towards this most worthy endeavour.

Activities
The Growing Friends Group has had another excellent and productive year in
support for the four quarterly plant sales. Over 60,000 plants were propagated during
the past year and provided for gross sales of $145,425. Our thanks go to Val Gough,
Tony Scalzo, Jill Rule, Betty Forbes and Pippa Moodie who coordinate these
activities through their work on the Horticulture Subcommittee and all of the regular
Growing Friends group members who work tirelessly to make this activity a success.
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Friends of Kings Park Report continued
The Orchid Growing Group continues to assist the BGPA’s Science staff with the
repotting of the orchid collection and the plants are multiplying and growing strongly
in the glasshouse. The Group would like to thank Dr David Merritt, Dr Kingsley Dixon
and Grady Brand for their dedication and guidance throughout the year.
The Bushland Carers Group built on the success and hard work of previous years. Over
60 different participants have contributed over 800 volunteer hours across a range of
activities. These continue to include woody weeding projects to remove non-local plants
that shade out and compete with local understory species, hand weeding of herbaceous
weeds, removal of Watsonia infestations, seed collecting, and planting sessions to
supplement and enhance local flora in degraded areas. The Committee thanks Glenn
Cook and Tony Scalzo for their leadership roles and BGPA staff for their support of this
group.
The State Botanic Garden provides a major show of plants to visitors within Kings
Park and the Garden Carers continue to assist in replanting and weeding the
gardens.
The Office Carers continue to meet on the last Thursday of each month at the Lodge
to prepare the Friends of Kings Park newsletter and magazine for mailing to the
members. Between eight and ten Office Carers meet regularly to carry out this
valuable task, which involves collating, labelling and enveloping the papers to be sent
out. Many friendships have been formed in the group and new members are always
welcome. The Office Carers volunteered over 280 hours of service throughout the
year. The Friends of Kings Park office could not operate without the valuable
contribution of the Office Carer Group.

Magazine/Calendar
Once again, this year, our Magazine Editor, Tony Scalzo and Graphic Designers,
Rosalie Okely and Ji Min have created a wonderful calendar and continue to produce
the Friends of Kings Park quarterly magazine, ‘For People & Plants’. Our
appreciation goes out to Tony for his dedication not only to this work, but also for the
work he does across Kings Park.

Friends on the Staff
On behalf of the Friends of Kings Park, I take this opportunity to acknowledge the
staff of the BGPA and would like to thank Mark Webb, Marcelle Broderick and their
teams for their valuable assistance, encouragement and support to the Friends of
Kings Park throughout the year.

Management Committee
I also need to acknowledge the support we have received from the Friends of Kings
Park Office Administrator, Sher Davin, and Marketing and Events Officers, Kim
Collier, who retired in December and Andrea Hawkes, who has been with the Friends
of Kings Park since January 2011.
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Friends of Kings Park Report continued
The success of the Friends of Kings Park is achieved through a combination of the
contribution of the part time paid staff and the hard work of all the volunteers. This
success of this work relies on the direction provided by the members of the
Management Committee. The composition of the Management Committee changes
at the AGM, the most recent of which was held in April 2010, and because of the new
change in the dates of the Friends of Kings Park financial year, the next is now not
due until October 2011.
During the year, there were 11 Management Committee meetings. Attendance at
those meetings was as follows:
Management Committee Members 2010/11
Bob Bunney
President
Martin Revell
Vice President
Liz Millward
Treasurer
Tony Scalzo
Committee Member
Valerie Gough
Committee Member
Ross Rudeforth
Committee Member
Pippa Moodie
Committee Member
Alex Hew
Committee Member
Tom Alford
Immediate Past President
Zoe Fulwood
BGPA Liaison

Meeting Attendance
9
8
10
9
10
11
10
6
8
Ex officio

We also receive tremendous assistance, accounting advice and hard work from the
Friends of Kings Park Auditor, Bruce Donald and Accountant, Darren Harrop and I
thank them for that assistance.
In conclusion, thank you to all of you, our members, who contribute in so many ways.
It is our honour to represent you and your assistance is sincerely appreciated.
Thanks also, to all the BGPA staff who have assisted the Friends of Kings Park in so
many ways. This is my last report as President and I thank you all for the help and
encouragement that I have received during my journey over the past three and a half
years.
Bob Bunney
President, Friends of Kings Park
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Kings Park Volunteer Guides
The Kings Park Volunteer Guides have been providing a service to Kings Park and
Botanic Garden and the community for 26 years. At the end of this financial year
there were 128 Guides available for duty. The number of Guides decreased during
the year due to movement out of the State and family commitments.
During the last twelve months the Guides have carried out 7,500 hours of regular
duties in the Visitor Information Centre and on guided walks. In addition to this, the
Guides have given over 3,920 hours to extra duties. These included:
• Committee meetings and the accompanying work involved.
• Organising and implementing Guide assessment (TEG – Team for Evaluating
Guides).
• Compiling rosters for general duties and those during the Kings Park Festival.
• Conducting a workshop which 100 Guides attended.
• Publishing the Guides’ Newsletter.
• Conducting refresher walks for Guides.
• Coordinating the Guides’ Lending Library and reference books.
It is a most dedicated effort and the community and the BGPA benefit greatly.

Visitor Information Centre
The Kings Park Visitor Information Centre has opened daily (except Christmas Day)
from 9.30am to 4pm. Two Guides are on duty on each of the two shifts covering the
opening hours.

The Visitor Information
Centre is run by the Kings
Park Volunteer Guides.
Photo: C Sprogoe.

The Guides and the BGPA have continued to carry out
improvements to the Information Centre to make it more
attractive to visitors. The display areas are fully utilised to
allow visitors to view large posters of features of the park, to
browse a range of pamphlets and brochures about the park
and selected tourist attractions in the city, and to watch a
video showing park scenes. Improved lighting has made the
Visitor Information Centre a truly inviting building with new
seating, rejuvenating the centre. Many of the park brochures
have been developed in conjunction with or at the request of
Guides. A lending library has been created allowing Guides
to borrow books and improve on their knowledge in both
botany and history relevant to Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.

A daily record has been kept of the number of visitor contacts. The statistics for the
year show a total of 53,889 contacts in the Visitor Information Centre by visitors from
every continent (50,498 in 2009/10). There were also many phone enquiries. The
increase in number of visitor contacts may be due to the gradual return of
international and interstate tourist numbers and also to local visitors who are staying
home and viewing the sights of Perth.
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Kings Park Volunteer Guides Report continued

Free Guided Walks
Our program of two free guided walks every day
at 10.00am and 2.00pm has continued this year
and a noon walk has now been added running
every month except July and August. The regular
walks take visitors into the bushland in the
appropriate seasons and into the Botanic Garden
and the formal part of the park all the year round.
Again this year, the suspension of the usual walk
pattern during the annual Kings Park Festival
allows the provision of three free walks each day,
two in the Nature Trail in the bushland, and one
at midday into the Botanic Garden. This once
again has proved very popular.

Kings Park Guides take visitors on daily Guided
Walks of the gardens. Photo C Sprogoe.

When requested, we also undertook special walks for larger groups or people with
special interests. There was a significant increase in the demand for these walks
during the Kings Park Festival. One-on-one walks for people with special needs are
being introduced into the Guided Walk program. The BGPA has a small per capita
charge for these walks.
Number of Walkers
Free Guided Walks
Special Walks
Total Walkers

2009/10
5,153
765
5,909

2010/11
6,058
1,278
7,336

Numbers of walkers vary according to the weather – fewer walkers if it is wet or
windy or very hot and a significant increase during the wildflower season. The
addition of the noon walk has increased the number of walking visitors by
approximately 106 each month since it commenced allowing more visitors to be
escorted around the Botanic Garden. The September 2011 walks were very well
attended. The current economic situation seems to have affected international and
interstate tourist numbers; however the economic conditions have meant we have
had a greater number of local visitors taking the Guided Walks.

Effect of the Environment on the Bushland
Guides do not take visitors into the bushland during the hot, dry summer but as
winter approaches, bush walks begin. The walks take visitors into areas which have
been affected by the three dry winters and the very long, hot dry summer we have
just experienced. The bushland has been stressed and some trees look quite dead,
in parts giving the bushland a dry appearance. Guides showing visitors the bushland
are able to discuss climate and the environment and its effect on native flora. Now
following the recent rain, the Guides can discuss the living examples of the
remarkable regenerative capacity of the Kings Park bushland.
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Kings Park Volunteer Guides Report continued

Further Education
A workshop was held this year to provide the Guides with ongoing training to
increase their experience and knowledge in the structure of flowers from the
Protaceae and Myrtaceae families and to explore different areas of the Botanic
Garden and the flora in these areas. This will enable Guides to incorporate elements
into their Botanic Garden walks and allow them to pass on to the visitors how the
evolution of plants has resulted in the flora we now have in Western Australia .
One hundred Guides attended the workshop which was presented by Dr Neville
Marchant, Honorary Research Fellow. The Guides greatly appreciate the support we
are given by BGPA staff and fellow Guides in the holding of a very successful
workshop.
All Guides are expected to update their knowledge and skills and to know the latest
relevant information about the park and the flora. To this end we have a group email
notification process so that important news can be circulated rapidly to Guides who
are online.
We also have ten meetings a year which all Guides are strongly encouraged to
attend. Talks by guest speakers are of high quality and are much appreciated by
Guides. We are grateful to the speakers both from BGPA staff and from outside who
freely give of their time and expertise.
Following each meeting there is usually a walk in the park that follows up and
enlarges upon the talk at the General Meeting. A summary of the talk and the followup activity is published in the monthly newsletter which is posted to all Guides and
relevant BGPA staff. Other articles with further educational content are also included.
The social element of the meetings and workshops promotes interaction between
Guides who don’t have the opportunity of meeting regularly. In addition the Guides
enjoyed many social activities this year. Often Kings Park Guides have the chance
on these occasions to observe and learn from Guides in other places.

Evaluation
The compulsory program for evaluating the quality of the services Guides provide to
visitors has continued and now seems to be accepted as necessary to ensure that
the standards of our performance match the expectations of visitors. As part of the
preparations under way to begin the next two year cycle of evaluations, Guides are
being surveyed to assess attitudes and to seek opinions on possible improvements.
Elections to form the next Team Evaluating Guides (TEG) have been conducted.
TEG is a body of ten experienced Guides elected by the whole group who give extra
voluntary time to observe and assess the quality of service given by each individual
Guide. The TEG member quietly evaluates a Guide on duty and then provides
confidential feedback, usually over a cup of coffee, and may also offer guidance and
support and listen to any guiding problems that the Guide may want to put forward.
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Kings Park Volunteer Guides Report continued
The TEG process aims to ensure all Guides meet the highest standards in keeping
with our quality assurance. On the whole, Guides find being assessed a very
positive, though sometimes stressful, experience and the standard of guiding
remains very high. The Comments Book entries written by visitors reflect their
reactions to the beauty of Kings Park and Botanic Garden, and also often compliment
the Guides who lead the walks and offer assistance in the Visitor Information Centre.

The Lodge
The Lodge, at the Fraser Avenue entry to the park, continued to be used by the
volunteer groups who work in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Each group has its
own room. There is a main room for meetings and a large central area. The BGPA
has generously provided the volunteers with a photocopier in this area and it is very
well used. This central area also contains the printer and currently a large number of
books selected from those that have been transferred from the library in the
Biodiversity Conservation Centre.
Having all the volunteer groups with offices in the same building encourages friendly
interaction which engenders a co-operative working spirit.

Important Events
In October 2010 one of our inaugural Guides, Brian Gorey, who had been a Guide for
23 years, sadly died after a short retirement from the Guides.
At the annual Christmas function for volunteers in Kings Park, the one remaining
active Guide from the second intake of Guides received her 25 year badge.

Brisbane Conference 2011
The Australasian Conference of Voluntary Guides in Botanic Gardens is to be held in
September 2011 in Brisbane. These conferences are held every two years and, in
spite of the long distances many delegates have to travel, are well attended. The
networking and understanding of the workings of other Botanic Gardens makes us so
aware of the great support and the mutual respect held between the BGPA and the
Guides. This is one of the most positive aspects of being a Guide in Kings Park.
Over twelve Guides have booked to attend the Brisbane conference enabling us to
be more aware of guiding and issues in Botanic Gardens throughout Australia.
Jennifer Weston
President, Kings Park Volunteer Guides
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Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners
At the Volunteers’ Christmas event provided by the BGPA in December 2010, eleven
interns received their full membership as Volunteer Master Gardeners. There are
now 41 members. Three members received their 10-year badges. The Volunteer
Master Gardeners have contributed around 5,000 volunteer hours to the park, which
is about a 10% increase on 2009/10.

Gardening Advisory Service
Provision of advice to home gardeners on the growing of native plants is still the core
business of the Volunteer Master Gardeners. We have continued to operate the
Gardening Advisory Service on three half-days a week. The service was extended
this year to receive and reply to questions using the email facility with additional
training provided to Volunteer Master Gardeners. During the year there were many
opportunities for home gardeners to seek advice on native plants. These included the
new monthly Dig it with Coffee events in Zamia Café during the Kings Park Festival
in September and the Friends of Kings Park plant sales. This year we have dealt with
more than 2,300 queries (1,200 in 2006).

Backyard Botanicals and Dig it with Coffee
In 2010 the BGPA, in conjunction with the Volunteer Master Gardeners, developed a
Backyard Botanicals Garden in Synergy Parkland. It is intended to show a range of
local native plants that are suitable for home gardens. The Volunteer Master
Gardeners are assisting in preparing a set of notes for the BGPA’s website about
growing specific, hardy, native Western Australian plants.
Another initiative is the monthly Dig it with Coffee mornings. At these members of the
public can meet at Zamia Cafe with an BGPA horticulturist and a couple of Volunteer
Master Gardeners to talk about gardening with native plants The event is proving
popular with the public with bookings being taken up to two months in advance. This
is one of the best partnerships between the BGPA and Volunteer Master Gardeners.
Apart from Backyard Botanicals we are also involved with the State Botanic Garden
and Parkland Project Control Group, and with the BGPA’s Volunteer Reference
Group.

Cooperation with other Volunteer Groups in the BGPA
Our regular collaboration with the Friends of Kings Park is still going strongly.
Members attend all Friends’ plant sales, both the regular sales throughout the year
and also those during the Festival. Volunteer Master Gardeners are there to assist
buyers with their plant selections and to give planting and growing tips for the many
species on offer. We are also working together at the Lodge Garden. A few Volunteer
Master Gardeners look after this garden, and the Friends have supplied the plants. A
few plantings failed due to rabbit infestation; therefore we are using the site as a trial
of ‘rabbit-proof’ plants.
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Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners Report continued
The Volunteer Master Gardeners are still very involved with Kings Park’s Plant
Development program, with different groups working on Tuesdays, Wednesdays and
Thursdays. We are helping BGPA plant breeders to work on several species—
cleaning seeds, propagating, potting up, collecting pollen and maintaining the area.
This is a popular program for Volunteer Master Gardeners so there is a waiting list for
those who are interested in joining it.
Members assist staff and post-graduate students working
in the Science area. On an as needs basis, they respond
to requests for help with activities such as determining
seed viability using an x-ray machine, cleaning seed, and
potting-up plants.

Translocation Project, Westonia.
Photo: R Benken.

Involvement in the BGPA translocation programs for
establishing rare and endangered species in their natural
habitat remains a major aspect of our work. Members
have worked on cleaning seeds, preparing labels,
germinating seedlings, planting seedlings on site,
harvesting seeds, monitoring and processing collected
data. This work can entail long days working on country
sites, sometimes with an overnight stay.

Once again we were involved with Quiz on Legs, one of the educational activities for
schools that are offered during the Kings Park Festival. In 2010 the Volunteer Master
Gardeners presentation featured the Banksia menziesii, introducing students to this
plant, and showing its importance to us and to other living things sustained by it. The
activity was a great success with strong student interest and a large number of
schools visiting our marquee.

Public Speaking
Volunteer Master Gardeners have continually sought opportunities to promote the
beauty and diversity of Western Australian native flora, the work of the BGPA, the
Volunteer Master Gardeners’ Gardening Advisory Service and the work carried out
by the other volunteer groups. In 2010/11 we gave 24 talks to social and gardening
groups speaking about the park or about gardening with native plants.

Publication
For the last few years, the Friends of Kings Park have included a regular Volunteer
Master Gardeners’ article in their quarterly magazine For People and Plants. The
articles feature attractive garden plants, together with details of their propagation and
cultivation. We also contribute regularly to e-news issued by the BGPA, and an
abbreviated version of the Volunteer Master Gardeners’ Native Plant Notes is being
added to the BGPA’s website.
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Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners Report continued

Demonstration Garden
The Bush Garden, planted with species of
plants local to Kings Park, is thriving,
although it can appear otherwise in the hot
summer months. The plants are growing
without any watering. The dedicated group
of Volunteer Master Gardeners who work
on Tuesdays in the development and
maintenance of the garden is still diligently
working in this garden. We are always
Planting the Bush Garden, Kings Park.
rewarded with a magnificent, colourful
Photo: D MacKenzie
display in spring. Data about the ninety
species in the garden is being collected and monitoring includes growth of plants,
flowering periods, survival rates and natural recruitment.

Further Education
Through our program of speakers we have learned something of the management
and impact of fire in Kings Park with Steve Easton and Ryan Glowacki; Dr Neale
Bougher taught us how to identify fungi and Robert Powell spoke about trees and
their associations. We also learned about Jeremy Thomas’ trip to a number of
Botanic Gardens in three countries when he undertook a Churchill Fellowship in
2009. We visited Carnaby Reserve in Connolly, a special area of interest to the
Volunteer Master Gardeners.

The Kings Park Festival 2010
In 2010 our involvement in the annual Kings Park Festival was greater than in
previous years. We undertook our usual Festival activities that included providing a
Volunteer Master Gardener Information Desk, assisting the Friends with their plant
sale and helping out with the Wild Fairyland Festival. This year we re-introduced a
roster of roaming Volunteer Master Gardeners during the weekends throughout
September, their role being to assist visitors to enjoy the Botanic Garden displays.
We were heavily involved with the Science Directorate’s plant specimen table, from
its setting up to its dismantling. During the Wildflower Market Days two Volunteer
Master Gardeners were stationed in the area to give information to the public
regarding the flowers on the table, and also to answer queries on other native WA
plants. Plant of the Month, Scaevola ‘Blue Print’, was introduced to the public around
that time. Volunteer Master Gardeners were responsible for organising an exhibit
during that week, from designing the exhibit to giving information regarding the
newly-developed plant itself.
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Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners Report continued

Lotterywest Grant
In October 2010 we sent an application to Lotterywest for a grant of $7,500 to
conserve and repair twelve historic old books, among them Floricultural Cabinet (6
volumes— 1834, 1846, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1852). The application was successful.
When the work is complete the restored books will be housed with the BGPA’s
Science Directorate.
Once again we sincerely thank Chief Executive Officer, Mr Mark Webb, for his
continued interest and encouragement. His support for volunteers is reflected
throughout the BGPA. We also thank the Directors, Ms Marcelle Broderick,
Dr Kingsley Dixon and Ms Lesley Hammersley for their ongoing support and for the
opportunities they have given us to participate in their work and activities of the
BGPA.
We are grateful to all members of the Visitor Services team and especially to Jacqui
Kennedy, Zoe Fulwood, Chantelle Blight and Carissa Hedland who have not only
given outstanding assistance to our group but also have facilitated closer cooperation
between all volunteer groups. We express our gratitude to the BGPA’s Administrative
Assistants who facilitated our work and interface with the BGPA and to all staff and
students who happily share their knowledge, skills and facilities with us.
Above all, we again thank Bob Dixon, Biodiversity and Extensions Manager. Without
his untiring assistance and confidence in our ability we could not have continued to
contribute, and to enjoy the many rewards of voluntary service in Kings Park and
Botanic Garden over the years. Last but not least, thanks are extended to all
Volunteer Master Gardeners who have worked enthusiastically at every opportunity,
and to the Committee for their support and efforts throughout the year.
Ratna Sulastin
President, Kings Park Volunteer Master Gardeners (Inc)
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Honour Avenues Maintenance Group
As a Western Australian, or visitor to this State, prioritise on your bucket list a
leisurely stroll in Kings Park. What awaits you is a green and peaceful haven
overlooking Perth city and the winding Swan River. Discover the wildflowers and
natural bush land for it is here you will discover a rich diversity of native species as
well as birdlife and the historic heart of the State of Western Australia.
Wander the footpaths of May and Lovekin Drives that encircle the park, or the leafy
lane of Marri Walk and puzzle at the significance of the black plaques that line both
sides of every avenue. You cannot read them from a speeding car but you can if you
choose to walk. Pause and read a few:
IN HONOUR OF
Private Roy Hobson
44 Battalion
KILLED IN ACTION
Sailly Le Sec
th
5 April 1918, Aged 20
Dedicated by his Family
This in memory of a young man who was lost to his family on the Western Front
during WW1 and there are many more, over 1,400 in fact, all paying a humble tribute
to the young men and women of this State who, without demur, gave their lives for
Australia.
You will find Army, Navy, Air Force representing the fallen of all conflicts ranging from
World War One to Korea. The biggest percentage of whom, have no known grave
therefore the plaque marks, in spirit, their resting place and is a reminder to all who
pass by of the terrible price they paid for your lifestyle today.

Maintenance and Dedications
Fifteen members of Highgate RSL volunteered for duty with the Honour Avenues
Group, committed to maintaining the existing plaques and preparing for new plaques
in the Honour Avenues. The Group work out of offices in the Lodge and from a
workshop in the main depot area, all of which has been provided by the BGPA.
The Honour Avenues Group constantly patrol the avenues checking for damage to
plaques and posts, caused in the main by parking vehicles and on rare occasions by
vandals. Damaged items are recovered and returned to the workshop for
refurbishment or replacement. The removal of certain trees by BGPA affords an
opportunity to reclaim the posts with their plaques and refurbish them for future
installation when a new replacement tree is planted.
As there are only a small number of suitable vacant trees in the Honour Avenues we
retain them for new applications and where possible, place two or three related
service personnel together on the one tree. An audit has revealed 61 sets of two or
three related servicemen are currently within the avenues and gradually they will be
placed together enabling the vacated trees to be utilised for new applications.
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Honour Avenues Maintenance Group Report continued
Applications from the general public are vetted with official service records and
researched to ensure a criterion is met. Successful applicants are then advised of the
date of the dedication ceremony, held in May Circle in Kings Park and Botanic
Garden.
At this point each plaque is prepared for the foundry. On being returned to the
workshop the plaques receive a base coating before two layers of black then silver
stippling are applied. Meanwhile, the posts are painted, the applicable unit patch, or
service badge, attached, numbered and it is ready to go into the ground to await the
screwing on of the plaque by a relative.
Four ceremonies were held this year with 50 new plaques dedicated in total. At each
ceremony a background of each serviceman or woman read out to the assembled
gathering of relatives, friends and the general public. Supporting these solemn
ceremonies is the Army Padre and Army Band bugler.
There were four dedications in 2010 consisting of the following:
Total No of
Plaques
Dedicated
12
12
12
14
50

ARMY

RAAF

RAN

WW1

WW11

11
10
10
13
44

0
1
2
1
4

1
1
0
0
2

5
9
6
12
32

7
3
6
2
18

Many of the families who attend the dedication of their relative’s plaque have written
to the Honour Avenues Group expressing their appreciation. One such letter is
typical of those received:
On behalf of the family of the late William W Stevens we would like to convey our
thanks and appreciation for the dedication ceremony that was held last Saturday in
Kings Park by members of your RSL Branch.
It was a very moving ceremony for all our family and in
particular for my Mother.
We were particularly impressed by the fact that the tree that
was chosen had the plaque of someone who more than likely
knew my Grandfather as they died on the same day in the
same place.
New plaques for dedication in
the Honour Avenues - Private
Stevens. Photo: D Nicolson.

Thank you to you and all the members of your RSL for the
way they conduct the ceremony.

Honour Avenues Group Note: Number 2259 Private William W Stevens of 51
Battalion AIF was Killed in Action at Noreuil on April 2, 1917. He was 33 years of age
and left a wife and four children in Mount Hawthorn, Perth.
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Honour Avenues Maintenance Group Report continued
The Group worked 1,892 hours in the 2010 calendar year and will exceed this figure
next year as we strive to replace all existing cast iron plaques with more durable
aluminium.
So walk the peaceful paths of Kings Park and contemplate the white posts with their
plaques, the crosses of so many who form an important and emotional part of this
state’s history and listen to what they say:
When you go home
Tell them of us and say
For your tomorrow
We gave our today
LEST WE FORGET
Norman G Manners
Chairman, Highgate RSL Honour Avenues Sub-Committee
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Friends of Bold Park Bushland
Strategic Plan Completed
Our strategic plan, undertaken with the help of a consultant who was employed using
funds received from a Lotterywest grant, has now been completed and is available
on the Friends of Bold Park Bushland’s page on the BGPA’s website. The purpose of
the plan is to help us set targets for the short, mid and long term, to ensure that we
achieve our ultimate goals. The Strategic Plan is of vital importance to our long-term
sustainability.

Guides Program Established
With the aid of Lotterywest, we have now
established a program by which volunteers have
been trained to lead free walks in Bold Park. Dr
Nancy Longnecker, from UWA, coordinated the
inaugural training course, which ran for seven
sessions, starting in July 2010 and finishing in time
for the 18 new graduate guides to help lead spring
wildflower walks in the park. A range of experienced
and inspiring presenters lead the trainees through
the various topics, including landform, vegetation
communities, wildflowers, fauna, and park history,
management and use. The BGPA provided support
for the guides’ equipment, including uniforms.

New Guides lead a walk on Reabold Hill,
Bold Park. Photo: J Crandell.

So far walks have been held three times a month, one each on a Saturday, Sunday
and Thursday, starting at 9am from the Tuart Car Park. Walks last around 90
minutes. Participants have greatly enjoyed the guides’ fascinating stories about the
park’s natural and cultural aspects, and some people have even returned for a
second walk.
Walks are being advertised monthly in the local Post newspaper. Flyers have now
been produced and will be distributed to local community centres, libraries and
interested clubs. The BGPA is developing new signage that will refer to the walks.
The number of people attending the walks has been low, but we are hoping that this
will improve as the walks become better known.

Office Fit-out Almost Completed
The Friends office fit-out is nearing completion, again thanks to Lotterywest. We now
occupy the old sleep-out space which runs along the southern side of Perry House, a
building which is also occupied by the Wildflower Society. The office contains items
used by our new guides, including reference material and handouts, a logbook for
walks, and the two-way radio.
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Friends of Bold Park Bushland Report continued
We have recently purchased a printer-copier, which we hope to use for copying our
own newsletters and flyers in the future. Probably the most important feature of the
office is our own phone, with message service. This means that callers can listen to a
message about our activities and can leave a message that we retrieve in a short
time space. This has relieved the BGPA of the role as our reception service. The only
item yet to be installed is a computer/workstation.

The Committee
The past year saw continued improvement in our communications with members,
through the efforts of our wonderful secretary, Diane Gilbert. Unfortunately Di has
been unable to continue on the Committee, and we are currently without a secretary.

Bushland Regeneration Activities
The Bushland Regeneration Group began weeding
last year in May and finished in November. The group
worked two mornings per month, concentrating on
removing Euphorbia, gladioli and bridal creeper from
the Eastern Gateway site, uphill from the Tuart Car
Park off Perry Lakes Drive. Weeding is currently
underway again.

Steve Easton (BGPA) with Barbara
Knott (Friends' bushcare coordinator),
discussing the Environmental
Community Grant. Photo: J Harvey.

The Monitoring Group has continued to record the
survival rates of the previous year’s plantings. They
meet at the end of each season to scrutinise
individual sites in the Eastern Gateway area.

We received an Environmental Community Grant
from the DEC, to undertake further planting in the
Eastern Gateway rehabilitation site. We collected seed from within the park in
January, plants were grown out at Muchea Tree Farm and three community planting
days are currently underway. A total of 8,800 seedlings are being planted. The grant
is also being used to fund new signage at the Eastern Gateway site, to inform the
public of our activities.

Adopt-a-Highway Program
We have continued our involvement in the Adopt-a-Highway program. Four times a
year a small group meets to collect rubbish from the West Coast Highway frontage of
the park. About 20 – 30 large bags of rubbish are collected each time and are later
picked up by the Town of Cambridge. This valuable activity helps to keep this very
visible edge of the park looking cared for and respectable.

Links with Other Conservation Groups
We continue to maintain formal links with the Conservation Council of WA and the
Urban Bushland Council, both peak conservation bodies. We are also increasingly
involved with other ‘Friends of’ groups in the western suburbs. I have been part of
delegations who have met with the Minister for Environment: Water, the Hon Bill
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Friends of Bold Park Bushland Report continued
Marmion, to promote retention of bushland throughout the western suburbs. And in
April we hosted the Western Region Bushland Forum in the Western Australian
Ecology Centre in Bold Park. The forum was addressed by a number of speakers,
mainly from government. All these efforts reflect our view that t is vitally important for
Bold Park to retain linkages to other remnant bushland in the western suburbs.

Bush to Beach Trail
In conjunction with other local groups and the WESROC grouping of local
government authorities in the western suburbs, we are helping to steer the
development of an interpretive walk trail known as the ‘Bush-to-Beach Trail’. This
trail, which will extend from Rosalie Park (adjacent to Kings Park) to the Cottesloe
coast via Bold Park, is Stage One in a network of trails that will eventually criss-cross
the western suburbs, linking green spaces such as river and coastal foreshores,
wetlands and other bush remnants. A project officer has been funded by WESROC
and is based at the City of Nedlands.

Stephenson Highway
The Stephenson Highway road reservation remains through the northern part of Bold
Park, between The Boulevard and Oceanic Drive.

Our BGPA Support
Melissa Mykytiuk, who is Community Liaison Officer with the BGPA in Bold Park
attends our committee meetings and provides a report, as well as liaising with other
staff on our behalf. She has become very involved in our activities and in community
networking. We are very grateful for her support. Likewise, Sue Briggs at Bold Park’s
front counter has continued to help us, as has Steve Easton, who has been terrific
with setting up our office. Our Bushcare members have appreciated working with
Veronica Newbury, Bold Park’s Environmental Manager.
Thanks to all who have worked so hard over the past year to support the continued
protection of Bold Park as a fantastic conservation and recreation resource.
Stephanie Clegg
President, Friends of Bold Park Bushland (Inc)

150

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

APPENDICES
Contents

Appendix 2 - Publications
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority creates and contributes to, many
publications throughout the year.

Books
Dixon, K.W. (2011) Coastal Plants - A guide to the identification and restoration of
plants of the Perth region. CSIRO Publishing.

Refereed publications
Alacs EA, Spencer PBS, Alpers DL, deTores PJ, Hayward M, Krauss SL (2011)
Population genetic structure of island and mainland populations of the quokka,
Setonix brachyurus (Macropodidae): a comparison of AFLP and microsatellite
markers. Conservation Genetics 12:297-309.
Anthony, J.M., Phillips, R.D., Sinclair, E.A., Dixon, K.W. (2010) Characterisation of
polymorphic microsatellite markers isolated from Drakaea glyptodon Fitz.
(Orchidaceae). Conservation Genetics Resource 2: 291-294.
Barrett, R.L., Barrett, M.D. (2011) Two new species of Triodia (Poaceae: Triodieae)
from the Kimberley region of Western Australia. Telopea 13(1–2) 57–67.
Bloomfield, J.A., Nevill, P, Potts, B.M., Vaillancourt, R.E., Dorothy A. Steane, D.A.
(2011) Molecular genetic variation in a widespread forest tree species Eucalyptus
obliqua (Myrtaceae) on the island of Tasmania. Australian Journal of Botany
59(3): 226-237 doi:10.1071/BT10315.
Bradshaw, S.D., Dixon, K.W., Hopper, S.D., Lambers, H., Turner, S.R. 2011. Little
evidence for fire-adapted plant traits in Mediterranean climate regions. Trends in
Plant Science 16: 69-76 .
Bunn E, Stone B, Willyams D, and Yan G. (2010) In vitro conservation of Synaphea
stenoloba (Proteaceae). Acta Horticulturae (ISHS) 869:143-156.
Bunn E, Turner SR, Dixon KW. (2011) Biotechnology for saving rare and threatened
flora in a biodiversity hotspot. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Plant
47(1): 1-4., DOI: 10.1007/s11627-010-9337-0.
Fay, MF., Bennett, J.R., Dixon, K.W., Christenhusz, M.J.M. (2010) Parasites, their
relationships and the disintegration of Scrophulariaceae sensu lato. Curtis’s
Botanical Magazine 26(4) 286-313.
Flematti, G.R., Scaffidi, A., Goddard-Borger, E.D., Heath, C.H., Nelson, D.C.,
Commander, L.E., Stick, R.V., Dixon, K.W., Smith, S.M., Ghisalberti, E.L. (2010)
Structure-Activity relationship of karrikin germination stimulants. Journal of
Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 58: 8612-8617.
Flematti, G.R., Merritt, D.J., Piggott, M.J., Trengove, R.D., Smith, S.M., Dixon, K.W.
and Ghisalberti, E.L. (2011). Burning vegetation produces cyanohydrins that
liberate cyanide and stimulate seed germination. Nature Communications 2:360.
DOI:10.1038/ncomms1356.
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Publications continued
Flematti, G.R., Scaffidi, A., Dixon, K.W., Smith, S.M., Ghisalberti, E.L. (2011)
Production of the seed germination stimulant karrikinolide from combustion of
simple carbohydrates. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 59: 1195-1198.
Godefroid, S., Piazza, C., Rossi, G., Buord, S., Stevens, A-D., Aguraiuja, R., Cowell,
C., Weekley, C.W., Vogg, G., Iriondo, J.M., Johnson, I., Dixon, B., Gordon, D.,
Magnanon, S., Valentin, B., Bjureke, K., Koopman, R., Vicens, M., Virevaire, M.,
Vanderborght, T. (2011) How successful are plant reintroductions? Biological
Conservation 144, 672–682.
Guja, L.K., Merritt, D.J. and Dixon, K.W. (2010). Buoyancy, salt tolerance, and
germination of coastal seeds: implications for oceanic hydrochorous dispersal.
Functional Plant Biology 37: 1175-1186.
Hardwick, K. A., Fiedler, P., Lee, L. C., Pavlik, B., Hobbs, R. J., Aronson, J.,
Bidartondo, M., Black, E., Coates, D., Daws, M. I., Dixon, K., Elliott, S., Ewing, K.,
Gann, G., Gibbons, D., Gratzfeld, J., Hamilton, M., Hardman, D., Harris, J.,
Holmes, P. M., Jones, M., Mabberley, D., Mackenzie, A., Magdalena, C., Marrs,
R., Milliken, W., Mills, A., Lughadha, E. N., Ramsay, M., Smith, P., Taylor, N.,
Trivedi, C., Way, M., Whaley, O. And Hopper, S. D., (2011) The Role of Botanic
Gardens in the Science and Practice of Ecological Restoration. Conservation
Biology, 25: 265-275. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01632.x
Hay, F.R., Merritt, D.J., Soanes, J.A. and Dixon, K.W. (2010). Comparative longevity
of Australian orchid (Orchidaceae) seeds under experimental and low temperature
storage conditions. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 164: 26-41.
He TH, Lamont, BB, Krauss SL, Enright NJ (2010) Genetic connectivity and interpopulation seed dispersal of Banksia hookeriana at the landscape scale. Annals of
Botany 106:457-466.
Kaczmarczyk, A., Turner, S. R., Bunn, E., Mancera, R. L. and Dixon, K. W. (2011).
Cryopreservation of threatened native Australian species – what have we learned
and where to from here? In vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant
47(1): 17-25(9).
Kodym, A., Turner, S. and Delpratt, J. (2010). In situ seed development and in vitro
regeneration of three difficult to propagate Lepidosperma species (Cyperaceae).
Australian Journal of Botany 58: 107-114.
LeRoux JJ, Geerts S, Ivey P, Krauss S, Richardson DM, Suda J, Wilson JRU (2010)
Molecular systematics and ecology of invasive Kangaroo Paws in South Africa:
management implications for a horticulturally important genus. Biological Invasions
12:3989-4002.
Long R.L., Kranner I., Panetta F.D., Birtic S., Adkins S.W., Steadman K.J. (2011)
Wet-dry cycling extends seed persistence by re-instating antioxidant capacity.
Plant and Soil 388: 511-519.
Menz, M.H.M., Phillips, R.D., Winfree, R., Kremen, C., Aizen, M.A., Johnson, S.D.,
Dixon, K.W. (2011) Reconnection plants and pollinators: Challenges in the
restoration of pollination mutualisms. Trends in Plant Science, 16:1 pp.4-12.
Merritt, D.J. and Dixon, K.W. (2011). Restoration seed banks – a matter of scale.
Science 332: 424-425.
152

BOTANIC GARDENS AND PARKS AUTHORITY ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

APPENDICES
Contents

Publications continued
Merwin L, He T, Krauss SL (2010) Isolation and characterization of polymorphic
microsatellite DNA markers for Banksia candolleana (Proteaceae). Conservation
Genetics Resources 2:345-347.
Nelson, D.C., Scaffidi, A., Dun, E.A., Waters, M.T., Flematti, G.R., Dixon, K.W.,
Beveridge, C.A., Ghisalberti, E.L. and Smith, S,M, (2011), F-box protein MAX2 has
dual roles in karrikin and strigolactone signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana.
Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108: 8897-8902.
Nevill, PG, Anthony JM, Krauss SL (2010) Isolation and characterization of
microsatellite markers for the banded ironstone endemic Acacia karina
(Leguminosae: Mimosaceae) and cross-species amplification with A. stanleyi and
A. jibberdingensis. Conservation Genetics Resources 2:321-323.
Nikabadi S, Bunn E, Turner SR, Dixon KW. (2010) Micropropagation of
Commersonia adenothalia and Commersonia sp. ‘Mount Groper’ (Malvaceae, ex
Sterculiaceae), two endangered species from the South Western Australian
Floristic Region. Australian Journal of Botany 58:565- 574.
O’Brien EK, Krauss SL (2010) Testing the home-site advantage in forest trees on
disturbed and undisturbed sites. Restoration Ecology 18:359-372.
Panaia M, Bunn E, Turner SR, McComb JA. (2011) Primary and repetitive secondary
somatic embryogenesis of Lepidosperma drummondii (Cyperaceae) and
Baloskion tetraphyllum (Restionaceae) for land restoration and horticulture. In
Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant , 47(3): 278–284 DOI
10.1007/s11627-010-9335-2.
Perry GLW, Groeneveld J and Miller BP (2010) Development, application and place
of neutral theory in ecology and biogeography. Geography Compass. 4(8), 904–
918.
Phillips, R.D., Barrett M.D., Dixon K.W., Hopper S.D. (2011) Do mycorrhizal
symbioses cause rarity in orchids? Journal of Ecology, 99(3): 858-869 doi:
10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01797.x
Phillips, R.D., Brown, A.P., Dixon, K.W., Hopper, S.D. (2011) Orchid biogeography
and factors associated with rarity in a biodiversity hotspot, the Southwest
Australian Floristic Region. Journal of Biogeography 38: 487-501.
Reed BM, Sarasan V, Kane M, Bunn E, Pence VC. (2011) Biodiversity conservation
and conservation biotechnology tools. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology Plant 47:1 1-4, DOI: 10.1007/s11627-010-9337-0.
Scaffidi, A., Flematti, G.R., Nelson, D.C., Dixon, K.W., Smith, S.M., Ghisalberti, E.L.
(2011) The synthesis and biological evaluation of labelled karrikinolides for the
elucidation of the mode of action of the seed germination stimulant. Tetrahedron
67:152-157.
Sinclair, E.A., Barrett, R.L. (2010) Molecular markers provide an independent test of
species boundaries in two morphologically similar species Desmocladus flexuosus
and D. asper (Restionaceae). Nuytsia 20: 7–17.
Sinclair E, Krauss S, Cheetham B, Hobbs R (2010) High genetic diversity in a clonal
Gondwanan relict Alexgeorgea nitens (Restionaceae): implications for ecological
restoration. Australian Journal of Botany 58:206-213.
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Publications continued
Sinclair, EA, Madsen, A, Walsh, T, Nelson, J & Crandall, KA. (2011) Extensive gene
flow across independent river drainages in the giant Tasmanian freshwater
crayfish, Astacopsis gouldi (Decapoda: Parastacidae); implications for
conservation. Animal Conservation 14: 87-97.
Swarts, N.D., Sinclair, E.A., Francis, A., Dixon, K.W. (2010) Ecological specialization
in mycorrhizal symbiosis leads to rarity in an endangered orchid. Molecular
Ecology 19: 3226-3242.
Walck, J.L., Hidayati, S.N., Dixon, K.W., Thompson, K., Poschlod P. (2011) Climate
change and regeneration from seed. Global Change Biology 17: 2145-2161.
Wallace, M. J., Barrett, M. D. & Barrett, R. L. (2011). Novel chloroplast markers for
the study of intraspecific variation and hybridisation in the Lepidosperma costale
species complex (Cyperaceae). Conservation Genetics Resources. 3: 355-360.
Wilson, P.G., Barrett, R.L. (2010) (1946) Proposal to conserve the name Calectasia
intermedia. against Scaryomyrtus hexamera (Calectasiaceae). Taxon 59(4): 1279.
Ye, Q.G., Bunn E, Dixon K.W. (2011) Failure of sexual reproduction found in
micropropagated critically endangered plants prior to reintroduction: a cautionary
tale. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society, 165: 278–284.

Non-refereed publications and reports
Conference papers
Bunn E. 2010. Biotechnology and conservation of critically endangered plants in a
biodiverse region – the south west of Western Australia. ANPC 8th National
Conference 28 September -1 October 2010, Perth WA.
Kaczmarczyk A, Funnekotter B, Bunn E, Turner S. 2010. Cryo-preservation of
threatened Western Australian Species. Threatened Species Symposium, 9 July
2010, Bold Park Conservation Centre, Wembley WA.
Kaczmarczyk A, Funnekotter B, Turner SR, Bunn E, Che P, Smith S, Mancera RL.
2010. Correlation of membrane composition to cryopreservation results in selected
plant species. ANPC 8th National Conference 28 September -1 October 2010,
Perth WA.
Kaczmarczyk A, Turner SR, Funnekotter B, Bunn E. 2010. Development of a
cryopreservation protocol for Loxocarya cinerea – a recalcitrant plant species used
in post-mining restoration. 47th Annual Meeting of the Society for Cryobiology, 17
– 20 July 2010, Bristol, UK.
Krauss S, Sinclair L, Stingemore J. 2010. A practical genetic contribution towards
best-practise seed-sourcing guidelines for ecological restoration. ANPC 8th
National Conference 28 September -1 October 2010, Perth WA.
Krauss SL, Ritchie A. 2010. A genetic assessment of ecological restoration success.
Ecological Society of Australia Annual conference, December 2010, Canberra,
ACT.
Mandumpal JB, Kreck CA, Kaczmarczyk A, Mancera RL. 2010. Elucidating the
molecular mechanism of solvent cryoprotection in aqueous solutions. 47th Annual
Meeting of the Society for Cryobiology, 17 – 20 July 2010, Bristol, UK.
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Publications continued
Nevill PG, Krauss S. 2010. Conservation genetics of Acacia karina, a narrow range
species endemic to mid west Western Australia. ANPC 8th National Conference 28
September -1 October 2010, Perth WA.
Nevill PG, Barrett M, Butcher P, Krauss S. 2010. Conservation of narrow range
endemic flora on BIF ranges of mid-west Western Australia. Threatened Species
Symposium, 9 July 2010, Bold Park Conservation Centre, Wembley WA.
Phillips RD, Barrett MD, Dixon KW, Hopper SD (2010) Specialised symbioses and
their role in rarity in Drakaea (hammer orchids). Ecological Society of Australia,
Canberra, Oral Presentation.

For People and Plants - Friends of Kings Park Magazine
Barrett, M. and Barret, R. (2010). New Discoveries in the Kimberley. For People and
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 70, p 3-5
Brand, G. (2010). Backyard Botanicals - Promoting Native Plants to Home
Gardeners. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 70, p
10-11.
Brand, G. (2010). Conservation Garden - A showpiece With a Vital Role. For People
and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 71, p 10-11.
Dalziell, E. (2011). Pond Lore: Unveiling the Mysteries of the Nymphs. A Brief History
of Water Lilies. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73,
p 24-26.
Dixon, B. (2011). Translocation of Four Species of Declared Rare Flora from the
Scott Coastal Plain Ironstone Communities to the BHP Billiton Beenup
Rehabilitation Project. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine,
Issue 72, p 18-19.
Easton, S. (2010). The Nature Trail - Changing Over Time. For People and Plants,
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 71, p 16-17.
Funnekotter, B. (2011). Cryopreservation of Loxocarya cinerea, a Western Australian
Plants Species Important in Post-Mining Rehabilitation. For People and Plants,
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73, p 14-17.
Growns, D. (2010). New Kings Park Plant Release - Scaevola ‘Blue Print’. For
People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 70, p 15.
Hammersley, L. (2011). Place of Reflection a New Touch of Elegance in the Botanic
Garden. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73, p 3-5.
Hammersley, L. (2011). Ceremonial Walk a Snapshot in Time. For People and
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 72, p 3-4.
Marchant, N. (Honorary Research Fellow) (2011). James Drummond the
Indefatigable Collector of Swan River Plants. For People and Plants, Friends of
Kings Park Magazine, Issue 72, p 12-15.
Mounsey, C. (2010). Restoration Eco-physiology: A tool to Understand Conservation
of our Rare and Endemic Flora. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park
Magazine, Issue 71, p 24-25.
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Publications continued
Mykytiuk, C. and Hammersley, L. (2011). Taking Shape, Rio Tinto Naturescape in
Kings Park – an Update. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine,
Issue 72, p 6-7.
Newman, B. (2010). Orchids: The Canary in the Coal Mine. For People and Plants,
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 70, p 22-24.
Paul, S. (2010). Ferns, Some like it hot – A Story of Survival in a Harsh Environment.
For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 71, p 22-23.
Ritchie, A. (2010). A Genetic Assessment of Ecological Restoration Success. For
People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 70, p 25-26.
Steinmeyer, F. (2011). A Tale of Kangaroo Paw Pollination. For People and Plants,
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73, p 20-21.
Stingemore, J. (2011). Who’s Spreading the Snottyboggle? For People and Plants,
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73, p 18-19.
Turner, S. (2011). Integrated Conservation of Commersonia sp. Mt Groper: an
Endangered Species from the South Coast of Western Australia. For People and
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 72, p 16-17.
Webb, M. (2011). Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting in Kings Park October 2011. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 73,
p 6-7.

Information Publications and Brochures
All Information brochures are available from the Kings Park Visitor Information
Centre, the front reception offices in Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park
and all are also available on the BGPA’s website. In addition, a range of botanical,
gardening, historical, Indigenous, and children’s books are available for sale at
Aspects of Kings Park.

Brochures
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Aboriginal Life
Aspects of Kings Park
Birds of Bold Park
Birds of Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Bold Park Visitor Guide (includes map of Bold Park) (link to Bold Park section
of website)
Botanic Garden Art Trail
Camel Lake Heritage Trail
Connecting Children with Nature – Rio Tinto Naturescape in Kings Park
Discover Kings Park Education Service
From Firesticks to Fireworks
Gija Jumulu – The story of the Boab Tree – a gift from the Gija people of the
Kimberley, Western Australia (new brochure)
Guided Walks
Kings Park and Botanic Garden Visitor Map and Information Brochure
Kings Park Bushland Nature Trail
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Publications continued
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Kings Park for Kids (Kings Park Volunteer Guides)
Know Kings Park Series (Kings Park Volunteer Guides)
Maps of Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Place of Reflection
Science @ Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Self-Guided Memorials Walk
Special Walks
Sport and Fitness in Kings Park
The Bali Memorial
Western Australian Botanic Garden
Wildflowers for Gardens (Master Gardeners)

BGPA Publications Available on the Website
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Annual Reports 2004/2005 – onwards
Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011
Science Directorate Strategic Plan 2006-2011
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007-2012
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Strategic Plan 2009-2014
Kings Park and Botanic Garden Management Plan 2009-2014
Reconciliation Action Plan 2009

BGPA Publications Available to Purchase from Aspects of Kings Park
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Friends of Kings Park Calendar
A Joy Forever – The Story of Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Australian Seeds
Avenues of Honour
For People and Plants (Friends of Kings Park Magazine)
Kings Park and Botanic Garden: Western Australia
Memorials and Memories
Perth Plants: a field guide to the bushland and coastal flora of Kings Park and
Bold Park, Perth, Western Australia.
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Appendix 3 – Scientific Research Projects
Externally Funded Research
1
2

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

12
13
14

15
16
17

Rocla Quarry Products: Developing sustainable restoration of Banksia woodland
communities disturbed through sand quarrying activities (2000-ongoing).
Westralia Airports Corporation: Deriving Research Benchmarks for Nationally
Threatened Plant Species occurring on Westralia Airports Corporation Land
(2004-2010).
Fire and Emergency Services Authority: Impact of fire suppressing agents on
native vegetation in Western Australia (2005-2009). (PhD project to 2011)
Millennium Seedbank Project: Western Australian Seeds Program (2005-2009,
2011).
Millennium Seedbank Project: Seed conservation science for Western Australian
orchids (2005-2009, 2011).
Department of Environment and Conservation, Great Southern District: Rare
Plant Translocations program for Grevillea scapigera
Department of Environment and Conservation, Yilgarn District, Wheatbelt Region
Rare Plant Translocations program for Symonanthus bancroftii
Catalpa Resources (was Westonia Mines Ltd) funding for two new translocation
sites for Eremophila resinosa at Westonia.
Public Transport Authority: funding for conservation of Verticordia lindleyi subsp.
lindleyi continues.
Rocla Quarry Products: Understanding the ecophysiological reasons that
underpin Banksia species establishment (2006 – 2011).
Department of Environment and Conservation: Clonal propagation through tissue
culture of the critically endangered Dryandra montana (Proteaceae) (2007ongoing).
Newcrest Operations: Ecosystem Restoration Principles for Newcrest
Operations, Telfer (2007-2011).
Main Roads Department: Glossy Leaved Hammer Orchid conservation (20082010).
BHP Billiton. A major five year project with BHP Billiton Iron Ore continues. This
seed science and seed management project will develop a “Seed Atlas for the
Pilbara” that provides practical guidelines for the collection, processing, storage,
germination and use of seeds in restoration for dominant and priority species in
the Pilbara region. (2008-2013)
Iluka Resources: Conservation of the rare species Leucopogon ‘ciliate’ (20082010). (PhD project to 2012)
Gindalbie Metals Ltd: Conservation genetics of Acacia karina (2009-2012).
Grange Resources Limited: An integrated research program focused on practical
outcomes for the ex situ and in situ conservation, restoration and translocation of
the DRF Commersonia sp. Mt. Groper. (Sterculiaceae) – a five year research and
development program (2010-2015).
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Scientific Research Projects continued
18 Griffin Coal Mining Co: Integrated conservation and translocation of Caladenia
lodgeana project (2009-2015).
19 BHP Billiton: Investigation into the effect of topsoil stockpile age and depth on
topsoil seed-bank and seedling recruitment (2010-ongoing).
20 Pilbara Iron Company (Services) Pty Ltd: Investigating seed biology and
optimising seed management to improve rehabilitation outcomes in the Pilbara
(2010-2014).
21 Polaris Metals NL: Scoping study - Ecophysiological study of Tetratheca aphylla
for restoration (2010).
22 Cliffs Natural Resources: A population genetic assessment of Ricinocarpos
brevis (Euphorbiaceae) (2010-2011)
23 Rio Tinto: Genetic composition of key tree species at Weeli Wolli Creek (20102012).
24 Shark Bay Resources: An integrated research program focused on approaches
for scaling-up rehabilitation of two seagrass species, Posidonia australis and
Amphibolis Antarctica impacted by bitterns discharge from crystallizing ponds
(2010-2012).

Nationally Competitive Projects
1. A molecular ecophysiological assessment of the importance of using local
provenance seed in native plant community restoration. ARC Linkage grant
LP0669757 (2006-2011: total funds $780,000). Administering organisation:
University of Queensland. Collaborative partners: Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority, Alcoa World Alumina Australia.
2. A novel method of broad-acre weed seedbank management using a naturally
occurring germination stimulant. ARC -Linkage grant LP0776951 (2007-2010:
total funds $282,848). Administering organisation: UWA. Collaborative partner:
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
3. Investigation of the metabolism, molecular targets and environmental fate of the
seed germination stimulant, butenolide. ARC Linkage grant LP0882775 (20082012: $575,000). Administering organisation: UWA. Collaborative partners:
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd, Iluka Resources,
Extension Hill/Mt Gibson Iron, Alcoa World Alumina.
4. Assessing plant virus threats to indigenous Western Australian flora: implications
for biodiversity, conservation, ecosystem reclamation and the wildflower industry.
ARC Linkage grant LP0882671 (2008-2010: $255,000). Administering
organisation: Murdoch University. Collaborative partners: Department of
Agriculture and Food WA, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Alcoa World
Alumina Australia, Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd, Saturn Biotech Pty Ltd
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Scientific Research Projects continued
5. Development of cryopreservation for high value provenance collections of
recalcitrant species used in post mining restoration. ARC Linkage grant
LP0884027 (2009-2012: total funds $3,041,181). Administering organisation:
Curtin University of Technology. Collaborative partners: Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology, The University of Queensland, The University of Western
Australia and Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
6. A multidisciplinary research program to assess limiting factors and predict
impacts of climate change for endangered Australian orchids. ARC Linkage
grant LP0989338 (2009-2011: total funds $980,000). Administering organisation:
Australian National University. Collaborative partners: Botanic Gardens and
Parks Authority and The University of Western Australia.
7. Mechanisms and manipulation of seed dormancy maintenance in annual
ryegrass and other weed species. ARC Linkage grant LP0990923 (2009-2011:
total funds $296,476). Administering organisation: The University of Western
Australia. Collaborative partner: Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
8. Broad scale implementation of native grass germination enhancement
technologies. RIRDC research grant PRJ-003853 (2008-2012: total funds
$447,009).
9. Discovery of the molecular mode of action of karrikins in plants. ARC Discovery
Project DP1096717 (2010-2012: ARC funds $300,000). Administering
Organisation: The University of Western Australia. Collaborative partner: Botanic
Gardens and Parks Authority.
10. Managing evolutionary-ecological process in restoring Banksia woodland resilient
to global environmental changes. ARC Linkage Project LP100100620 (20102013: total funds $622,860). Administering organisation: The University of
Western Australia. Collaborative Partners: Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority
and Rocla Quarry Products.
11. Establishing genetic guidelines for the effective ecological restoration of seagrass
meadows. ARC Linkage Project LP100200429 (2010-2013 $392,000).
Administering organisation: The University of Western Australia. Collaborative
partners: Cockburn Cement Ltd, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority and
Department of Environment and Conservation.
12. Above and below-ground specialisation in Australian orchids and its implications
for diversification and vulnerability. ARC Linkage Project: LP110100408 (20112014 ARC funds $460,000). Administering organisation: The Australian National
University. Collaborative Partner: Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
13. The roles viruses play in the decline of terrestrial orchids in Australia's hotspot of
global biodiversity. ARC Linkage Project: LP110200180 (2011-2014: ARC funds
$286,000). Administering organisation: Murdoch University. Collaborative
Partners: The Australian Orchid Foundation, Samuel Roberts Noble Foundation,
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
14. The spatial energetic of pollination failure in habitat restoration. ARC Linkage
Project LP110200304 (2011-2016: ARC funds $629,084). Administering
organisation: The University of Western Australia. Administering organisation:
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority.
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Appendix 4 – Research Scientists and Students
Research Scientists
Information regarding the BGPA’s Research Scientists can be found by going to the
Science section of the BGPA’s website.

Externally Funded Research Scientists
Dr Janet Anthony is the genetics laboratory manager. She also undertook shortterm projects such as a population genetic assessment of Ricinocarpos brevis.
Dr Matt Barrett concluded his research on an integrated conservation research
program for the declared rare flora Darwinia masonii and Lepidosperma gibsonii.
Matt also collected seed from the Kimberley for the Millennium Seed Bank Project
and, on an Indigenous Training Grant and in collaboration with the University of
Adelaide, conducted botanical surveys in the Kimberley.
Dr Lucy Commander is researching seed-based restoration methods for minesite
restoration of the Pilbara flora.
Todd Erickson continued research on a seed program to develop a ‘Seed Atlas’ for
the Pilbara to establish seed conservation and restoration methods following iron ore
mining.
Dr TianHua He (UWA) is investigating the evolutionary-ecological process in
restoring Banksia woodland resilient to global environmental changes.
Dr Anja Kaczmarczyk (UWA) is undertaking research to develop preservation for
high value provenance collections of recalcitrant plant species used in post-mining
restoration. This project is a collaboration of the BGPA, Curtin University of
Technology, and Alcoa-Australia and BHP Billiton Worsley Alumina and UWA.
Dr Rowena Long (UWA) is a research associate investigating the use of
karrikinolide as a broad acre weed control agent.
Dr David Merritt manages the seed science programs of the BGPA which are
broadly focused on improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the use of native
seeds in conservation and restoration.
Dr Ben Miller‘s research project into conducting population ecological research on
the declared rare flora Darwinia masonii and Lepidosperma gibsonii concluded. In
conjunction with DAFWA (Agriculture International), Ben began assessing the decline
of the Juniper forests in Libya with a view toward a long term monitoring and
restoration program, until unrest in Libya ended his assessment. Ben also conducted
a combustible biomass assessment for Kings Park and Bold Park, assisted with
ongoing review of fire policies/guidelines and represented the BGPA at the inaugural
Mediterranean Ecosystem Reserve Managers Cooperative in California.
Dr Paul Nevill is assessing the conservation genetics and phylogenetics of Acacia
karina, a rare mid-west species impacted by mining, and also examining genetic
variation in three Pilbara riparian tree species.
Dr Belinda Newman is undertaking research into the conservation and translocation
of Caladenia lodgeana and also assisting with Millennium Seed Bank collections
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Research Scientists and Students continued
Dr Ryan Phillips (ANU) is undertaking research to assess limiting factors and
predict impacts of climate change for endangered Australian orchids in collaboration
with The Australian National University. Ryan also undertakes collections for the
Millennium Seed Bank.
Dr Liz Sinclair (UWA) is involved in establishing genetic guidelines for the effective
ecological restoration of seagrass meadows.
Dr Ann Smithson (UWA) is assessing the molecular ecophysiological consequences
of the importance of using local provenance seed in bushland restoration.
John Statton has commenced research of seedling recruitment dynamics for the
seagrass flora in the transition zone in natural and restored ecosystems, in
partnership with Shark Bay Resources.
Dr Jason Stevens is the BGPA/Rocla Quarry Products restoration ecophysiologist,
and manages the restoration ecophysiology programs of the BGPA.
Dr Shane Turner (UWA) completed an ARC funded project investigating seed
dormancy and seed enhancement technologies for minesite restoration and
biodiversity conservation with the University of Queensland, BHP Billiton Worsley
Alumina. He is currently undertaking research into the conservation, restoration and
translocation of the declared rare flora Commersonia sp. Mt. Groper in partnership
with Grange Resources and UWA.

Students
Russell Barrett (UWA)continues his PhD revising the taxonomy of Lepidosperma in
association with molecular phylogenetic studies.
Stephen Benigno (UWA) continues his PhD investigating the effects of soil
compaction and water stress on Banksia wooldland restoration.
Christine Best (UWA) commenced her part-time Honours research investigating the
reproductive biology of the threatened species Commersonia sp Mt Groper.
Donna Bradbury (UWA) continues her PhD on a population genomics assessment
of population genetic structure in tuart.
Mark Bundock (UWA) continues a PhD to investigate the effects of commonly used
herbicides and adjuvants on native vegetation in Western Australia.
Alea Faber-Castell (UWA) is taking a leave of absence from her PhD research into
the conservation and biology of Australian duck orchids (Paracaleana).
Taryn Chester (UWA) is undertaking her Honours project on the role of mycorhizal
endophytes in the biogeography and endemism of Eriochilus (Bunny Orchids).
Kerryn Chia (UWA) is in her second year of her part time PhD project researching
the ecology, seed dormancy and germination biology of Persoonia longifolia.
MERIWA awarded Kerryn Chia a scholarship for her study of Persoonia longifolia for
mine site restoration. Minerals and Energy Research Institute of WA recently
awarded Kerryn Chia a scholarship to help support her during her research program.
Louisa Cockram (UWA) is undertaking her Honours project testing home site
advantage and outbreeding depression using Stylidium hispidum: seed sourcing
implications for ecological restoration.
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Research Scientists and Students continued
Laura Copeland (UWA) commenced her Honours project assessing local adaptation
in Gompholobium marginatum, a Jarrah forest plant species.
Adam Cross (UWA) completed his Honours project at the end of 2010 researching
dispersal and disjunction in the rare aquatic carnivorous plant Aldrovanda vesiculosa.
Adam Cross has now commenced his PhD research into recruitment, dispersal and
disjunction in Kimberley hydrophytes.
Emma Dalziell (UWA) has commenced her PhD research into seed biology,
dispersal and functional ecology of Western Australian Nymphaceae (water lilies).
Todd Erickson (UWA) continues his PhD research investigating seed restoration
science for the Pilbara flora.
Sarah Fairbrass (UWA) is undertaking fourth-year project researching the conditions
which promote germination of the fire ephemeral Anthocercis littorea.
Michalie Foley (UWA) continues her PhD project on the molecular ecology
assessment of habitat fragmentation of Banksia ilicifolia.
Bryn Funnekotter (Curtin University) completed an Honours program at the end of
2010 investigating ‘Correlation of the phospholipid, sterol and sugar composition with
tolerance to cryopreservation survival of plant shoot-tips’.
Bryn Funnekotter (Curtin University) has now commenced his PhD research project
investigating cryopreservation of native plant species for conservation and minesite
restoration.
Peter Golos (UWA) continues a PhD investigating ‘Ecosystem Restoration Principles
for Newcrest Operations, Telfer’.
Marta Gorecki (UWA) completed her 4th year project investigating the role of
maternal environment on karrikinolide (active molecule in smoke) response in the
weed species Brassica tournefortii. Identifying genetic and environmental influences
on seed karrikinolide response will assist in refining the use of the molecule for use in
broad acre weed control.
Lydia Guja (Curtin University) is continuing her PhD project investigating the
relationship between seed dispersal mechanisms, seed germination traits and plant
distribution in the coastal zone.
Beorn Harris (UWA) continues his PhD researching biotechnology solutions for
enhanced propagation of Western Australian Ericaceae for minesite restoration,
while also developing an ex situ conservation program for an endangered species
Leucopogon sp. ‘ciliate’.
Tanya Hevroy (Curtin University) continues her PhD researching a conservation
genetics and molecular phylogenetic study of the Grevillea thelmaniana complex.
Joe Krawiec (ECU) completed his Honours project on the effects of urban habitat
fragmentation on the population genetics on the reptile Ctenotus fallens (scincid
lizard) at Kings Park, Bold Park and Shenton bushland.
Franziska Kaulfuss and Hannah Bergmann (University of Regensburg, Germany)
began a vegetative survey and soil analysis at Mt Benia as part of a collaborative
research project between Kings Park researchers and scientists at the University of
Regensburg. During their three-month visit, Franziska and Hannah also commenced
genetic research on Kingia australis.
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Research Scientists and Students continued
Simin Lai (UWA) completed an Honours program at the end of 2010 with the
Conservation Biotechnolgy group entitled ‘In vitro propagation of the dryland sedge
species - Mesomalaena pseudostygia and Mesomalaena tetragona (Cyperaceae) for
land restoration’.
David Leach (UWA) continues his PhD research assessing the impacts of firesuppressing agents on native vegetation in Western Australia.
Wolfgang Lewandrowski (UWA) undertook his Honours project from July 2010 to
June 2011 looking at ways to improve greenstock quality for Banksia woodland
restoration.
Akshay Menon (Curtin University) commenced his Honours project investigating the
cryopreservation of Lomandra sonderi and L. micrantha for minesite restoration
Myles Menz (UWA) is undertaking his PhD research project investigating habitat and
pollination traits in the genus Drakaea. He is also managing programs in pollination
systems in restoration.
Cameron Mounsey (UWA) has commenced his PhD research into mechanisms of
early seedling establishment failures in restoration. The major focus of the project will
be on understanding seedling – soil water relations in restoration sites.
Belinda Newman (Murdoch University) completed her PhD into the use of orchids as
indicators of ecosystem health in urban bushland remnants.
Siti Nurfadilah (Fadilah) (UWA), a recipient of an Australian Development
Scholarship (ADS), joined the BGPA in July 2008 from Indonesia and completed a
Master’s Degree by Research investigating biotechnology solutions for Australian
native orchid conservation.
Rachel Ord (UWA) continues a PhD research program that will explore the potential
to rehabilitate the Gnangara Mound pine plantation to native Banksia woodlands.
Pui-Ye Phang (Curtin University) commenced her Honours project investigating the
cryopreservation of the declared rare species Commersonia sp. Mt Groper.
Ryan Phillips (UWA) completed his PhD thesis into the biology and ecology of
Western Australian hammer orchids (Drakaea) focusing on the relationships between
pollinator and mycorrhizal specificity as drivers of speciation.
Brian Poh (UWA) commenced his Honours project investigating any correlation in
the presence of the seagrass Cymodocea serrulata aiding the rehabilitation of the
seagrass Posidonia australis.
Cassie Reynolds (UWA) commenced her Honours project researching the seed
ecology of Chrysanthemoides monilifera subsp. Monilifera (boneseed), a weed of
national significance. Cassie is investigating its sensitivity to germination stimulants
and other aspects of its seed biology.
Alison Ritchie (UWA) has commenced her PhD project investigating the pollination
biology and gene flow in an ecological restoration context.
Sacha Ruoss (UWA) continues his PhD investigating ecological adaptations of
banded ironstone endemics to develop rehabilitation methods.
John Statton (UWA) submitted his PhD thesis investigating ‘Effective ecological
restoration of seagrass in Cockburn Sound’.
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Research Scientists and Students continued
Felix Steinmeyer (University of Regensburg, Germany) visited for three months to
investigate the affects of plant population size on visitation by avian pollinators and
the potential implications of pollination limitation in small populations, and to also
investigate the effect of population size and density on bird foraging behaviour and
the implications for plant outcrossing rates.
Jessica Stingemore (UWA) continues her PhD project investigating the landscape
genetics and dispersal ecology of co-occurring Persoonia species (Persoonia
longfolia and Persoonia elipticala).
Renee Tuckett (UWA) completed her PhD thesis entitled ‘Vernal pools in the
southwest Australian floristic region - biogeography, seed dormancy, germination and
storage’.
Mark Wallace (UWA) continues his PhD researching the role of chromosomal and
genetic factors in the evolution of the genus Lepidosperma (Cyperaceae).
Anna Williams (UWA)has commenced her honours project examining geographic
patterns of chloroplast variation in mid-west Acacia species.
Clare Whyte (UWA) completed her Honours project on the effect of temperature,
water stress and salinity on germination, seedling emergence and growth: a case
study on seven species from the Shark Bay World Heritage Area.

Visiting Scientists
Dr Björn Bohman of Germany visited the UWA and Kings Park Science
Laboratories for 8 weeks from September as part of the second year of a 3-year ARC
funded collaborative research project with The Australian National University, UWA
and the BGPA, researching the limiting factors and impacts of climate change for
endangered Australian orchids.
Professor Sir David Read is a visiting scientist collaborating on the orchid
mycorrhizal program as well as a working with BGPA science staff on developing a
major ARC grant opportunity. He is one of the world's foremost mycorrhizal
biologists.
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Head Office
Kings Park and Botanic Garden
Fraser Avenue
WEST PERTH WA 6005
Ph:08 9480 3600
Fax: 08 9322 5064

Aspects of Kings Park
Fraser Avenue
WEST PERTH WA 6005
Ph: 08 9480 3900
Fax: 08 9480 3911
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Bold Park
165 Perry Lakes Drive
FLOREAT WA 6014
Ph: 9387 0800
Fax: 9387 0899

